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an Yue Technology Holdings Limited

(the “"Company”) is a company whose

shares have been listed on The Stock

Exchange of Hong Kong Limited since
1997. The core businesses of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively called the “Group” or “Man Yue
Tech”) are the manufacture and sale of high technology
electronic components, including Aluminum Electrolytic
Capacitors (“E-Caps”), Conductive Polymer Aluminum
Solid Capacitors (“Polymer Caps”) and other innovative
electronic components.

The Group offers a full range of E-Caps products
which satisfy the needs of global customers, consisting
mainly of the world’s leading information technology,
telecommunications, electrical and electronic brands.
In 2006, the Group launched an innovative electronic
component known as the Polymer Caps, and has advanced
to be a major global vendor. The Group continued its
pioneering course by unveiling a new type of capacitor in
2009 - Electric Double Layer Capacitors (“EDLC"), which
acts as an energy storage device in electrical or electronic
products.

Over the years, the Group has fostered creativity and
inventiveness among the well-trained and highly qualified
research and development (“R&D") professionals who have
enabled the Group to develop new and groundbreaking
products.

~ Contents H &%

As the key manufacturer of E-Caps and Polymer Caps,
the Group owns the renowned SAMXON® and X-CON®
brands, both are respected brands for their advanced
technology and superior quality, backed by the Group's
strong R&D capabilities and established global network.
The Group's products comply with the European Union’s
directive on the restriction of hazardous substances in
electrical and electronic equipment (“RoHS”) and the
environmental protection requirements relevant and
specific to different markets globally.

Man Yue Tech is headquartered in Hong Kong and
operates its state-of-the-art E-Caps manufacturing facilities
in Dongguan, Wuxi and Jiangxi, with a total production
capacity of over 1 billion pieces per month. The Group
owns two aluminum foil factories located in Qingyuan and
Yaan producing aluminum foil for its own consumption.
The Group has distribution offices located in Hong
Kong, China and Taiwan, complemented by worldwide
distribution channels.

Man Yue Tech is fully committed to environmental
sustainability for both its products and operations.
All products are halogen free and complied with the
requirements of RoHS. In addition, all production facilities
of the Group conform to relevant local environmental
regulations and the Group obtained relevant certification
where appropriate. Not content to simply passively observe
regulations, the Group is actively pursuing opportunities to
directly contribute to the protection of environment. The
Group has introduced and continued to develop solutions
for enhancing energy efficiency, such as capacitors found
in LED lamps and high-efficiency lighting and new storage
devices for use in environmental friendly products. The
Group remains steadfast in its support of environmental
protection, consistent with its commitment to be a good
corporate citizen.
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Financial Highlights
B RE

For the year ended 31 December

BE12R31BLFE
2020
2020
HK$'000
Operating Results THET
Revenue WA 1,599,599 1,292,160 +23.8%
Gross profit EF 271,877 245,293 +10.8%
EBITDA EBITDA 149,986 161,851 -7.3%
Profit attributable to shareholders P 5 P {8 24,064 31,578 -23.8%
Earnings per share BREMN 5.06 HK cents &{ll 6.64 HK cents il -23.8%
Net assets per share BREETE 325.11 HK cents 71l 293.62 HK cents L +10.7%
REVENUE GROSS PROFIT
A E7
For the year ended 31 December For the year ended 31 December
HE12B31HIEFE HE12B31HILFE
HK$' million BE#ETT HK$’ million BE%ETT
280.0 2741 2719
1,599.6 2453
1,275.9 13617 1,292.2
163.6
987.0
2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
EBITDA NET ASSETS PER SHARE
EBITDA BREEFE
For the year ended 31 December As at 31 December
HE12H31HIEFE #128318
HK$' million & &7 HK cents 3Ll
2103 o s 325.1
161.9 276.0 .
152.3 146.7 150.0

101.4

2016 2017 2018

2019

2020 2018

2016 2017
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Chairman’s Statement
FEHRE

RESULTS OVERVIEW

[t was an extremely challenging year for most of the industries
in 2020. The geopolitical tension between China and the United
States brought forward from 2019 coupled with the extensive
impact from the COVID-19 pandemic had caused enterprises and
individuals to become more conservative in making decisions and
changes. However, the year-long global battle against COVID-19
encouraged us to change. Changes were seen in daily routines,
in business operations, in schools and even in the mindsets of
businessmen. Owing to the impact from COVID-19 pandemic,
physical travels, in-person meetings and classes were largely
restricted. Fortunately, people all over the world re-connect
effectively and efficiently with the support of technologies. The
business activities gradually resumed in the second quarter of the
Year. Crisis and opportunity are two sides of the same coin. The
COVID-19 pandemic has catalysed the development of digital era.
Traditional businesses transformed or diversified themselves into
online businesses at a faster pace and the reliance on technology
is inevitably rising.

According to the statistics released by the National Bureau of
Statistics of China, China’s gross domestic product (“GDP"”) for
the Year increased by 2.3% year-on-year. After an economic
contraction of 6.8% in the first quarter of the Year resulted from
the lockdown, the pace of recovery of China's economy has
been accelerating. China’s GDP achieved a growth of 3.2% and
4.9% in the second and third quarter of the Year respectively and
further grew at 6.5% in the fourth quarter, as compared with
the corresponding periods in 2019. As a leading global supplier
of E-Caps and Polymer Caps, the Group benefitted from the
economic recovery and speedy growth of the digital era in China,
and achieved a promising sales growth of 23.8% for the Year. The
Group's annual sales revenue hit a record high of the last decade
to approximately HK$1,599,599,000 in the Year. In spite of the
net loss in the first half of the Year, the Group had received strong
sales recovery since the second half of the Year which enabled
the Group to achieve a net profit in the second half as well as the
entire year.

2020F H AP ITELZRFNH—F - PRHEEEM
AR BUARRIEE2019F M ERBE - M 20198
RERARITHECTE SHEERBATRRER
SRBEFEBRT - AM - —BF2RMENIUEL
B AHEBABRKE BEREHBELT BEEE -2
RDEBANBELDBEZ -BRERE 23
REM2019ERRERMARITHFE TR BEER
BlezEzm 2HRABEHRREEMAERENEE
B EEEHRAEEFE _FTELLH -EREFE
#2019 MRABHARITELEHBRROERE 5§
REBNREA S EB M/ EEZHEK EOJ#E
N EE ERHE A KRB ©

BEFBEBERFBERORT B FEARFER
BIRNAELERE FF23% - hEEENAEFE —
2= R B9 1T 36,8 % RO 4 B WKL A 18 + 18 B 2P £ N BT A
R H2019F R AFEEE - RE=FHFEE
NEEBEDRIIER32%K4.9%  FOERILREFH
£6.5% - AEEEAIREREAB RS TEREN
P IRCESLALER - LN B A BB P R B R
NSRER NAFERS238%MAIBHEERE -
AFE AEEHNZFHERAEIRETFRLHE
=L EE#1,599,599,0008 L B EAFE L F
HEEBEFE HASENHEEALRFE T LFAT
B FEAREERTEFUE 2 FEBLEF -
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Chairman’s Statement
EEWRE

The Group's satisfactory results amid such a difficult time did
not come with luck, but were achieved by the strong dedication
to research and development and effort in strategic planning of
the Group. The Group is dedicated to devote ample resources
to research and development so as to enhance the stability and
performance of its quality products as well as to provide innovative
and pioneer products to meet the ever-changing market demand.
The Group’s well-positioned brands, SAMXON® and X-CON®,
have been and continue to be widely recognised by many global
leading companies in various electronic sectors. In addition,
the strategies of developing multi-products such as E-Caps,
Polymer Caps, MLPC, EDLC and EDLC modules coupled with
diversified customer portfolios have safeguarded the Group from
global economic fluctuations while laying a solid foundation for
sustainable business growth.

"Save Qil, Save Minerals, Fresh Air, Green Future - Tomorrow Starts
Here” will continue to be the vision and mission of the Group in
business management as well as new product development. The
Group will continue to work closely with its customers, business
partners and shareholders to further secure its market position,
with a view to delivering promising returns in the near future.

On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity
to express our sincere gratitude to all our employees for their

loyalty and dedication and for the continuing support from our
customers, suppliers, banks and shareholders.

Kee Chor Lin
Chairman

Hong Kong, 22 March 2021
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Management Discussion and Analysis

B ER R DA

For the year ended 31 December

BZ12B31ALLEE

2020 2019

2020 2019

HK$'000 HK$'000

Operating Results THERT FAT
Revenue WA 1,599,599 1,292,160 +23.8%
Gross profit EH 271,877 245,293 +10.8%
EBITDA EBITDA 149,986 161,851 -7.3%
Profit attributable to shareholders A% 5 1 4 24,064 31,578 -23.8%
Earnings per share BREF 5.06 HK cents /&l 6.64 HK cents /1l -23.8%

FINANCIAL REVIEW B 3% El B

Impacted by the first wave of COVID-19, the Group’s operation
had been interrupted significantly and as a result, incurred a
net loss in the first half of the Year. With the strong recovery in
sales since the second quarter of the Year, the Group eventually
achieved a strong increase of 23.8% in sales revenue, from
approximately HK$1,292,160,000 for the year ended 31
December 2019 to approximately HK$1,599,599,000 for the Year,
hitting its record high of the last decade. The increase in sales
revenue was mainly attributable to an increase in sales volume
which was driven by the surging market demand for electronic
products.

Gross profit for the Year increased by 10.8% to HK$271,877,000
as compared with 2019. Gross profit margin dropped slightly
by 2.0 percentage points to 17.0%, as compared with that of
19.0% for 2019. Net profit attributable to the shareholders
of the Company dropped by 23.8% to HK$24,064,000, as
compared with that of HK$31,578,000 for the previous year,
representing a drop in margin of 0.9 percentage point from
2.4% to 1.5%. The decline in margin was mainly attributable
to (i) the significant adverse impact of the COVID-19 pandemic
which caused production interruption and disruption in business
activities of the Group in the first half of 2020; and (i) the sharp
appreciation of Renminbi in the second half of 2020. In spite of
these, with the strong recovery in sales in the second half of 2020,
the Group's financial performance had returned to pre-pandemic
level. Coupled with its effective cost control measures, the Group
achieved net profit in the second half of 2020 as well as for the
entire year. The Board does not recommend final dividend for the
Year (2019: Nil).

20198 M ESHRE —HEBERETEASEEE"

SAEERAFE LY FERFBB -BEARF

EE_EFREEEHRTY AEEMNHEERAZSK

FEZE FF23.8% HEE2019F 128318 IFEEH

1,292,160,000/% 7T 2 2N F [E £91,599,599,000/# 7T * 3=

HBETFNLESM HEWRAEINEERRET
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REEEFMAEEL2019F 18 5110.8%Z£=271,877,0007
TLo BRI REMTE2.0EE DB E17.0% ' 2019
FRAE19.0% o AR B IR R EAE AT T #%23.8%=
24,064,000 7T+ T = — % [Z R 431,578,000/5 7T * F)
HEE2.4% TER0IEE DB E1.5% o FEER TR E
ZHAM2019BRRERARITHEENFFE &
BAREEMN20206F FEFHEEFE RERZHTE
T R(i)2020F THEFARBEZRAE - RE LWL
RAR2020F T FHERER  REEMMBERER
B BB EZATKF o i1 _E % B AR AR Sl 5 5 -
REBMP2020F THEFEUEEFEBEF - EFEET
BRIREAREE 2 RHRE (20195 - &) -
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BB WR DM

BUSINESS REVIEW

Market Overview

Despite the political tension between China and the United
States, as well as the impact of COVID-19 pandemic which
dragged China’s GDP growth negatively in the first quarter of
2020, the economy of China still grew by 2.3% in the Year. It
had outperformed the general market consensus of 2%, and
appeared to be the only major economy which could attain
growth in 2020. According to the Basic Electronic Components
Industry Development Action Plan 2021-2023* released by the
Ministry of Industry and Information Technology of the People’s
Republic of China (the “MIIT”) in January 2021, China has
become a major leading manufacturer of electronic components
of the world. China’s sales revenue of electronic components had
already reached over RMB1.86 trillion in 2019 and kept increasing
throughout the years. The MIIT has emphasized its effort in
promoting and enhancing the growth of electronic components’
industries. The targeted sales revenue of electronic components in
China shall reach RMB2.1 trillion by 2023. In light of above, the
Group is confident that the development of supply chain for the
entire electronic components industries will be full of dynamics
and momentums with the support from the Central People’s
Government of China.

*  For identification purpose only

Aluminum capacitor family
mEERRRIK
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEET W R

Operation Review

Following the rapid sales growth of 23.8% for the Year, the Group
would continue to grasp the market potentials in penetrating into
existing customers as well as enriching the customer portfolio
in all dimensions. During the Year, the Group has been able to
stabilise its strong foothold and attain a greater market share in
the fast-growing electronic market. Since the products delivered
are of high stability and performance, together with its customer-
oriented services, customers considered the Group as their primary
source of purchasing. The Group's multi-products strategy offers
its customers a wide range of products, such as E-Caps, Polymer
Caps, MLPC, EDLC and EDLC modules. The Group is committed
to innovate new products with different specifications and
performance level so as to meet various market demands. Facing
the challenge of rising manufacturing costs mainly resulted from
the robust economic recovery in China, the Group had executed
strigent cost control measures with an aim to enhance its profit
margins.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2020, the Group's cash and cash equivalents
amounted to HK$263,486,000 (2019: HK$225,715,000), most of
which were either denominated in United States dollars, Renminbi
or Hong Kong dollars. Total outstanding bank borrowings of the
Group amounted to HK$1,024,517,000 (2019: HK$975,677,000)
which comprised mainly bank loans and trade finance facilities.

As at 31 December 2020, net gearing ratio was 49.2% (2019:
53.7%), which was calculated based on the amount of net
debt position (sum of total bank borrowings less cash and cash
equivalents) as a percentage of total equity. The Group was in a
net debt position of HK$761,031,000 as at 31 December 2020, as
compared to HK$749,962,000 as at 31 December 2019.

As at 31 December 2020, net working capital (calculated as
current assets less current liabilities) was HK$253,842,000,
representing an increase of HK$38,078,000 as compared with that
of HK$215,764,000 as at 31 December 2019. The current ratio
(calculated as current assets/current liabilities) was 1.16 times as at
31 December 2020, as compared with that of 1.15 times as at 31
December 2019.

@A E

AR SRS IS SI823.8% 1% N FAEE TR
MHBERE FAMRAEF URETARARTF
BARAFE AR HESEERHTT TS
RE—F UMSEANMENBE - ANERKEAS
BRTE  MEREBTORY  HEFCHRAKER
HEBEE ARENZTEMRERAETFRHEE

WEINES PRERESE BHTESS BF
XEHTERENE YEEERRREEETAS
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263,486,000/ 7T (20194F : 225,715,000 7T ) * K&
MAET ARBESB LT E - A EEREERTHE
B 42%8 /51,024,517,0007% 7T (20194F : 975,677,000/
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318 AEE 2 FEK LB A761,031,0008 7T + A
2019412 A31H A1l /749,962,000 7T

2020612 A318 FREE S (RRBEER K
BfERTE) 5253,842,0007% 7T - L 742019412 A31
H #9215,764,0007% 7T 12 hn38,078,0007% 7t ° 1420204F
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEEWR DT

The Group’s financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars. However, most of the Group’s transactions were
conducted in Hong Kong dollars, Renminbi, United States dollars
and Japanese Yen. The Group is aware of the potential foreign
exchange currency risk that may arise from the fluctuation of
exchange rates between Hong Kong dollars, Renminbi, United
States dollars and Japanese Yen. The Group will closely monitor its
overall foreign exchange exposure with a view to safeguarding the
Group from exchange rate risks.

OUTLOOK AND PROSPECTS

Looking ahead, the economic outlook remains clouded with
uncertainties and volatilities. The impact of COVID-19 and the
uncertainties in global economy remain and continue to change
the dynamics in consumer behaviour, business segments and
channels. The launch of vaccinations appears to be the twilight
for this year-long battle. As such, while remaining cautious, the
Group is optimistic and well-positioned to ride on any recovery
momentum swiftly and decisively.

| BB THRLS
|

AL, R

REE 2 HBHRERAETEY A AEBZEN
BT AR ETKBEETRS  AEEEHEET
BRRET ARKE ELTRBEEXREMEELHNE
EIMER - AEBE ST BT HEEIMNERR - LA

REAEERZEXRBATE -
RERAIR
RERF LHEBFDARRE BIKTTE - 20198 M

RERNTERBHCETHABREZRE FERE
HBETA LERHEARE -REAMARE—F
RIPUR B RBE S o it - ANEEFIELE - pEly RET
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The Group donated 10,000 surgical masks to government authority in Yaan

7K £5 [81 18 #810,0001E SN} O 2B % 22 ER A #6 P9
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BEE RN

Digital era has already been underway before the COVID-19
outbreak. Undoubtedly, this digital era mandate has been brought
into sharp focus during the COVID-19 pandemic. Businesses have
brought up the digital transformation agenda as their top priority.
The change of lifestyle and consumer behavior from traditional
to digital has been accelerated. According to International Data
Corporation, the global spending on digital transformation may
reach US$1.97 trillion in 2022. New trends such as e-commerce,
remote work arrangements, digitalisation of customer services,
self-service, online shopping, video conferencing are expected
to stay post-pandemic. In addition, environmental friendly and
energy-saving electronic products have become another focus of
the market. The dependence of humans on emerging technologies
is increasing.

In view of the abovementioned phenomena and market
potentials, the Group is confident in its future prospects given
that its products can be applied in various end products and
sectors ranging from home electronic appliances to industrial
infrastructures, and also from customer sectors to professional
high-end user sectors. The Group believes its on-going business
and product development in artificial intelligence (Al), Internet of
Things (loT), cloud computing, blockchain, new energy vehicles,
consumer electronics as well as 5G mobile networks, have helped
to create ample business opportunities and will continue to pave a
way for sustainable business growth in the upcoming future.

The Group will continue to ride on its strong edge in research
and development capabilities to produce quality products,
to penetrate further in existing customers and further enrich
its customer portfolio. These are the keys to capture the
massive potentials from the electronic markets and grow its
market share. Meanwhile, the Group will exert extra efforts in
improving the competitiveness of its quality products by means
of enhancing operational efficiency as well as tightening the
control over product costs with an aim to boost its market share
and profitability through technology and increased process
automation. Lastly, the Group is committed to and confident in
delivering a satisfactory growth and return to its shareholders in
the long run.
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EMPLOYMENT AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2020, the Group employed 48 staff in Hong
Kong (2019: 47) and employed a total work force of 2,719
(2019: 2,610) inclusive of all staff in Mainland China and overseas
offices. The Group’s remuneration policy is built on the principle
of equitability with incentive-based, motivating, performance-
oriented and market-competitive remuneration packages for its
employees. Remuneration packages are reviewed on a regular
basis. Apart from salary, other staff benefits include provident fund
contributions, medical insurance coverage and performance-based
bonuses.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Kee Chor Lin (Mrs Chan), aged 72, is the co-founder of the
Group. She has been the Chairman and an Executive Director of
the Company since October 2008. Mrs Chan is the leader of the
Group for corporate development, overall planning, strategies
and policies making. She is at present a director of several major
operating subsidiaries of the Group and also a member of the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee of
the Company. Mrs Chan is one of the well-known industrialists
in Hong Kong and possesses over 40 years of experience in the
business of electronic components. She is the mother of Mr
Chan Yu Ching, Eugene, the Managing Director and an Executive
Director of the Company and Ms Chan Lok Yan, Lorraine, a
member of senior management of the Group.

Chan Yu Ching, Eugene, aged 45, joined the Group in 1998. He
has been an Executive Director of the Company since December
2007 and the Managing Director of the Company since October
2008. Mr Chan is responsible for overseeing the business
development, policies making and implementation of the Group.
He is also a director of certain major operating subsidiaries of
the Group and a member of the Nomination Committee of the
Company. Mr Chan is currently a director of Zhuhai Higrand
Technology Co., Ltd. in which its shares are listed on the National
Equities Exchange and Quotations in China. He holds a Bachelor’s
degree in Applied Science (majored in Electronic and Electrical
Engineering) from the University of British Columbia, Canada.
Mr Chan has over 23 years of experience in the industry of
electronic components and was awarded the Young Industrialist
Awards of Hong Kong in 2008. He is the son of Ms Kee Chor
Lin, the Chairman and an Executive Director of the Company and
the brother of Ms Chan Lok Yan, Lorraine, a member of senior
management of the Group.
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Chan Tat Cheong, Alan, aged 60, has been an Executive Director
of the Company since October 2016 and the Company Secretary
of the Company since December 2020. He joined the Group in
May 2016. Mr Chan is the Finance Director of the Group and
a director of certain subsidiaries of the Group. He is primarily
responsible for overseeing the Group’s business development,
finance and accounting, merger and acquisition, and investor
relations. Mr Chan has over 30 years of experience in the fields
of accounting, auditing and financial management. He holds a
Bachelor’s degree in accounting and financial analysis from the
University of Newcastle Upon Tyne, United Kingdom. Mr Chan
is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants, a member of the American Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and also a member of the Chartered
Professional Accountants of Canada.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Li Sau Hung, Eddy, Gss, /r, aged 66, has been an Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company since October 1996. He
is also the chairman of the Nomination Committee, a member
of the Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee
of the Company. Dr Li has over 30 years of experience in the
manufacturing industry. He is the president of Hong Kong
Economic & Trade Association Limited. Dr Li holds a Master's
degree in Business Administration and a Doctor of Philosophy
degree in Economics. He was awarded The Ten Outstanding
Young Persons in 1991 and the Young Industrialists of Hong Kong
in 1993. Dr Li is currently an independent non-executive director
of each of Chuang’s China Investments Limited and Oriental
Watch Holdings Limited, in which all of these companies are listed
on the Stock Exchange.
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Lo Kwok Kwei, David, aged 61, has been an Independent Non-
executive Director of the Company since November 1999. He is
also the chairman of the Remuneration Committee, a member
of the Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee of the
Company. Mr Lo holds the degrees of Bachelor of Laws and
Bachelor of Jurisprudence from the University of New South
Wales, Australia. He was admitted as a solicitor of the Supreme
Court of New South Wales, Australia in 1984. Mr Lo has been a
member of The Law Society of Hong Kong since 1987. He has
been practising as a solicitor in Hong Kong for over 30 years
and is a partner of David Lo & Partners. Mr Lo is currently an
independent non-executive director of each of eSun Holdings
Limited and Futong Technology Development Holdings Limited, in
which all of these companies are listed on the Stock Exchange.

Mar, Selwyn, aged 85, has been an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company since September 2004. He is also
the chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of the
Nomination Committee of the Company. Mr Mar graduated
from the London School of Economics, University of London. He
is a fellow member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of
the United Kingdom and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. Mr Mar has been active in commercial and
industrial undertakings over the past 40 years. He is currently a
director of Nexia Charles Mar Fan Limited. Mr Mar is currently an
independent non-executive director of each of China Everbright
International Limited, Minmetals Land Limited and PanAsialum
Holdings Company Limited, in which all of these companies are
listed on the Stock Exchange. Mr Mar was the president of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (formerly
known as the "Hong Kong Society of Accountants”) in 1991,
a member of the Appeals Panel of the Securities and Futures
Commission and a member of Board of Governors of the Chinese
International School. He is at present an Honorary Fellow and
Honorary Court Member of the Lingnan University.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Chan Lok Yan, Lorraine, aged 43, is the Business Control
Director of the Group. Ms Chan joined the Group in 2001
and is actively involving in the setting of the Group’s business
strategies, re-engineering the Group’s business processes and
the establishment of business control systems. She has extensive
experience in marketing, business operations and information
systems management. Ms Chan holds a Bachelor of Arts degree
from the University of Toronto, Canada. She is the daughter of
Ms Kee Chor Lin, the Chairman and an Executive Director of
the Company and the sister of Mr Chan Yu Ching, Eugene, the
Managing Director and an Executive Director of the Company.

Hsu Dau Shin, aged 65, is the General Manager of the Group's
production plant in Dongguan. Mr Hsu joined the Group in 2014.
He is responsible for the management and operation of the
manufacturing facility of the Group in Dongguan. Prior to joining
the Group, Mr Hsu was the chief executive officer of a well-
known Taiwan electronic company and led it to be listed on the
Taiwan Stock Exchange. He holds a Bachelor’s degree in Business
Administration from the University of New Hampshire, United
States.

Li Kwok Ming, aged 59, is the Business Development Director
in China of the Group. Mr Li joined the Group in 2011. He is
responsible for the development of the Group's sales network
in China. Mr Li has over 22 years of experience in business
development and channel management. Prior to joining the
Group, he had held senior positions in two multinational
corporations. Mr Li holds a Master’s degree in Business
Administration from the Warwick University, United Kingdom.

Lui Man Lung, Johnny, aged 50, is the Assistant Business
Development Director of the Group. Mr Lui joined the Group
in 1996 and is mainly responsible for the development of the
Group's business in the Greater China and Taiwan region. He has
over 26 years of experience in the sales and marketing fields. Mr
Lui holds a Bachelor’s degree in Business Administration from the
Lingnan University, Hong Kong.
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Pan Su Qing, aged 59, is the Vice Chief Engineer of the Group’s
Research & Development Department. Ms Pan joined the Group
in 1996. She is responsible for product development, product
design, technical support and product cost management of the
Group. Prior to joining the Group, Ms Pan had worked in the
research & development department of a well-known state-
owned National 4321 Factory and engaged in the development
of new aluminum electrolytic capacitor products for commercial
customers and military uses. She graduated from the Nan Chang
Radio Technological School, majored in electronics component and
material in 1983.

Peng Shu Hong, aged 46, is the Operation Manager of the
Group'’s production plant in Dongguan. Mr Peng joined the Group
in 1997 and is responsible for managing the production, quality
control and research & development of the production plant
in Dongguan. He has over 21 years of experience in operation
management field.

Wan Wah, aged 50, is the Assistant General Manager of the
Group. Ms Wan rendered her service from 1994 to 2013 and
re-joined the Group in 2015. She is mainly responsible for the
development of the Group's business. Ms Wan has over 27 years
of experience in the sales and marketing fields and has successfully
led sales teams in the development of new and potential
markets for the Group. She holds a Master’s degree in Business
Administration from the University of Sydney, Australia.

Wong Ching Ming, Stanley, aged 63, is the Business
Development Director of the Group. Mr Wong joined the Group
in 2003. He was an Executive Director of the Company from
January 2011 until January 2019 when he tendered a resignation
for health reasons. Mr Wong is responsible for managing the
global sales, marketing strategies and operations of the Group.
He has over 30 years of experience in sales and marketing fields
and had held a senior management position in an internationally
well-known information technology company. Mr Wong holds
a Bachelor of Science (Aeronautical Engineering) degree and a
Master of Science degree from the Imperial College of Science,
University of London.
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The Board is pleased to present this Corporate Governance Report
for the Year.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company has complied with the applicable code provisions of
the Corporate Governance Code contained in Appendix 14 to the
Listing Rules. The Company has adopted the code provisions as its
code of corporate governance practices throughout the Year with
the exception of the following deviation:

Pursuant to Code Provision A.4.1, non-executive directors and
independent non-executive directors should be appointed for
a specific term. Currently, all the Independent Non-executive
Directors of the Company are not appointed for a specific term
but are subject to the requirement of retirement by rotation at the
annual general meeting of the Company under Bye-law 87 of the
Bye-laws of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, the Company considers that sufficient
measures have been taken to ensure that corporate governance
practices of the Company were in line with the code provisions
as contained in the Corporate Governance Code throughout the
Year.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as a code of conduct regulating
Directors’ dealings in securities of the Company. After having
made specific enquiries by the Company, all Directors have
confirmed that they have fully complied with the Model Code
throughout the Year.

THE BOARD

The Board currently comprises three Executive Directors and three
Independent Non-executive Directors. The number of independent
non-executive director represents more than one-third of the
Board which complies with the requirement under Rule 3.10A of
the Listing Rules. Their names are identified in various corporate
communications and in all announcements. Biographical details
of the Directors and the relationship among the members of the
Board are disclosed under the section “Board of Directors and
Senior Management” on pages 13 to 17 of this Annual Report.
The Board is supported by three board committees, namely
the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the
Nomination Committee.
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Board Composition

The Directors believe that the current composition of the Board
reflects the necessary balance of skills and experience appropriate
for the requirements of the business of the Group and the
effective leadership. The Independent Non-executive Directors of
the Company are experts in various business sectors. Under Rule
3.10 of the Listing Rules, at least one of the independent non-
executive directors has appropriate professional qualifications
or accounting or related financial management expertise. The
Directors are of the opinion that the present structure of the
independent non-executive directors of the Company complies
with Rule 3.10 of the Listing Rules and can ensure independence
and objectivity and provides checks and balances to safeguard the
interests of the shareholders and the Company.

Role of the Board

The Board, which is accountable to shareholders for the long-
term performance of the Company, assumes responsibility for its
leadership and control and responsible for promoting the success
of the Company. The Board also directs strategic objectives of the
Company to management and oversees their implementation and
monitors the operational and financial performance of the Group.
Management is responsible for the day-to-day operations of the
Group in order to achieve the strategic objectives set by the Board.

Chairman and Managing Director

Clear division of the roles of the Chairman and the Managing
Director is crucial to the effective running of the Board and the
development of the Group. Ms Kee Chor Lin and Mr Chan Yu
Ching, Eugene are the Chairman and the Managing Director of
the Company respectively. Their roles and duties are separate
and distinct. Ms Kee Chor Lin, as the Chairman, takes up the
challenging role of leading the Board to develop and formulate
strategic business development plans whilst Mr Chan Yu Ching,
Eugene, as the Managing Director, implements the policies and is
answerable to the Board for the operations and management of
the Group. Ms Kee Chor Lin is the mother of Mr Chan Yu Ching,
Eugene.
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Board Processes

The Chairman is responsible for drawing up and approving the
agenda for each Board meeting in consultation with all Directors
and the Company Secretary.

Notice of at least 14 days is given of all regular Board meetings
and all Directors are invited to include matters in the agenda.
The Company Secretary assists the Chairman in preparing the
agenda for each Board meeting. The agenda and accompanying
board papers are then sent in full to all Directors at least 3 days
in advance or within reasonable time prior to the relevant Board
meetings.

The minutes of the Board meetings recorded in sufficient detail
the matters considered by the Board. The minutes of all Board
meetings and all other committee meetings are kept by the
Company Secretary and are available upon prior appointment for
inspection by any Directors, auditors or any relevant eligible parties
who are entitled to have access to such information.

Directors should declare any conflicts of interest at the Board
meetings and to abstain from voting and be excluded from
counting as quorum in that meeting whenever they have potential
or actual interests in the matters to be discussed and approved at
that meeting and the Board has determined to be material.

Induction and Training for Directors

Every newly appointed Director of the Company will receive a
comprehensive, formal and tailored induction on appointment
to ensure that he has a proper understanding of the Company'’s
operations and business and is fully aware of his responsibilities
under statue and common law, the Listing Rules, legal and
other regulatory requirements and the Company’s business and
governance policies. The Company Secretary also provides the
latest development and changes in the Listing Rules and other
relevant legal and regulatory requirements to the Board from time
to time.
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Besides, all Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills on the roles, functions and duties of a listed company
director. A specific in-house training seminar was organised for
all Directors in November 2020 to update the Board the latest
development and reporting on ESG. They also took part in
corporate visits and attended seminars organised by other listed
companies or professional organisations to further enhance their
capacities to carry out directors’ duties. The training undertaken by
the Directors during the Year is summarised as follows:

Directors

Executive Directors HTES

Kee Chor Lin Wit

Chan Yu Ching, Eugene BRF5

Chan Tat Cheong, Alan Fpeg=
Independent Non-executive Directors BN IEHITESE
Li Sau Hung, Eddy e S El

Lo Kwok Kwei, David Fregeih=y

Mar, Selwyn BHEE

Nomination, Appointment, Re-election and Removal
of Directors

Nomination of Directors

The Company adopted the Nomination Policy on 28 December
2018. It aims to set out the nomination procedure and the
process and criteria adopted by the Nomination Committee of the
Company to select and recommend candidates for directorship
of the Company. The Nomination Committee shall nominate
suitable candidates to the Board for it to consider and make
recommendations to shareholders for election as the Directors of
the Company at general meetings or appoint as Directors to fill
casual vacancies. The Nomination Committee may, as it considers
appropriate, nominate a number of candidates more than the
number of Directors to be appointed or re-appointed at a general
meeting, or the number of casual vacancies to be filled.
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Key Principles of the Company for the Nomination of
Directors

Before nominating candidates for the directorship of the Company
for the Board's approval, the Nomination Committee should:

1. review the structure, size and composition (including
the skills, knowledge, experience and diversity of
perspectives) of the Board at least annually, taking into
account the Company's Board Diversity Policy, and make
recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to
complement the Company’s corporate strategy;

2. identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members and select or make recommendations to the Board
on the selection of individuals nominated for directorships;
and

3. make recommendations to the Board on the appointment
or re-appointment of directors and succession planning for
directors, in particular, the chairman and the chief executive
of the Company.

Key Selection Criteria

In assessing the suitability of a proposed candidate, the
Nomination Committee should take into account of the following
factors, inter alia:

e reputation for integrity;
e accomplishment and experience;

e commitment in respect of available time and relevant
interest;

e the Company's Board Diversity Policy that ensures the Board
has diversity in all its aspects, including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of
service;

. in the case of Independent Non-executive Directors,
the independence of the candidate (the independence
requirements as set out under any applicable laws, rules and
regulations shall have been met); and

e any other factors that the Nomination Committee deems
appropriate.
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Subject to the provisions of the Bye-laws of the Company, retiring
Directors are eligible for nomination by the Board to stand for re-
election at a general meeting.

Proposed candidate will be asked to submit his/her necessary
personal information in a prescribed form, together with his/
her written consent to be appointed as a Director and to the
public disclosure of his/her personal data on any documents or
the relevant websites for the purpose of or in relation to his/her
standing for election as a Director.

Nomination Procedures

The secretary of the Nomination Committee shall call a meeting of
the Nomination Committee, and invite nominations of candidates
from Board members if any, for consideration by the Nomination
Committee prior to its meeting. The Nomination Committee may
also put forward candidates who are not nominated by Board
members.

For filling a casual vacancy, the Nomination Committee shall make
recommendations for the Board's consideration and approval. For
proposing candidates to stand for election at a general meeting,
the Nomination Committee shall make nominations to the Board
for its consideration and recommendation.

Until the issue of the relevant circular to the Company’s
shareholders, the nominated persons shall not assume that they
have been proposed by the Board to stand for election at the
general meeting.

In order to provide information of the candidates nominated
by the Board to stand for election at a general meeting, and to
invite nominations from shareholders, a circular will be sent to the
Company's shareholders. The circular will set out the lodgment
period for the Company’s shareholders to make the nominations.
The names, brief biographies (including qualifications and relevant
experience), independence, proposed remuneration and any other
information, as required pursuant to the applicable laws, rules and
regulations, of the proposed candidates will be included in the
circular to the Company'’s shareholders.
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A shareholder of the Company can serve a notice to the Company
Secretary within the lodgement period of its intention to propose
a resolution to elect a certain person as a Director, without
the Board’s recommendation or the Nomination Committee’s
nomination, other than those candidates set out in the circular
to the Company'’s shareholders. The particulars of the candidates
so proposed will be sent to all shareholders for information by a
supplementary circular.

A candidate is allowed to withdraw his candidature at any time
before the general meeting by serving a notice in writing to the
Company Secretary.

As there may be more candidates than the vacancies available,
and the “gross-vote” method will be used to determine who shall
be elected as a Director, shareholder’s proposed resolutions shall
therefore take the same form as the resolutions proposed for the
candidates recommended by the Board.

Confidentiality

Unless required by law or any regulatory authority, under no
circumstances shall a member of the Nomination Committee
or a staff member of the Company disclose any information to
or entertain any enquiries from the public with regard to any
nomination or candidature before the circular to the Company’s
shareholders, as the case may be, is issued. Following the issue of
the circular, the Nomination Committee or Company Secretary or
other staff member of the Company approved by the Nomination
Committee may answer enquiries from the regulatory authorities
or the public but confidential information regarding nominations
and candidates should not be disclosed.

Power and Responsibility of the Board

The Board shall have the ultimate responsibility and final decision
on all matters relating to its recommendation of candidates to
stand for election at any general meeting. The Board shall monitor
and review the Nomination Policy to ensure that it remains
relevant to the Company’s needs and reflects the regulatory
requirements effective from time to time.
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Appointment of Directors

Pursuant to Bye-law 86(1) of the Bye-laws of the Company, the
Directors shall be elected or appointed in the first place at the
statutory meeting of the members and thereafter at the annual
general meeting. However, the Board shall have the power
from time to time and at any time to appoint any person as a
Director either to fill a casual vacancy on the Board or, subject to
authorisation by the members in general meeting, as an addition
to the existing Board subject to Bye-law 86(2) of the Bye-laws of
the Company.

Re-election of Directors

Bye-law 86(2) of the Bye-laws of the Company provides that any
Director so appointed by the Board shall hold office only until the
next following annual general meeting of the Company and shall
then be eligible for re-election at that meeting. Pursuant to Bye-
law 87 of the Bye-laws of the Company, one-third of the Directors
for the time being shall retire from office by rotation, provided that
every Director (including those appointed for a specific term) shall
be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years
at the annual general meeting.

Removal of Directors

Under Bye-law 86(4) of the Bye-laws of the Company, the
members may, at any general meeting and by an ordinary
resolution, remove a Director at any time before the expiration of
his period of office provided that the notice of any such meeting
convened for the purpose of removing a Director shall contain a
statement of the intention so to do and be served on such Director
not less than 14 days before the meeting and at such meeting,
such Director shall be entitled to be heard on the motion for his
removal.

Board Diversity

The Company adopted the Board Diversity Policy on 1 August
2013 and amended on 28 December 2018. It aims to set out the
approach to achieve diversity on the Board of the Company. To
achieve a sustainable and balanced development, the Company
encourages increasing diversity at the Board level as an essential
element in supporting the attainment of its strategic objectives
and its sustainable development. In designing an appropriate
composition of the Board, the diversity of the Board has been
considered from a number of factors, including but not limited to
gender, age, cultural and educational background, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. All Board
appointments will be based on meritocracy and candidates will
be considered against objective criteria, having due regard for the
benefits of diversity on the Board.
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The following chart shows the diversity profile of the Board as at ~ TE#RMN2020F12A31BEF G Z bR
31 December 2020:

Board Diversity Profile

EFEZTEER
Number of Directors
BEAH
6 —
Female Entrepreneur Hong Kong Entrepreneur
koqid BHER =55 BER
5 -
Independent
Non-executive Over 65
Director 655 £
L = 37 Finance or
4 IERITES accounting Over 10
or years
economics 10 E
SRl
3r EEEY
AR R
2 -

Electrical
engineering

TR

0
Designation Gender Age Cultural Educational Professional Length of
g 1451 group background background experience service
FesER XIEE R BEER HFRAER FE
Responsibilities of Directors EECHE

all

The Directors are collectively responsible for promoting the success EEZ5£BATREREEARREY HEEALAE
of the Company by directing and supervising the Company’s M) °
affairs.

The Chairman is responsible for providing leadership to and the FREBEREREBREEG NITEERVBEMRRF
management of the Board. Executive Directors take an active (B UWIEBBEANAFH WHERAQFHEEBE
interest in the affairs of the Company with a good understanding BEHEZEEEAEG MBVIIRTESN2HEEE
of the business, and play important roles in the day-to-day @& U TREHREBELER LFIE-
management of business of the Company, whilst Independent

Non-executive Directors participate in the Board meetings and

bring their independent views and judgments on various issues.
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Each of the Independent Non-executive Directors has been
appointed with a formal letter of appointment setting out the
terms and conditions of their respective appointment. Prior to
their respective appointment, each of them has submitted a
written confirmation to the Company and the Stock Exchange
confirming their independence and has undertaken to inform the
Company and the Stock Exchange as soon as practicable if there
is any subsequent change of circumstances which may affect their
independence.

Independent Non-executive Directors provide the Group with
a wide range of skills, expertise and varied backgrounds and
qualifications through their regular attendance at various
committee meetings. They bring independent opinion and
judgment on the strategy and policies to ensure that the interests
of all shareholders are taken into account. The Company reviews
annually and obtains confirmation of independence from each
of them during their respective terms of appointment. During
the Year, the Company received written confirmation from each
of the Independent Non-executive Directors his independence
with reference to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. Based on the
confirmations, the Company considers that all of them are
independent, which is in compliance with the requirements under
the Listing Rules.

Directors’ Securities Transactions

As mentioned above, the Company has made specific enquiries
to all Directors and all of them confirmed that they had fully
complied with the required standard as set out in the Model Code
during the Year.

Directors and Officers’ Indemnity

The Company continues to subscribe for an insurance policy to
indemnify the Directors and other officers from any losses, claims,
damages, liabilities and expenses, including without limitation, any
proceedings brought against them, arising from the performance
of his duty pursuant to his appointment under his respective
service agreement entered into with the Company. The current
policy has been renewed during the Year and shall be under
regular review.
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Corporate Governance Functions
The Board is responsible for performing the following corporate
governance duties:

1. develop and review the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance and make appropriate
recommendations to the Board;

2. review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

3. review and monitor the Company'’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

4.  develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
Directors; and

5. review the Company's compliance with the Corporate
Governance Code and disclosure in this Corporate
Governance Report.

DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

While at all times the Board retains full responsibility for guiding
and monitoring the operations of the Group, the Board delegated
certain responsibilities to the senior management team of the
Company, including the day-to-day operations of the Group. Such
senior management team is accounted for their performance to
the Board.

During the Year, the Executive Directors frequently met and
discussed with the senior management team in order to maintain
an effective feedback system and enable the Group to react to
changes or problems effectively and efficiently. The Board reviews
its arrangement on delegation of responsibilities and authority
regularly to ensure that such delegations are appropriate in view
of the Company’s prevailing circumstances and that appropriate
reporting system is in place. Each Director is free to seek advice
from and has access to the Company’s senior management team
independently
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board currently has three committees, namely the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee. All the committees are empowered by the Board
under their own terms of reference which have been posted on
the websites of HKEXnews and the Company and are available
for inspection by the shareholders of the Company upon request
made to the Company Secretary.

Audit Committee
The Audit Committee comprises three members. All of them are
Independent Non-executive Directors, namely:

Mar, Selwyn (Chairman)
Li Sau Hung, Eddy
Lo Kwok Kwei, David

The Board considers that each Audit Committee member has
extensive commercial experience and the Audit Committee has
a suitable mix of expertise in various businesses, financial and
legal sectors and that the composition and establishment of the
Committee complies with the requirements under Rule 3.21 of the
Listing Rules.

The Audit Committee is primarily responsible for assisting the
Board in providing an independent view on the effectiveness
of the financial process, risk management and internal control
systems of the Group. It has the responsibilities and powers set
forth in the terms of reference. The committee members shall
meet at least twice every year to review the interim and final
results prepared by the Board.
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During the Year, the Audit Committee held four meetings,
including a meeting with external auditor for special audit
planning. The attendance records of Directors attending the
Audit Committee meetings are set out on page 33 of this Annual
Report. The following is a summary of work performed by the
Audit Committee during the Year:

1. reviewed the financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2019 and for the interim period ended 30 June
2020 before submission to the Board for approval;

2. reviewed and made recommendations to the Board the
re-appointment of KPMG as the external auditor of the
Company;,

3. reviewed the external auditor’s engagement fee;

4. reviewed the effectiveness of internal control and risk
management systems of the Group;

5. reviewed the effectiveness of the internal audit function of
the Group; and

6. reviewed the annual audit plan.

The Audit Committee held a meeting with external auditor for the
special purpose of audit planning, which meeting also welcomed
the attendance of any Director who had either expertise, or special
interest, in accounting, financial and auditing matters.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee comprises three members,
including one Executive Director and two Independent Non-
executive Directors, namely:

Lo Kwok Kwei, David (Chairman)

Kee Chor Lin
Li Sau Hung, Eddy
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The Remuneration Committee is responsible for (i) determining
the specific remuneration packages of all Executive Directors
and senior management, including but without limitation
benefits in kind, pension rights and compensation payments
(including any compensation payable for loss or termination of
their office or appointment); (i) making recommendations to
the Board of the remuneration of non-executive directors; and
(iii) establishing a transparent procedure for developing policy
on such remuneration. The Board consults the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee and provides sufficient resources to
enable it to discharge its duties.

During the Year, the Remuneration Committee held a meeting and
the attendance records of Directors attending the Remuneration
Committee meeting are set out on page 33 of this Annual
Report. The following is a summary of work performed by the
Remuneration Committee during the Year:

1. reviewed and approved the remuneration packages of the
Directors and senior management; and

2. reviewed and made recommendations to the Board the
remuneration package of Executive Directors, Independent
Non-executive Directors and senior management.

The following table lists out by bands the remuneration of
Executive Directors and senior management whose names appear
in the section “Board of Directors and Senior Management” for
the Year:

HK$

BT
5,000,001-6,000,000
3,000,001-5,000,000
1,000,001-3,000,000
1-1,000,000

Total #5t
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Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee comprises five members, including
two Executive Directors and three Independent Non-executive
Directors, namely:

Li Sau Hung, Eddy (Chairman)
Kee Chor Lin

Chan Yu Ching, Eugene

Lo Kwok Kwei, David

Mar, Selwyn

The Nomination Committee is responsible for (i) assisting the
Board to run effectively and the Company can go through a
formal, fair and transparent process of reviewing the structure,
size and composition of the Board and the balance and
effectiveness of the Board in the light of the Board Diversity
Policy identifying the skills needed and appointing those who
can provide them to the Board; (ii) leading the process for the
appointment of Directors; and (iii) identifying and nominating
suitable candidates for appointment to the Board. The Nomination
Committee is provided with sufficient resources enabling it to
discharge its duties.

During the Year, the Nomination Committee held a meeting and
the attendance records of Directors attending the Nomination
Committee meeting are set out on page 33 of this Annual Report.
The following is a summary of work performed by the Nomination
Committee during the Year:

1. reviewed the structure, size and composition of the Board,;
and

2. reviewed the succession planning for the Board.
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Attendance Records of Directors Attending Board EXEeR ESZESERRRREFX
Meetings, Board Committee Meetings and Annual SESHERR

General Meeting
The attendance records of Directors during the Year are as follows: ZERAFER 2 HELENOT :

Number of meetings attended/held

HE/BTEERE

Audit  Remuneration Nomination Annual

Board Committee Committee Committee General

meeting meeting meeting meeting Meeting

Directors EZgEE FNZECER FMZEg8E REZEEEER RRAFAE
Executive Directors HITES

Kee Chor Lin ' e 4/4 44 n " 1n

Chan Yu Ching, Eugene ' BFE 4/4 44 - n 11

Chan Tat Cheong, Alan ? BiEg? 414 444 - - 17

Independent Non-executive Directors BIFHTES

Li Sau Hung, Eddy F5E 414 44 171 17 7

Lo Kwok Kwei, David ZHE 4/4 4/4 n 1n n

Mar, Selwyn SR 4/4 4/4 - 17 0
Notes: FEE -

1. Ms Kee Chor Lin and Mr Chan Yu Ching, Eugene attended the Audit 1. LR ELZTEBRFELEERBEXZEGERUE
Committee meetings as management representatives as requested BERREOHLEESEZEZESSE -
by the Audit Committee.

2. Mr Chan Tat Cheong, Alan attended all the Audit Committee 2. MRESLEBBEZRZESERUNBERSHT

meetings as the Finance Director as requested by the Audit FREEZREEgEH
Committee.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT BEERXE

Directors’ Responsibilities in Financial Reporting ESHMBREZEE

The Board is committed to providing a balanced, clear and BEEHRNIYAREEZHHERE B RAISE
comprehensible assessment of the financial performance, financial HALE EWME2EZ T - EECEEREZET Y
position and prospects of the Group. The Board, assisted by the BB T BEBAEEZ B HRERF BEREECE
Audit Committee, oversees the financial reporting process of RAEEHEHEAFERTPHREALIEE 27E
the Group. The Audit Committee monitors the integrity of the 1%

financial statements and annual and interim reports and accounts

of the Group.

't
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All Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for the preparation
of the financial statements of the Group, which shall give a true
and fair view of the financial status of the Group. During the Year,
the Directors were not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to event or condition that might cast significant doubt upon the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. Accordingly, the
Directors prepared the financial statements of the Company on a
going concern basis.

The Company is committed to announce its interim and annual
results as soon as reasonably practicable after the end of the
relevant period and the financial year respectively as required
by the Listing Rules and discloses all such information as
would enable the shareholders of the Company to assess the
performance, financial position and prospects of the Group.

Auditor’s Responsibilities

The responsibilities of external auditor of the Company
with respect to financial reporting are set out in the section
“Independent Auditor’s Report” on pages 58 to 67 of this Annual
Report.

Auditor’s Remuneration

The Audit Committee reflected their views to the Board that
the remuneration payable to the Company’s external auditor
was reasonable and fair in all circumstances and there had
been no major disagreement between the external auditor and
management of the Company during the Year.

The remuneration paid/payable to the Company’s external auditor,
KPMG, during the Year is set out as follows:

Services rendered i it 2 R 7%
Audit services ZER TS
Non-audit services ! IEZE RS
Total HEE

PREFFAPVEHGHEAREMBHRRZEME TEE
BERRAFHRBARBEZMBERRA - RAFERN &
EU BT BB AN R BIFEL LR TBREKR
REZEHFHIRZEXTHERE R EFC
B BREERREARR U BIHEK-

AARFEENEABB I BRFEERREER SR
BRATERE EHRAUREDHIAMEFIRFEE
B RWBERMAABER WEARRBRREALE
Bz KRB MR RATS -

REMmzEE
AARINEZEENE B RS 2 EAHRNFRE
S58ZE67H [ ZHAnsRE | —&e

BT &

ERZBEECRESERR  BRRENARRINERX
2N 2 2B AT AR MAFEARINE 28D
ARREEBIBEERBER DB -

WREREN,/ B AR TSN KR E AR
B ZMEHFINT

Fees paid/payable
Bt ENEA

HK$"000
TERx
1,750
350

2,100

Note:
1. The fee paid for non-audit services included review of interim

financial information, work performed on the preliminary
announcement of results of the Group and tax compliance services.
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INTERNAL AUDIT

The Board recognises internal audit in assisting the Company to
enhancing its corporate governance. The internal auditor is neither
affiliated with the employees nor external auditor of the Company
in order to ensure its objectivity, creditability and independence.
It reports to the Audit Committee directly. During the Year, the
internal auditor performed internal audit reviews and the scope of
review includes:

1. planned and conducted internal audit review activities on the
scope of review approved by the Audit Committee and the
Board;

2. reviewed the design of internal control system of the
in-scoped areas, identified the key controls in place and
assessed whether there were significant gaps in the design of
the internal controls;

3. sample tested the operating effectiveness of key controls
identified of the in-scoped areas; and

4. reported and made recommendations to the Audit
Committee and the Board on the internal control weaknesses
identified in order to enhance the internal control system.

The internal auditor submitted the internal audit review reports to
the Audit Committee for review and based on which, the Board
and the Audit Committee were of the view that the key areas of
the Company'’s internal control and risk management systems had
been reasonably maintained and considered sound and effective
for the Year.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
The Board acknowledges its overall responsibility for evaluating
and determining the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to
take in achieving the Group's strategic objectives and ensuring
the risk management and internal control systems of the Group
remain sound and effective. The Audit Committee assists the
Board in fulfilling its responsibility. The tasks of risk management
and internal control of the Company during the Year had
been performed by management. Management provided a
confirmation to the Board that the risk management and internal
control systems of the Company remained sound and effective
throughout the Year.

Risk Management Philosophy

The Board recognises that risk taking is unavoidable as it is part of
the Company’s business. With appropriate risk management and
continuous risk monitoring policies in place, risk taking may bring
value to the Company. The Board believes that an appropriate
level of risks are acceptable after prudent assessment of their
impact and likelihood. Certain risks can neither be absolutely
eliminated nor controlled by the Company. The Company can
protect its assets and shareholders’ interests and create value
simultaneously through appropriate risks management and control
measures. The Board also acknowledges that risk management
and internal control systems are designed to manage rather than
eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and
can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss.

Main Features of the Risk Management and Internal
Control Systems

The Board has the responsibility to oversee, evaluate and
determine the nature and extent of the risks faced by the Group
and to review and monitor the Group's approach in addressing
these risks at least annually. In addition, the Board oversees
management in the design, implementation and monitoring of the
risk management and internal control systems.

The Audit Committee assists the Board in fulfilling its role in
reviewing the Group’s financial, operational and compliance
controls and reviewing the adequacy of resources, staff
qualifications and experience, training programmes and budget
of the Group's accounting, internal audit and financial reporting
functions.
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Management assists the Board in the implementation of the
Group’s policies, procedures and limits within the Board's
approved risk appetite by identifying and assessing the risks faced
and monitoring the design and operation of the relevant internal
control measures to mitigate and control these risks.

Risk Assessment Process

Risk Assessment Approach

A risk management program was carried out during the Year to
ensure all material risks to which the Group exposed are properly
identified, assessed, managed, monitored and reported to the
Audit Committee and the Board.

Risk Identification

Risk identification is based on questionnaires completed by senior
management from different departments. Risks are preliminary
identified by senior management from the risk universe which is
a collection of risks built on environmental analysis and external
benchmarking that can impact the Group at the entity or specific
business process level. The risk universe covers both internal and
external risks in six major areas, namely external risks, strategic
risks, operational risks, financial risks, legal and compliance risks
and people risks. Key risk factors are then identified by integrating
the results of the questionnaire.

Risk Evaluation and Risk Prioritization

Risk evaluation is the second step to assess the relative impact and
the likelihood of the identified key risk factors to the Group. These
identified key risk factors are further assessed by a scale rating
process assessed by senior management.

Risk prioritisation is a mapping exercise. A risk map is used to
prioritise the identified key risk factors according to their assessed
impact and likelihood.

Risk Reporting, Managing and Monitoring

Risk reporting and risk monitoring are essential and integral parts
of risk management. A risk assessment report was submitted
to the Audit Committee and to the Board. Senior management
reviewed and assessed the adequacy of existing controls in
accordance with the Board’s advice and suggestions; determined
and implemented treatment plans where risks mitigants are
actionable and continuously monitored the development of
current risks and the emergence of new risks throughout the Year.
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Management conducted an annual review of the effectiveness
of the risk management and internal control systems for the
Year. Management has reported major findings and areas for
improvement to the Audit Committee. All recommendations from
management were adopted by the Group and were implemented
within a reasonable period of time. The Board therefore
considered that the risk management and internal control systems
were effective throughout the Year.

Handling and Dissemination of Inside Information

The handling and dissemination of inside information of the
Group is strictly controlled and measures adopted by the Group
including but not limited by the following ways:

1. restrict access to inside information to employees on a need-
to-know basis;

2. send reminder to employees who are in possession of inside
information to ensure that they are fully conversant with their
obligations to preserve confidentiality;

3. ensure appropriate confidentiality agreements are in place
when the Group enters into significant negotiations or
dealings with third party; and

4. inside information is handled and communicated by
designated persons to outside third party.

The Board and senior management review the safety measures
regularly to ensure inside information is properly handled and
disseminated.

Internal Control

The Group has formulated certain appropriate policies and
procedures to the staff and executed to take all measures that
can (i) safeguard assets against unauthorised use or disposition;
(i) keep proper and accurate accounting records and enhance
the reliability of financial reporting; and (iii) ensure efficiency
and effectiveness of operations and compliance with applicable
laws and regulations. The design of internal control system is to
provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material
misstatement or loss, and to manage and minimise, and if
circumstances permit, eliminate the risk of failure in the Group's
operational systems.
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The Group's internal control framework includes the following
major components:

1. an organisation structure with defined responsibility, proper
segregation of duties and appropriately delegated authority;

2. policies and procedures relating to financial control, internal
control and risk management respectively that can identify,
assess, measure and control risks effectively and efficiently;

3. operational and financial budgeting and forecasting systems
which facilitate performance measurement, including regular
budgeting analysis;

4. clear rules and guidelines that work to empower the review
and approval of major capital and current expenditures;

5. strict internal procedures and controls enabling the handling;
and

6. dissemination of price sensitive information; and developing
a whistleblowing policy that encourages employees to report
any incidents of fraud, corruption, theft or misconduct in
secure and a fearless working environment.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES FACING
THE COMPANY

Foreign Exchange Risk

The Group's reporting currency is Hong Kong dollar and most
of the business transactions are denominated in other currencies
including United States dollar, Renminbi and Japanese Yen. Hence,
exchange rate movements can affect the profit margin of the
Group. The Group does not speculate on foreign currencies.

Credit Risk

Credit risk arises from long credit period for customers and short
credit period provided by suppliers. Customers are unwilling or
unable to fulfill their payment obligations that leads the Group to
incur financial losses. The Group's credit control function manages
the credit risks by assessing the credit limits and credit terms to be
granted to customers and setting up the internal control system
of credit approvals and other monitoring procedures to recover
overdue debts, if any. The Group also enters into credit insurance
contracts to mitigate the credit risks arising from the collection of
accounts receivables balances.
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Competition Risk

Competition risk arises from the emergence of a number of
competitors in the electronic components manufacturing industry.
Price cut from competitors intensifies the risk. The Group believes
that the provision of quality products and after sales service
to customers are the only way to gain and maintain customer
confidence and loyalty.

Customers’ Financial Health Risk

The majority of the Group’s customers are electronic products
manufacturers in China. Delay in payments for trade receivables
settlement is common, thus resulting in bad debts. Slow recovery
of trade receivables indicates higher likelihood of customers’
financial health risk. Senior management works with the finance
department closely to monitor customers’ financial health. In
addition, it is hedged by the implementation of credit insurance
policies.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company adopted the Dividend Policy on 28 December 2018.
It aims to manage its capital efficiently and generate long-term
sustainable value for shareholders, while balancing operational,
regulatory, rating agency and policyholder requirements. It also
aims to grow its dividend in line with business growth and to share
the benefits of its success with its shareholders.

The Company may declare and distribute no more than 30% of
the consolidated net profit after tax of the Group as dividends,
either in cash or scrip dividend in lieu of cash, to its shareholders.

The declaration and payment of dividends shall remain to be
determined at the sole discretion of the Board and subject to
any restrictions under the Laws of Bermuda, the Bye-Laws of the
Company and any other applicable laws, rules and regulations.
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In proposing any dividend payout, the Board shall take into
account of the following factors, inter alia:

e the actual and expected financial performance of the Group;
e the general financial position of the Group;

e the working capital requirements, capital expenditure
requirements and future development needs of the Group;

e restrictions imposed by debt covenants;

e the general market conditions;

e the business cycle of the Company’s business; and
e any other factors that the Board deems appropriate.

Any final dividends declared by the Company must be approved
by an ordinary resolution of the shareholders at an annual general
meeting and must not exceed the amount recommended by the
Board. No assurance that a dividend will be proposed or declared
in any given period.

INVESTOR RELATIONS AND COMMUNICATIONS

Recognising the importance of maintaining on-going
communication with shareholders, the Board established a
shareholders’ communication policy and reviews it regularly to
ensure its effectiveness. To facilitate the timely, transparent and
effective communication with shareholders, the Board provides
different communication channels for shareholders and investors
including annual general meetings and other general meetings.

The annual general meeting provides a forum for the Company’s
shareholders to raise comments, offer suggestions, and exchange
views with the Board. The notice of annual general meeting is
distributed to all shareholders at least 20 clear business days
before the meeting. The Chairman of the Board, the chairmen
of all Board Committees and external auditor shall attend each
annual general meeting or any general meeting to answer
questions from the shareholders on the performance of the
Company so as to allow them to fully understand the Company’s
operations, management and development.
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During the Year, the Board held an annual general meeting on
21 May 2020. The voting results of annual general meeting were
published on the websites of HKEXnews and the Company and
the results are available for inspection by the shareholders of the
Company upon request made to the Company Secretary. The
attendance records of Directors at the meeting are set out on page
33 of this Annual Report.

Furthermore, the website of the Company contains timely updated
company news, corporate information, announcements, interim
and annual reports of the Group, all of which are available
for download with a view of making easy access to corporate
information for shareholders and potential investors. Circulars,
interim and annual reports are sent to shareholders in a timely
manner and they are also available on the websites of HKEXnews
and the Company.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHT

Convening Special General Meeting and Putting
Forward Proposals at Shareholders’ Meeting
Shareholders holding, at the date of deposit of the requisition, not
less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying
the right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at
all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the
Company Secretary, to require a special general meeting to be
called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified
under such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within 2
months. If the Directors do not within 21 days from the date of
the deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene a meeting,
the requisitionists, or any of them representing more than one half
of the total voting rights of all of them, may themselves convene a
meeting, but any meeting so convened shall not be held after the
expiration of 3 months from the said date.

The requisition must state the purposes of the meeting, and must
be signed by the requisitionists and deposited at the registered
office of the Company, and may consist of several documents in
like form each signed by one or more requisitionists.

Any reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionists by reason
of the failure of the Directors to duly convene a meeting shall
be repaid to the requisitionists by the Company, and any sum so
repaid shall be retained by the Company out of any sums due
or to become due from the Company by way of fees or other
remuneration in respect of their services to such Directors as were
in default.
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During the Year, no special general meeting was convened, and no
relevant proposal was received by the Company.

Enquiries to the Board
Enquiries can be put to the Board through the investor relations
department of the Company at Unit 03, 6/F, Harbour Centre
Tower 2, 8 Hok Cheung Street, Hung Hom, Kowloon, Hong Kong
or email to ir@manyue.com.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary is a full time employee of the Company
and has day-to-day knowledge of the Group’'s affairs. The
Company Secretary reports to the Chairman and the Managing
Director. From time to time, the Company Secretary advises the
Board on governance matters and ensures the board procedures,
applicable laws, rules and regulations are followed. The Company
Secretary has undertaken at least 15 hours of relevant professional
training during the Year.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS
During the Year, there was no significant change in the Company's
constitutional documents.

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

The Group is committed to protect the environment. The Group
has established an environmental management system that
conforms to global standards and was granted with ISO14001
accreditation in 2004. The quality control department monitors
product quality and the use of certain chemical substances.

Besides, the implementation of RoHS directives in August 2005
in European Union members’ states has impacted the electronic
industry. The Group installed new equipment and established a
comprehensive set of policies and procedures to ensure that the
Group's products are fully compliant with the RoHS requirements
for the European Union and any equivalent or relevant
requirement for the rest of the world. The Group had also made
it mandatory for all vendors and business partners to comply with
the RoHS requirements.
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The Directors are pleased to present this Directors’ Report
together with the audited consolidated financial statements of the
Company and its subsidiaries for the Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding
and the activities of its subsidiaries are set out in Note 23 to
the consolidated financial statements. There were no significant
changes in the nature of the Group's principal activities during the
Year.

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the Year by operating
segment is set out in Note 6 to the consolidated financial
statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business of the Group as required pursuant
to Schedule 5 to the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of
the Laws of Hong Kong), together with a description of the
principal risks and uncertainties facing the Company, particulars
of important events affecting the Group that have occurred since
the end of the financial year 2020 as well as indication of likely
future development in the business of the Group are set out in
the sections “Chairman’s Statement” on pages 5 to 6, “Operation
Review” on page 9, “Principal Risks and Uncertainties Facing the
Company” on pages 39 to 40 of this Annual Report respectively.
An analysis using financial key performance indicators, a
discussion of the Group's environmental policies and performance,
and its compliance with the relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the Group as well as an account
of the key relationships with its stakeholders are set out in the
sections “Five-Year Financial Summary” on page 217, “Segment
Information” on pages 126 to 128, “Environmental, Social
and Governance Report” on pages 52 to 57, “Environmental
Protection” on page 43 and “Major Customers and Suppliers”
of this Directors’ Report on page 50 respectively. The above
discussions form part of this Directors’ Report.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss on page 68 of this Annual
Report.

DIVIDEND
The Board does not recommend final dividend for the Year (2019:
Nil).
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SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group for the
past five financial years is set out in the section "Five-Year Financial
Summary” on page 217 of this Annual Report. This summary does
not form part of the consolidated financial statements.

FIXED ASSETS

Details of the movements in the fixed assets of the Group during
the Year are set out in Note 18 to the consolidated financial
statements.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

Details of the movements in the Company’s share capital and
share options during the Year are set out in Notes 34 and 35 to
the consolidated financial statements respectively.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-
laws of the Company or the laws of Bermuda which would oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
shareholders.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group and that of
the Company during the Year are set out in Notes 40 and 41 to
the consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2020, the Company’s reserves available
for distribution, calculated in accordance with the provisions of
the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended), amounted
to HK$63,768,000 (2019: HK$67,419,000). In addition,
the Company’s share premium account, in the amount of
HK$165,458,000 (2019: HK$165,458,000), may be distributed in
the form of fully paid bonus shares.

DIRECTORS

The Board of the Company during the Year and up to the date
of this Directors’ Report (unless otherwise stated) comprises Ms
Kee Chor Lin, Mr Chan Yu Ching, Eugene, Mr Chan Tat Cheong,
Alan, Dr Li Sau Hung, Eddy, Mr Lo Kwok Kwei, David and Mr Mar,

Selwyn.
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Under the existing Bye-laws of the Company, one third of
the Directors shall retire from office by rotation provided that
every Director shall be subject to retirement at least once every
three years and re-election at each annual general meeting. In
accordance with Bye-law 87 of the Bye-laws of the Company, Ms
Kee Chor Lin and Dr Li Sau Hung, Eddy will retire from office by
rotation and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at
the 2021 annual general meeting of the Company. None of the
Directors offering themselves for re-election has a service contract
with the Company which is not determinable by the Company
within one year without payment of compensation, other than
statutory compensation.

The Company received annual confirmation from all Independent
Non-executive Directors of their independence pursuant to Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules and the Company considered all the
Independent Non-executive Directors as independent.

The biographical details of Directors are set out in the section
“Board of Directors and Senior Management” on pages 13 to 17
of this Annual Report.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts, other than employment contracts, concerning the
management and administration of the whole of any substantial
part of the Company’s businesses were entered into or existed
during the Year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

No contracts of significance in relation to the Group's business to
which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in
which a director of the Company had material interests, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted during or at the end of the Year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS
None of the Directors is or was interested in any business apart
from the Group’s business, that competes or competed or is or
was likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the Group’s
business at any time during the Year and up to the date of this
Directors’ Report.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

The Directors and other officers of the Company shall be
indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets and profits of
the Company from and against all losses or liabilities which may
sustain or incur in or about the execution of the duties of office
or otherwise in relation thereto pursuant to the Bye-laws of the
Company. The Group has arranged appropriate directors’ and
officers’ liability insurance coverage for the Directors and officers
throughout the Year.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2020, the interests and short positions of the
Directors or chief executive in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section
352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code, were as follows:

Long positions in ordinary shares and underlying shares of the
Company:

EERERX

REARRZDTMA AAREEERAMITHA
BRHNTRI LR FERZLBRZ 1)
BARREAE A HAR T AR RN SR
REE - AR TRBEFEIIEREFRTHABLH
EEZEFRTHAREERE -

EERRETHRAEBRRS - MERHD R
B2 EERAR

202012 A31H  EEXESTHRABRARARHK
HAEMMERZE (TR REHRBAEEAIEXVE)Z
[ - B D REHF A R ARAR BIRIEES
NEREEDIE3521EBFE 2 B MRS RIRIZ2EST
MBS ITAEARAR KRBz R AR IT

RARBEBEMAABBRN 252

Capacity, nature of interest and number of shares and underlying shares held

At ERUEARFFROREBRAEE

Directors Capacity

Bz &t

Nature of interest

Bt

Approximate percentage

of the Company's
issued share capital
ERARERT
REAZBHAED L

Interest
in shares

gy i

Kee Chor Lin'! Interest of controlled corporation Corporate 209,689,667 44.09%
aRE SR UNCIE 323 NG
Kee Chor Lin Beneficial owner Personal 51,302,334 10.79%
RE ExBEBA AA

260,992,001 54.88%
Chan Yu Ching, Eugene Beneficial owner Personal 4,716,666 0.99%
BFE EREEA A

Note: P 5

1. These shares are held by Man Yue Holdings Inc., a company wholly
and beneficially owned by Ms Kee Chor Lin, the Chairman of the

Company.

1. #ZZBMHEMan Yue Holdings Inc#54 ek A RIAAR
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Annual Report 2020 3 47

>

S’



’ﬂ

Directors’ Report
ExEWRE

Save as disclosed above and as disclosed under the section
“Directors’ Rights to Acquire Shares or Debentures”, as at 31
December 2020, none of the Directors or chief executive had
registered an interest or short position in the shares, underlying
shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations that was required to be recorded pursuant to Section
352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2020, the interests and short positions of
persons, other than Directors or chief executive of the Company,
being 5% or more in the interest in the issued share capital of
the Company as recorded in the register of interests required to
be kept under Section 336 of Part XV of the SFO, are set out as
below:

Long positions:

Capacity and nature of interest

B RkESRMEE

Personal/Beneficial owner

BN/ E=mERA

Man Yue Holdings Inc.

ordinary shares held

BREXFEBRERGEEEERDKES ZEF
— IR EEE SN 7202012 A31H  MBEE S S &
BITBA BRARQ B sk AR MEHEE 2 kG5 - AEE
f& 15 (B B BB IEE S kBB GFIE3525%
SRARIEIRESFRIE ST AR A MR T2 e
KB

FERRREMALTHRRG REERSD 2
BENKA

MR2020F12A31H B AR EETAZETHAR
N BIRIEE S KA EIEAEXVEE3B6ERETE
RSB ME s MEARAR BB TIRANS %A
ERERKAZANTIAT:

Approximate percentage
of the Company’s

issued share capital
EARDREBRITRAE
ZHMABEDL

44.09%

Number of

FsgEREE

209,689,667

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2020, no person,
other than the Directors or chief executive of the Company,
whose interests are set out in the section “Directors’ and Chief
Executive’s Interests and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying
Shares and Debentures” above, had registered an interest or short
position in the shares or underlying shares of the Company that
was required to be recorded pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme (“Share Option
Scheme”) on 26 May 2006 for the purpose of providing incentives
and rewards to eligible participants who contribute to the success
of the Group’s operations and the same was revised on 27 May
2010. The Share Option Scheme expired on 25 May 2016. Subject
to the exercise period, all the options (to the extent not already
exercised) granted prior to the expiry of the Share Option Scheme
were lapsed on 15 September 2020 in accordance with the terms
of the Share Option Scheme. Further details of the Share Option
Scheme before expiry are disclosed in Note 35 to the consolidated
financial statements.

As at 31 December 2020, there was no share options (2019:
1,710,000) due to the expiry of the terms of the Share Option
Scheme. The details of the movements of the share options before
the expiry of the Share Option Scheme were as follows:

BRETE

A BEH200655 A26 A R4 —IEIE AR AT 2] ([FEAR
TR  BEEREAEERINEEELERMZEE
B2 EERMEEME R 5 8IM2010F5 82784
15T - ILBERR AT EIE M 2016F5 A 258 [@im ° B IRIE
TES RERETSERIERE 22 BBRED
IR T8I 2 (5700202049 B 15 B 548 - BRI
RRIERT BI A — B RHIB R A I IS IR I 51359 5% ©

20209124318 - AR BT SHEFRE i - 88
S BERRAE (20194F 1 1,710,00017 ) » REERRAE:TEIfE
AT BB EE B EIEI T

Lapsed Exercise
before Date of price of
As at 14 September As at As at As at grant share options 2
1 January 2020 14 September 15 September 31 December of share HKS$ per share
Name and category of 2020 20205 2020 2020 2020 options
participants R20205  9R14R A R2020% R2020% 20205 Exercise period of share options '
SREMERER 1818 XA 98148 9A15H 128318 BRETES"
Other employees
&8
In aggregate 860,000 (126,000 734,000 N/A N/A 15.9.2010  15.9.2011 to 14.9.2020 2.262
A% TEA TEA B2011469A 150 2202069A 14R
In aggregate 850,000 (124,000) 726,000 N/A N/A 15.9.2010  15.9.2012 to 14.9.2020 2262
At TER @R B201249A 158 2202099 414A
1,710,000 (250,000 1,460,000 N/A N/A
TEA TEA
Notes: B 3 -

1. The vesting period of the share options is from the date of grant until
the commencement of the exercise period.

2. The exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment in
the case of rights or bonus issues, or other similar changes in the
Company's share capital.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the sections “Directors’ and Chief
Executive’s Interests and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying
Shares and Debentures” and “Share Option Scheme” above, at no
time during the Year were rights to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company granted
to any Directors or their respective spouses or minor children, or
were any such rights exercised by them; or was the Company or
any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the
Directors to acquire such rights in any other body corporate.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF SHARES OF
THE COMPANY

During the Year and up to the date of this Directors’ Report,
neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company's shares.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
Sales to the Group’s five largest customers accounted for
approximately 30.4% (2019: less than 30.0%) of the total sales
during the Year and sales to the largest customers included therein
amounted to approximately 9.1% (2019: 8.3%,).

Purchases from the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for
approximately 33.4% (2019: 33.3%) of the total purchases during
the Year and purchases from the largest supplier included therein
amounted to approximately 11.6% (2019: 9.7%).

None of the Directors or any of their associates or any
shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the Directors, own
more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any
beneficial interest in the share capital of any of the first five largest
customers and suppliers of the Group.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this
Directors’ Report, the Company has maintained the prescribed
public float under the Listing Rules.
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AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2020 have been audited by KPMG who will retire and,
being eligible, offer itself for re-appointment at the 2021 annual
general meeting. A resolution to re-appoint KPMG as auditor of
the Company will be proposed at that meeting.

On behalf of the Board

Kee Chor Lin
Chairman

Hong Kong, 22 March 2021
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The Board of Directors is pleased to present this Environmental,
Social and Governance Report for the Year. Unless otherwise
specified, the environmental data covers the Group’s production
facilities in Dongguan only, excluding its offices or production
facilities in other locations due to their relatively small
environmental footprint.

CORPORATE VISIONS ON ESG

The Group has obtained both the ISO14001, an environmental
management system, and ISO9001, a quality management system,
certifications. It also implements the RBA Code of Conduct
(formerly known as “EICC Code of Conduct”) which focuses
on the management system related to labour, ethics, health and
safety and the environment. Products of the Group comply with
RoHS requirements. On the other hand, the Group is not only
committed to satisfying RoHS requirements for the European
Union and equivalent requirements worldwide, compliance with
RoHS requirements is also a requirement for all business partners
which work with the Group.

Development on using new energy as well as energy saving
continues to be an important agenda and concerns for the
international climate summits as well as the Central People’s
Government. The Group will continue to provide a complete
solution for energy saving and storage application.

ENGAGEMENT WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Group values its relationships with its stakeholders.
Shareholders, customers, suppliers, regulators and employers are
its main stakeholders. The Group has on-going dialogues with
shareholders, analysts and investors. Annual general meeting
is held every year and the Group encourages shareholders to
attend shareholders’ meetings and vote at the meetings. Product
brochures are prepared to introduce new products to customers.
Business visits and supplier evaluation are conducted to ensure
suppliers comply with all applicable laws and regulations. The
Group collects employees’ opinion regularly and it is committed to
ensure compliance with all applicable laws, rules and regulations
of Hong Kong and the jurisdictions where the Group conducts
business in.

FIGHT AGAINST COVID-19

The outbreak of COVID-19 in the early 2020 changed the world.
The Group reacted promptly and procured protective equipment
through different procurement channels worldwide. Apart from
allotting surgical masks to each of our staff, the Group shared
its resources with its stakeholders to fight against the virus. The
Group donated over 100,000 surgical masks, 600 N95 respirators
and 200 isolation gowns to government authorities in Dongguan,
Wuxi, Qingyuan, Yaan, Jiangxi and Baotou and its clients. The
Group undertakes its corporate responsibility and will continue to
contribute to the community.
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ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

Protecting the environment and conserving the resources are
important responsibilities for large-scale companies. The Group
strives to achieve environmental sustainability in every production
step. The Group aims to not only comply with environmental

RIRRE

laws and regulations but endeavours to prevent pollution, save
resources and reduce waste, as well as to enhance environmental

awareness.

The following table presents the ESG performance summary of the

Group in 2020:

Indicators (unit)

Emissions

Nitrogen oxides (kilograms)
Sulphur oxides (kilograms)
Particulates (kilograms)

GHG emissions

Total GHG emissions (Scope 1) (tCOze)
Total GHG emissions (Scope 2) (tCOze)
Total GHG emissions (Scope 3) (tCOze)
Total GHG emissions (tCO2e)

Waste
Hazardous waste (tonnes)
Non-hazardous waste (tonnes)

Energy consumption

Energy consumption (kilo-Watt-hour)

Energy consumption intensity per floor area
(kilo-Watt-hour/m?)

Diesel consumption (litres)

LPG consumption (kilograms)

Water consumption

Water consumption (tonnes)

Water consumption intensity per floor area
(tonnes/m?)

Packing material consumption
Paper (tonnes)
Plastic (tonnes)
Wood (tonnes)
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BERH #E

BEIROB#E (T RLBF)

BYTABEEERRERAE
(TREFI3XK)

semEREE (RF)

BICABREREE (2T)

KAE

KAE (W)

BEHFAEEEERKES
(Mg, F75K)

BEMBAE
AR (mg)
ZBR2 (mg)
ARHF (WE)

591
162
57

1,005
39,459
25
40,489

18

329

47,160,338

472

15,000

1,120

383,135

3.8
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19
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CONTROL OF HAZARDOUS SUBSTANCES IN
PRODUCTS

Manufacturing of high technology electronic components is
one of the Group's key businesses, the use of heavy metals or
chemical substances is unavoidable. Hence, control of hazardous
substances in products is a major concern of the Group. RoHS
compliance is a requirement for all suppliers and business partners
of the Group. Suppliers must submit national or internationally
recognised testing reports and materials safety data sheet to
the Group for review or verification to ensure that the materials
they supplied comply with the relevant environmental rules or
regulations which are free from prohibited substances or the use
of chemical substances at a safety level. All hazardous and non-
hazardous waste produced during production process is handled
by government-recognised companies.

ENERGY SAVING

Maximisation of energy efficiency is one of the ways to protect our
planet. The Group has adopted green office practices to reduce
natural resource consumption and the impact on the environment.
Teleconference and video conference are widely used to avoid
unnecessary travel and hence reduce carbon footprints, whilst
maintaining the benefits of “face-to-face” meetings. Rectoverso
printing is encouraged with an aim to attain a paperless office.
In addition, the Group reviews eco-friendly measures to enhance
operational efficiency regularly.

ENERGY RECYCLING

Water is essential in daily operations. Throughout the production
process, the Group minimises water usage and arranges for a
qualified company to recycle effluent. Besides, the Group has
installed two water circulating vacuum pumps to recycle effluent
in the production plant. The water circulating vacuum pumps
operate 24 hours a day to continuously recycle effluent. The
Group has no issue in sourcing water that is fit for purpose.

STRENGTHENING ENVIRONMENTAL AWARENESS
The Group has been certified with 1SO14001, the Environmental
Management System. The management system encourages
the Group to continually improve environmental performance,
identifies the significant environmental aspects in the operations
and establishes relevant measurements to eliminate or reduce
it. The Group has invested lots of resources to implement the
management system. Training programmes are conducted
regularly for the departmental representatives to ensure effective
running of the management system in the Group and therefore
enhance the environmental awareness of the employees.
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EMPLOYMENT AND LABOUR STANDARDS

Retention of employees is crucial for operating a prosperous entity.
The Group has established a “RBA human resources procedure”
(formerly known as “EICC human resources procedure”). The
Group has stringent and transparent procedures for recruiting
talents and has developed competitive remuneration packages.
The remuneration policy is based on the principles of equitability
and fairness. Remuneration packages are reviewed on a regular
basis by the Group. And the Group also provides provident fund
contribution and medical insurance coverage to the employees.

Child labour and forced labour are two of the main labour
issues in the world. They are closely linked together. The
Group has established the “RBA forced labour management
procedure” (formerly known as “EICC forced labour management
procedure”). The Group does not employ child or forced labour
and ensures all applicants for employment are over the age
for completing compulsory education or the minimum age for
employment and complies with the requirements of any applicable
local laws. Enslavement and labour trafficking are also prohibited.
Employees’ identity or immigration documents are not held by the
Company unless it is required by law. The Group has established a
channel for employees to report any suspected cases by putting a
message in the Employees’ suggestion box and General Manager’s
mail box.

In addition to child labour and forced labour, the Group is
committed to providing a workplace free from harassment and
unlawful discrimination. The Company has established the “RBA
anti-discrimination procedure” (formerly known as “EICC anti-
discrimination procedure”) and employs talents regardless of color,
age, gender, sexual orientation, gender identity and expression,
race, pregnancy, political affiliation and religion. The Group
believes that everyone is unique and has his or her own strength
in different aspects and the Group endeavours to promote the
awareness of anti-discrimination at the workplace. Investigation
will be conducted and led by senior management of the Group if
suspected case is reported.
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DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING

The Group fully understands that career development for
employees is one of the critical elements for maintaining long-
term relationship between the employees and the Group.

The Group organises training for employees every year. Training
courses on topics including but not limited to management
systems such as 1SO9001, 1SO4001 and ISO/TS16949, job
requirements, customer requirements, product safety and
statistical process control are organised to enhance the knowledge
and skills of employees to meet the challenges in the workplace.
The Group also provides trainings for its directors and senior
management to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills in
order to discharge their duties more efficiently.

OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH AND SAFETY

The Group pays attention to occupational health and safety.
Safety in the workplace and supply of protective equipment are
the key issues. Compliance with the relevant local laws is the
first step for the Group. Protective equipment such as masks and
goggles are provided to employees who have physical contact
with chemical substances to protect themselves. The Group offers
physical examination to employees in three phases including pre-
employment, during employment period and also after resignation
in order to protect employees’ health.

Enhancing safety awareness of employees is also important. The
Group conducts health and safety trainings to new employees
based on their job duties. In addition, the Group provides ongoing
safety trainings which cover topics including but not limited to
job hazard, protective measures, job safety agenda, correct usage
of personal protective equipment and relevant health and safety
laws.

Apart from the workplace, the Group also cares about sanitation,
food and housing of employees. The Group provides clear and
safe dormitories to employees with adequate living area to enjoy
their own privacy. The Group provides square meals of nutritional
quality. All food is procured through a series of stringent
procedure to minimise the chance of food poisoning.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
R HERERRS

PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY AND SUPPLY CHAIN
MANAGEMENT

Product quality is a critical factor for the Group to staying
competitive in the market. The Group strives to provide
satisfactory products and services to customers and zero defect is
our long term goal. The Group values our customers. A product
briefing regarding product details, usage of products and relevant
safety issues will be given by technical professionals to new
customers. Moreover, the Group’s customer service team is fully
responsible for taking care of the customers including technical
support, complaints or any comments concerning the services and
products of the Company. To fully understand customers’ needs,
customer satisfaction survey will be conducted regularly. For the
non-conformed products, the Group has established a “Product
return procedure” to identify the cause of failure in order to
improve and meet customers’ standard and a specific timeframe
for response to questions and/or complaints was set to respond to
the customer.

With the aim of reducing greenhouse gas emissions, local
suppliers are given purchasing priority if they fulfil the Company’s
requirements.

ZERO TOLERANCE POLICY ON CORRUPTION

Raw material is one of the important elements that affects product
quality. All business dealings between the Group and suppliers are
transparently performed to uphold business integrity and honesty.
The Group has a zero tolerance policy to prohibit any and all forms
of bribery, corruption, extortion and embezzlement. Furthermore,
the Company conducts supplier evaluations regularly in three main
areas: quality, environment and production process to ensure the
supplier’s performance is satisfactory.

Integrity and honesty of employees is important to the Group.
The Group has adopted the whistle-blowing policy in 2010 and
has established a communication process for employees to report
any suspected non-compliance cases in confidence without fear
of retaliation. The Board also reviews the effectiveness of such
reporting system regularly.

COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT

The Group is committed to serving the community and recognises
that positive contribution to the community is the responsibility
of a good corporate citizen. The Group contributes a funding
to local tax authority every year in Dongguan to support career
opportunities of disabled people. The Group will continue to
contribute to the community in the future.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B BT S

KPMG

TO THE MEMBERS OF MAN YUE TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS
LIMITED
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Man
Yue Technology Holdings Limited (“the Company”) and its
subsidiaries (“the Group”) set out on pages 68 to 216, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2020, the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and
the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2020 and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs"”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (“the Code") together with any ethical
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated
financial statements in Bermuda, and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and
the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B 2B

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the

BEETEH
FRETFESREBRFANERHE  RAEHHRMR
AAMRAMBRRERERZEH -REFERE
ESAlE T Jr%‘%i‘f,?éﬁﬂ’{#&%&ﬂjﬂfﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ
MEMTEHELEREHERBCER

consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on

these matters.

Refer to Note 25 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in Note 4(m) on pages 105 and 106.

BRI A B TSR AN 25 R 105K 106H 2 €

The key audit matter
BREITSHE

At the reporting date the Group held significant quantities
of inventories, which principally comprised electronic
capacitors, with different products in different phases of
their manufacturing life cycles. The ability of the Group
to sell these inventories in the future may be adversely
affected by changes in competitors’ pricing strategies and
the introduction of new products and technology.

WRERN BRENEARFE XEAERH 4

EBMEETR ESHFR. BEEARLERS

T8 KB 1 S B L (SRR ST R SRR t
eEIENEZ X

Management performs regular reviews of the carrying
amounts of inventories with reference to the inventory
ageing report, projections of expected future sales and
utilisation of goods and management’s experience
and judgement. Based on this review, a write-down of
inventories will be made when the estimated net realisable
value of an item of inventory falls below its carrying
amount.

EREENFERESRE BHAKHEEEZTRE Bm
RENREEBZ &R A T HEZFE 2 RmE-
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How the matter was addressed in our audit

BANETNAEEZSE

Our audit procedures to assess the valuation of
inventories included the following:
BAFEFERELETIEFEEATRIE:

e assessing, on a sample basis, whether items in the
inventory ageing report were classified within the
appropriate ageing bracket by comparing individual
items in the report with underlying documentation,
including goods received notes and stock-in reports;

. BEAREEBLEFE
B (BHERENEEREFERE)
BERNERRTRAEEDRRAS:

SR # MR o TRE E
R

e assessing whether the inventory write-downs at the
reporting date were calculated on a basis consistent
with the Group’s inventory write-down policy by
recalculating the inventory write-downs based
on the percentages and other parameters in the
Group's inventory provision policy;

o Bk BEREFEREHRNENLEEMBH
EXNEFEME AR HRE RN FEMHE
BrE BEREFEME:

e comparing, on a sample basis, the carrying value of
inventories with sales prices subsequent to the end
of the reporting period;

o HMERLLEBENBREHRENTEREENREE:
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

FRETSEER (&)

Refer to Note 25 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in Note 4(m) on pages 105 and 106.
FREGE S EREN 25K E105R 106 H.2 & 5B & Hit4(m) -

The key audit matter
BRESER

The Group may sell aged inventories at a markdown
from the original price to avoid an accumulation of slow-
moving inventories. Accordingly, the actual future selling
prices of some items of slow-moving inventories may fall
below their cost.

BEEENMBEHEREFE NER2R2BHHEFE -H
It BETHEFEZERRREE A RN ERA -

We identified the valuation of inventories as a key audit
matter because of the significant judgement exercised by
management in determining appropriate inventory write-
downs, which involves estimating the duration of product
life cycles, predicting the amounts of inventories which
will be sold and utilised in the future and the markdowns
necessary to sell such inventories on a discounted basis in
future years all of which are inherently uncertain.

BAPEFEGHENSARBT TR AAEEEEET
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How the matter was addressed in our audit

B ET NI BRI % EH

e assessing the historical accuracy of management’s
assessment of inventory write-downs and whether
there is any indication of management bias by
examining the sales and utilisation or release of the
inventory write-downs recorded at the end of the
previous financial year during the current year;

o BBRAFEBRN L —MBFERARNHEE
NERFEHERFEMOR U EEREBET
BEEMRMNEEEE RIS FEEEER
R EMBR:

e  enquiring of management at the operations level
about any expected changes in plans for sales and
utilisation of inventories on hand;

. AEEERENMABEUEREATETENE
2 EAEHES:

e assessing the Group's inventory write-down policy
with reference to the requirements of the prevailing
accounting standards.

o Z2WRIBITEFERENE ERENTFEHREK
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

BRETSEER (&)

Refer to Notes 18 and 19 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in Note 4(d) on pages

84 to 86.

FREE S EREN T I18R 19K E84F86H 2 &5 K HTit4(d) -

The key audit matter
BRESER

The Group held significant amount of property, plant
and equipment and prepaid land premium amounting to
HK$690,973,000 and HK$61,305,000 respectively as at
31 December 2020.

EEEREASVE BRELKER - HBAEEN
20209128318 » BI{E {E690,973,000% T &
61,305,000/ 7T ©

Management assessed impairment indicators for the
Group’s property, plant and equipment and prepaid
land premium in certain cash-generating units (“CGU");
and performed impairment assessments by comparing
the aggregate carrying values of the property, plant and
equipment and prepaid land premium or the CGU to
which these assets were allocated with the value-in-use
based on net present values of the respective discounted
cash flow forecasts or fair value less costs of disposal,
whichever was higher, to determine the amount of
impairment which should be recognised for the year, if
any.
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How the matter was addressed in our audit

BFIMER AR EZ ER

Our audit procedures to assess potential impairment of
property, plant and equipment and prepaid land premium
included the following:

HAPIRF Y - B KAk M LB BTN S B FER
BB REFEBRATSE:

e evaluating management’s identification of CGUs
and the amounts of property, plant and equipment
and prepaid land premium allocated to each CGU,

e HAEEREEURSCELABUIHBARIEERSR
TEEFEMZME BEMEEL DR ERN K
Z B

e evaluating the methodology adopted by
management in its impairment assessments with
reference to the requirements of the prevailing
accounting standards;

s Z2ERTEHEBEEZRFEEEBNEETRE
AHARS TR AR 0%

e involving our internal valuation specialists to assist us
in assessing and challenging the Group’s impairment
assessment models, which included assessing
the impairment indicators defined by the Group,
evaluating the discounted cash flow forecasts for
each CGU and considering whether these supported
the carrying value of the relevant assets;

o ERAMEESHBBEMANME BEEEZEER
EREARELER  2FHE ERERTIRE
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

FRETSEER (&)

Refer to Notes 18 and 19 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in Note 4(d) on pages

84 to 86.

FREE S ERAN L 18R 19K E84F86H 2 &5 K HTit4(d) -

The key audit matter
BRESER

We identified the assessment of potential impairment of
property, plant and equipment and prepaid land premium
as a key audit matter because significant management
judgement is involved in determining whether there are
indicators of impairment and because estimating the
recoverable amounts, forecasting the future cash flows
and determining adjustment to market price of these
assets involve inherent uncertainty and could be subject to
management bias.

HPEYE BB LRE R EEEN R ZEERE
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How the matter was addressed in our audit

BFIER AR Z F IR

critically examining the key assumptions, including
forecast revenue, future growth rates, future
margins, future cost growth rates and the discount
rates, adopted by management in its preparation of
the discounted cash flow forecasts by referring to
industry and other available third party information,
the recent financial performance of the Group's
trading and manufacturing operations and
management’s budgets and plans for the operations
in 2021 and beyond;

BEREEEEREURASRERAFRAZ
TERR BRVRATER  REERE REFNE
RRKKAABERRPERE WRHITEREM
AEGSZE=ZTEN BEREBHZNEEXRBTZ
M HRIRAREEBH20211FR 2R EZL
2 TRE KatEl:

evaluating the discount rates applied by
management in the discounted cash flow forecasts
with reference to available financial information
of other companies in same relevant industry and
considering country and company specific risk
premiums;
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED) AREETEE (F&)

Assessing potential impairment of property, plant and equipment and prepaid land premium

RYX BERRER L HHERNRZEEREETIME
Refer to Notes 18 and 19 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in Note 4(d) on pages

84 to 86.
AREE R EIAN T 18R 19K F84F86 R .2 it RN it4(d) -

The key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit
BREESSE BMHENMAREEZEE

e performing a sensitivity analysis for the key variables
in the discounted cash flow forecasts, which
included assessing the effect of reasonably possible
changes in future revenue, future cost growth rates
and the discount rates, to evaluate the impact
on the conclusions reached by management and
to assess whether there were any indicators of
management bias.

o BARBRSREBRAZTBEEETHRMENNT
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MRS G

INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND AUDITOR'’S
REPORT THEREON

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information included in the annual
report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this
regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging

their responsibilities for overseeing the Group's financial reporting
process.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B 2B

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is made
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the
Bermuda Companies Act 1981, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

e Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations
or the override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

e  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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MRS G

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up
to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and communicate with them all relationships and
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence and, where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B 2B

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in
the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Sylvene Fong.

KPMG
Certified Public Accountants

8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road
Central, Hong Kong

22 March 2021
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
,%/T\ |/ E\ﬁ.%‘%

For the year ended 31 December 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BZ2020F128318 LFE (BUBRFIR)

Revenue WA 6, 7(a) 1,599,599 1,292,160
Cost of sales $HE AR (1,327,722) (1,046,867)
Gross profit EF 271,877 245,293
Other income HaA 7(b) 8,165 10,275
Other net (loss)/gain Hth (F18) MW= F5E 7(0) (19,801) 17,258
Selling and distribution costs HERDHE A (61,068) (66,316)
Administrative expenses THER (147,680) (154,249)
Net impairment loss on trade and other J& U 8% 7k K E fth FE UG FRIE 2

receivables B e E R 8 440 (3,900)
Operating profit ReEHRF 8 51,933 48,361
Changes in fair values of derivative MEERMIAAABEZEE

financial instruments 10 (11) (98)
Finance costs B 7% 2 i 11 (37,871) (41,244)
Finance income B #5 I 12 5,347 5,199
Share of results of joint ventures EBIEEEDEER 13,515 30,950
Profit before tax R A0 2 R 32,913 43,168
Income tax Frig i 15 (6,844) (16,692)
Profit for the year FERF 26,069 26,476
Profit/(loss) attributable to: FEAE% R, (E18)

Equity holders of the Company RATRRERE A 24,064 31,578

Non-controlling interests JEHE A A% B 2 2,005 (5,102)
Profit for the year FEEF 26,069 26,476

Earnings per share attributable to AT REFE AEMN

equity holders of the Company: BRER: 16
Basic HA 5.06 HK cents &1l 6.64 HK cents &L
Diluted e 5.06 HK cents &1l 6.64 HK cents /&1ll

The Notes on pages 76 to 216 form part of these consolidated BE(RFE76E2168 2 Mt AL EHRAMBRE 2 —5

FAN

financial statements. 77
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
GeBERkEMEEIAR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BZ2020F12831H LFE (MUERIIR)

Profit for the year FE=8 26,069 . 26,476
Other comprehensive income: Ht2EWA: 15(c)
ltem that will not be reclassified HEeTessmsops
subsequently to profit or loss Bm2IHE
Assets revaluation (deficit)/surplus, HMBRMIBRREE
net of tax B (BAL) B8 (898) 2,499
ltem that may be reclassified HeasEmokzs
subsequently to profit or loss Bz IHE
Currency translation differences &R =% 124,563 (55,190)
Other comprehensive income FEHRBEE
for the year, net of tax HiezmeeA 123,665 (52,691)
Total comprehensive income FELXHEBALEE
for the year 149,734 (26,215)
Total comprehensive income B2 ERASRE:
attributable to:
Equity holders of the Company RARIREREA 145,837 (21,066)
Non-controlling interests FEZE R AR PR R 2 3,897 (5,149)
149,734 (26,215)

The Notes on pages 76 to 216 form part of these consolidated E(RFE76E2168 2 Mt ALt EHRAMBRE 2 —5F
financial statements. e
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e BRI R

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment

Prepaid land premium

Investment properties

Intangible assets

Investments in joint ventures

Prepayments on purchases of property,
plant and equipment

Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss

Loans to a joint venture

Other prepayments

Deferred tax assets

Total non-current assets

Current assets

Inventories

Trade receivables

Prepayments, deposits and other
receivables

Due from joint ventures

Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss

Net defined benefit retirement assets

Tax recoverable

Cash and cash equivalents

Total current assets

Current liabilities

Trade and bills payables

Other payables and accrued liabilities
and contract liabilities

Due to joint ventures

Derivative financial instruments

Tax payable

Bank loans

Dividends payable

Lease liabilities

Total current liabilities
Net current assets

Total assets less current liabilities

As at 31 December 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
720206 12A318 (BTIIR)

FRBEE

MR- BERRE
T E RN
BEME

BIVEE
REZLEZRE
BEYE BEERE
Z TR 5RIA
BRRENREATI
ZEMEE

BT BagEbEZER

H b JEA 3R
BERIAE E

FRBEERE

RBEE

A

& Wi B R
BENFE e R EAM
J& W R IR

e & & (D22 3R
BRRENREATIR
ZEMEE

RERNEBHNTEEEFR

EEEEE
ReMEeEFED

MEEERE

RBAE

e AR R 9B
Hofth & A5 308 M FE AT
BEUARENERE
D R=R S /S
TESmMT A
e B IR

RITER

e A% B

HER®E

mEBAERE
RBEEFE
EERBRABRME

18
19
20
22
24

18(c)

21
24

32(c)

25
26

26
24

21
36(a)
32(a)

28

29

29
24
27
32(a)
30

31

2019
20194

HK$'000
TET

690,973 666,340
61,305 59,084
159,860 158,256
1,368 1,521
194,142 167,215
93,902 74,521
33,081 24,433
152,358 133,908
5,718 5,430
15,283 10,299
1,407,990 1,301,007
677,260 595,600
761,567 657,884
118,524 106,303
20,580 29,884
14 17
746 701
2,440 1,701
263,486 225,715
1,844,617 1,617,805
346,126 254,770
129,412 105,404
56,619 36,822
- 245
13,738 11,989
1,024,517 975,677
43 43
20,320 17,091
1,590,775 1,402,041
.233842 215764
1,661,832 1,516,771
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

mEPBIRRE

Non-current liabilities FkRBEE
Provision for long service payments REIRG BB 77 77
Deferred tax liabilities RIETRIAE & 32(c) 49,478 43,817
Deferred income RAE WA 33 10,018 9,706
Lease liabilities HE&E 31 56,212 66,858
Total non-current liabilities FnpEERE 00 115,785 120,458
Net assets EEFE 1,546,047 1,396,313
Capital and reserves EAXREE
Share capital [ 34 47,555 47,555
Reserves & 40 1,457,867 1,312,030
Equity attributable to equity AT REFEAELER

holders of the Company 1,505,422 1,359,585
Non-controlling interests R R R 40,625 36,728
Total equity ERBEE 1,546,047 1,396,313

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 22 4 & B & 202143822 B #b 4 K& %4 T3 -
March 2021.

Kee Chor Lin Chan Tat Cheong, Alan
LBpE BRiE S
Director Director
BZE FE

The Notes on pages 76 to 216 form part of these consolidated R E76%E216E « it At FiFa Bk« — &
financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
TEEREER

For the year ended 31 December 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BZ2020512A318LFE (UBRIIR)

Attributable to equity holders of the Company
AAAREREAES

Non-
controlling Total
Share capital Reserves Total IEESS equity
e 51 gt FERRRER 58T
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT T TR THL THT
Balance at 1 January 2019 201951818 2 &8 47,555 1,333,09% 1,380,651 41,877 1,422,528
Profit/(loss) for the year EEER/ (BR) - 31,578 31,578 (5,102) 26,476
Other comprehensive income: Hi2EMA
Item that will not be reclassified HeTgENsEZERER
subsequently to profit or loss
Assets revaluation surplus, netof tax ~ JIRFHAREEEERH 40 - 2,499 2,499 - 2,499
Item that may be reclassified HEUUEHHBREREVES
subsequently to profit or loss
Currency translation differences EREE 40 - (55,143) (55,143) (47) (55,190)
Total comprehensive income for HZ019F12A31ALERE
the year ended 31 December 2019 2AkEEE - (21,066) (21,066) (5,149) (26,215)
Balance at 31 December 2019 20195127310 2 &8 47,555 1,312,030 1,359,585 36,728 1,396,313

72 Man Yue Technology Holdings Limited ¥R EEER AT

.'gl



Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
FAREBBE

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

NG 2PN
Non-
controlling Total
Share capital Reserves Total interests equity
B ke Bt FERRRES ERAE
Note HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
iF3 TR TR TR TR TR
Balance at 1 January 2020 202051510 2 &8 47,555 1,312,030 1,359,585 36,728 1,396,313
Profit for the year RER RN - 24,064 24,064 2,005 26,069
Other comprehensive income: Ef2EYA:
Item that will not be reclassified BT eENpEEER L ER
subsequently to profit or loss
Assets revaluation deficit, net of tax MR HER EEE LS4 40 - (898) (898) = (898)
Item that may be reclassified L EEE L E Pl
subsequently to profit or loss
Currency translation differences EXESR 40 - 122,671 122,671 1,892 124,563
Total comprehensive income for HE05F12A31BLLFE
the year ended 31 December 2020 PENERE - 145,837 145,837 3,897 149,734
Balance at 31 December 2020 20205128310 2 &8 47,555 1,457,867 1,505,422 40,625 1,546,047

The Notes on pages 76 to 216 form part of these consolidated — E(RFE76E2168 2 it ALtk EHRAMBRE 2 —&
financial statements. e
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
GEHERER

For the year ended 31 December 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BZ2020F128318 LFE (BUBRFIR)

Cash flows from operating activities EZ %K v HERE
Profit before tax
Adjustments for:

Finance costs

Fair value loss/(gain) on investment
properties

Write-back of other payables

Share of results of joint ventures

Dividend income

Finance income

Losses on disposal of property,
plant and equipment

Depreciation of owned property,
plant and equipment

Depreciation of right-of-use assets

Amortisation of prepaid land premium

Amortisation of intangible assets

Deferred income recognised as income

Write-down of inventories

Reversal of write-down of inventories

Net impairment loss on trade and
other receivables

Fair value gains on financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss

Fair value losses on derivative financial
instruments

Foreign exchange differences

Operating profit before changes in

working capital

Increase in inventories

Increase in trade receivables

(Increase)/decrease in prepayments,
deposits and other receivables

B 35 A 7
B s
REMEZRE

R ()

Hofth &< FRIR  E
ElEAEMEZEE
B BUA
LURL T N

HEWE  WFE &&iE
B8

BAWE BB MEE
e

EREEENE

TR E AN

B EESH

WA TER BB

FERED

JRE M B R % L b B MR TR
ZREERFR

BAREREBERANIIERZ
TREE 2 A ERER

TEEMTAZ
NAEEBE

SNEEEER

17 548 10
B
RMHUE B8 RA
AR () D

Decrease/(increase) in amounts due from JEU & & 1b % F0IE

joint ventures

Increase/(decrease) in amounts due to
joint ventures

Increase in trade and bills payables

Increase/(decrease) in other payables
and accrued liabilities

A ()

FEf & B EFIA
i, CRd)

e BR AR R SRR A AN

Hi AR ERRE
g, CRd)

11

7(c)
7(c)

7(c)
12

0 00 00 00O 00 00 00

10

2019
20194

HK$'000

THETT

32,913 43,168
37,871 41,244
3,564 (12,245)
- (2,131)
(13,515) (30,950)
(1) (2)
(5,347) (5,199)
3,169 61
58,263 56,173
19,207 19,531
1,495 1,446
237 289
(313) (299)
14,145 8,843
(739) (169)
(440) 3,900
(7,642) (697)
11 98
8,947 (10,984)
151,825 112,077
(55,533) (9,084)
(67,351) (85,319)
(5.811) 592
9,549 (1,315)
21,092 (7,396)
71,551 57,383
14,685 (282)
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
REEERER

2020 2019

20205 2019%F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FHT

Cash generated from operations REMBRE 140,007 66,656
Hong Kong profits tax paid EREBNEH (87) -
Mainland China and overseas taxes paid B 1/ B & /& 5MNHIE (8,376) (5,588)

Net cash inflow from operating REEBEIRE

activities wAR®E 131,544 | 61,068
Cash flows from investing activities REZFBH2RERE
Prepayments on purchases of property, B E Y% BE K& &E

plant and equipment Z TR IR (21,970) (14,241)
Purchases of property, plant and BEME WELREE

equipment (54,822) (36,542)
Dividend received B s 7(c) 1 2
Interest received B Y F B 12 5,347 5,199
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant (£ & ¥1 % « B &= K & &

and equipment Fr 58 318 6,317 1,183
Increase in loans to joint ventures BTEEREZETEM (12,732) (17,971)

Net cash outflow from investing RETEHZ2RERHFHE
activities (77,859) (62,370)

Cash flows from financing activities BIEFZBH 2 RESRE

Proceeds from new bank loans IR ITE RSB 28(b) 2,090,574 889,090
Repayment of bank loans EERITER 28(b) (2,057,871) (800,672)
Payment for interest rate swaps A5 FI) & 42 BR 28(b) (256) (2,126)
Capital element of lease rentals paid ENEERS 2 ERBY 28(b) (17,955) (17,583)
Interest element of lease rentals paid ~ EANBEERE ZFEHH 28(b) (3,627) (4,391)
Interest paid 2 E 28(b) (36,113) (38,082)
Net cash (outflow)/inflow from BMEEFH RS

financing activities Opw) #®"AZ2®E (25.248) 26,236
Net increase in cash and cash RHeERBEESEEYZ

equivalents EmFEEE 28,437 24,934
Effect of foreign exchange rate INEERBE 2

changes 9,334 (1,557)
Cash and cash equivalents at FYIzRERBESEEY

beginning of year 28 225,715 202,338

Cash and cash equivalents atend of FRXZBEERBESEEY
year 28 263,486 225,715

The Notes on pages 76 to 216 form part of these consolidated E(RFE76E2168 2 Mt ALt EHRAMBRE 2 —5F
financial statements. e
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e R

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BREHEZTHM - HETIIR)

GENERAL INFORMATION

The principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries
are the manufacturing and the trading of electronic
components and raw materials.

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated in
Bermuda. The address of its registered office is Clarendon
House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda.

The Company has its primary listing on the Stock Exchange.

These consolidated financial statements are presented
in Hong Kong dollars, unless otherwise stated. These
consolidated financial statements have been approved for
issue by the Board on 22 March 2021.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

(a) Statement of Compliance

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), which
collective term includes all applicable individual Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA™), accounting principles
generally accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
These financial statements also comply with the
applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited.

(b) Basis of Preparation of the Financial
Statements
The consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2020 comprise the Company and
its subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group”)
and the Group's interest in joint ventures.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R IS ERRMEE

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED) 2 REEE(E)

(b) Basis of Preparation of the Financial

Statements (Continued)

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the
financial statements is the historical cost basis except
that the following assets and liabilities are stated at their
fair value as explained in the accounting policies set out
below:

—  investment properties (see Note 4(g));

—  ownership interests in buildings held for own use
(see Note 4(f));

— defined benefit retirement assets (see Note 4(v)

(iii));

—  financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
("FVTPL") (see Note 4(j)); and

derivative financial instruments (see Note 4()).

The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with HKFRSs requires management to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect
the application of policies and reported amounts of
assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates
and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and various other factors that are believed
to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results
of which form the basis of making the judgements
about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is
revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the
period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application
of HKFRSs that have significant effect on the financial
statements and major sources of estimation uncertainty
are discussed in Note 5.

(b) MBBHREREE (&)

MBERRIZELKALERE ETIE
ERBERRTIIHNEFBEZ ARE

oEE

- ®REDE(RKFA9)) :

— FEERBTzMARER (R
4f)

\
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R IE 18 MR ARG 8B E (R FE4Av)
)

—

i)

5

|
o

ZRRERBREAIER(RARE
REBEAFIE]D zeBEE (BRI
4G)) + R

Bt

- AR IA (RKEA0)) -
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RIRMEETBIER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AN
%/T\l:x

78

BA SRR BT RE

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The Group has applied the following amendments to HKFRSs
issued by the HKICPA to these financial statements for the
current accounting period:

e Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business

. Amendment to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions

Other than the amendment to HKFRS 16, the Group has not
applied any new standard or interpretation that is not yet
effective for the current accounting period. Impacts of the
adoption of the amended HKFRSs are discussed below:

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business

The amendments clarify the definition of a business and
provide further guidance on how to determine whether a
transaction represents a business combination. In addition,
the amendments introduce an optional “concentration test”
that permits a simplified assessment of whether an acquired
set of activities and assets is an asset rather than business
acquisition, when substantially all of the fair value of the
gross assets acquired is concentrated in a single identifiable
asset or group of similar identifiable assets.

The amendments to HKFRS 3 do not have any material
impact on the Group’s financial statements.

Amendment to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions

The amendment provides a practical expedient that
allows a lessee to by-pass the need to evaluate whether
certain qualifying rent concessions occurring as a direct
consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic (“COVID-19-related
rent concessions”) are lease modifications and, instead,
account for those rent concessions as if they were not lease
modifications.

The amendment to HKFRS 16 does not have any material
impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R IS ERRMEE

4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES

(a) Subsidiaries and Non-controlling Interests
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The
Group controls an entity when the Group is exposed to,
or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement
with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the entity. When assessing
whether the Group has power, only substantive rights
(held by the Group and other parties) are considered.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into
the consolidated financial statements from the date
that control commences until the date that control
ceases. Intra-group balances, transactions and cash
flows and any unrealised profits arising from intra-
group transactions are eliminated in full in preparing
the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised losses
resulting from intra-group transactions are eliminated in
the same way as unrealised gains but only to the extent

that there is no evidence of impairment.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a
subsidiary not attributable directly or indirectly to the
Company, and in respect of which the Group has not
agreed any additional terms with the holders of those
interests which would result in the Group as a whole
having a contractual obligation in respect of those
interests that meets the definition of a financial liability.
For each business combination, the Group can elect to
measure any non-controlling interests either at fair value
or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share

of the subsidiary’s net identifiable assets.

4 FEETHRHME

(a) MEARARFZERKRRER

MEAREASEHEEEGEZER-E
AEERASEZERMAEATZEOHR
RRRERNZEAZEOE XHENE
BEHZERZENTEHTERE A
SHIIZRHZER REEFAEERS
ZHENE REEZEAAKREREMET
RAZ B -

RHTE R R 2R E mIE G R 18 =6
RILHES AT AR MIE®RE - FEAR
Af&ES R EBAERARERHEE
NARERZEL 2 RERBNHNHER
RAMBRRE 2L HE KRERARRAR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R IS ERRMEE

4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(a) Subsidiaries and Non-controlling Interests

(Continued)

Non-controlling interests are presented in the
consolidated statement of financial position within
equity, separately from equity attributable to the equity
shareholders of the Company. Non-controlling interests
in the results of the Group are presented on the face
of the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as an allocation of the total
profit or loss and total comprehensive income for the
year between non-controlling interests and the equity
shareholders of the Company. Loans from holders
of non-controlling interests and other contractual
obligations towards these holders are presented
as financial liabilities in the consolidated statement
of financial position in accordance with Note 4(j)
depending on the nature of the liability.

Changes in the Group's interests in a subsidiary that
do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as
equity transactions, whereby adjustments are made to
the amounts of controlling and non-controlling interests
within consolidated equity to reflect the change in
relative interests, but no adjustments are made to
goodwill and no gain or loss is recognised.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is
accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in that
subsidiary, with a resulting gain or loss being recognised
in profit or loss. Any interest retained in that former
subsidiary at the date when control is lost is recognised
at fair value and this amount is regarded as the fair
value on initial recognition of a financial asset (see Note
4(j)) or, when appropriate, the cost on initial recognition
of an investment in an associate or joint venture (see
Note 4(b)).

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
an investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less
impairment losses (see Note 4(d)), unless the investment
is classified as held for sale (or included in a disposal
group that is classified as held for sale) (see Note 4(e)).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R IS ERRMEE

4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(b) Joint Ventures

A joint venture is an arrangement whereby the Group or
Company and other parties contractually agree to share
control of the arrangement, and have rights to the net
assets of the arrangement.

An investment in a joint venture is accounted for in
the consolidated financial statements under the equity
method, unless it is classified as held for sale (or
included in a disposal group that is classified as held
for sale) (see Note 4(e)). Under the equity method,
the investment is initially recorded at cost, adjusted
for any excess of the Group’s share of the acquisition-
date fair values of the investee’s identifiable net assets
over the cost of the investment (if any). The cost of the
investment includes purchase price, other costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of the investment, and
any direct investment into the joint venture that forms
part of the Group’s equity investment. Thereafter, the
investment is adjusted for the post acquisition change in
the Group’s share of the investee’s net assets and any
impairment losses relating to the investment (see Notes
4(d) and 4(k)). Any acquisition-date excess over cost, the
Group's share of the post-acquisition, post-tax results
of the investees and any impairment losses for the year
are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss, whereas the Group’s share of the post-acquisition
post-tax items of the investees’ other comprehensive
income is recognised in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

When the Group's share of losses exceeds its interest
in the joint venture, the Group’s interest is reduced
to nil and recognition of further losses is discontinued
except to the extent that the Group has incurred legal
or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf
of the investee. For this purpose, the Group's interest
is the carrying amount of the investment under the
equity method together with the Group's long-term
interests that in substance form part of the Group's
net investment in the joint venture (after applying the
ECL model to such other long-term interests where
applicable (see Note 4(k)).
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4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

82

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(b) Joint Ventures (Continued)

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from transactions
between the Group and its joint venture are eliminated
to the extent of the Group’s interest in the investee,
except where unrealised losses provide evidence of an
impairment of the asset transferred, in which case they
are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

If an investment in a joint venture becomes an
investment in an associate or vice versa, retained
interest is not remeasured. Instead, the investment
continues to be accounted for under the equity
method.

In all other cases, when the Group ceases to have joint
control over a joint venture, it is accounted for as a
disposal of the entire interest in that investee, with a
resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss.
Any interest retained in that former investee at the
date when joint control is lost is recognised at fair value
and this amount is regarded as the fair value on initial
recognition of a financial asset (see Note 4())).

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
investments in joint ventures are stated at cost less
impairment losses (see Note 4(d)), unless classified as
held for sale (or included in a disposal group that is
classified as held for sale) (see Note 4(e)).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R IS ERRMEE

4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(c) Goodwiill
Goodwill represents the excess of

(i)  the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interest in the acquiree and the fair value of the
Group's previously held equity interest in the

acquiree; over

(i) the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable
assets and liabilities measured as at the acquisition

date.

When (ii) is greater than (i), then this excess is
recognised immediately in profit or loss as a gain on a

bargain purchase.

Goodwill is stated at cost less accumulated impairment
losses. Goodwill arising on a business combination is
allocated to each cash-generating unit, or groups of
cash generating units, that is expected to benefit from
the synergies of the combination and is tested annually

for impairment (see Note 4(d)).

On disposal of a cash generating unit during the
year, any attributable amount of purchased goodwill
is included in the calculation of the profit or loss on

disposal.
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R MBERRMEE

4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(d) Impairment of Non-financial Assets

0]

Internal and external sources of information are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period to
identify indications that the following assets may
be impaired or, except in the case of goodwill, an
impairment loss previously recognised no longer
exists or may have decreased:

—  property, plant and equipment, including
right-of-use assets (other than buildings held
for own use carried at revalued amounts);

— intangible assets;
- goodwill; and

— investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures
in the Company’s statement of financial
position.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated. In addition, for goodwill,
intangible assets that are not yet available for
use and intangible assets that have indefinite
useful lives, the recoverable amount is estimated
annually whether or not there is any indication of
impairment.

—  Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the
greater of its fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to
their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. Where an asset does not
generate cash inflows largely independent
of those from other assets, the recoverable
amount is determined for the smallest
group of assets that generates cash inflows
independently (i.e. a cash-generating unit).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R IS ERRMEE

4 SUMMARY

OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(d) Impairment of Non-financial Assets

(Continu

ed)

(i) (Continued)

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit
or loss if the carrying amount of an asset,
or the cash-generating unit to which it
belongs, exceeds its recoverable amount.
Impairment losses recognised in respect of
cash-generating units are allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill
allocated to the cash-generating unit (or
group of units) and then, to reduce the
carrying amount of the other assets in the
unit (or group of units) on a pro rata basis,
except that the carrying value of an asset will
not be reduced below its individual fair value
less costs of disposal (if measurable) or value
in use (if determinable).

Reversals of impairment losses

In respect of assets other than goodwill, an
impairment loss is reversed if there has been
a favourable change in the estimates used
to determine the recoverable amount. An
impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not
reversed.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited
to the asset’s carrying amount that would
have been determined had no impairment
loss been recognised in prior years. Reversals
of impairment losses are credited to profit
or loss in the year in which the reversals are
recognised.
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R MBERRMEE

4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(d) Impairment of Non-financial Assets

(Continued)

(ii) Interim financial reporting and impairment
Under the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited,
the Group is required to prepare an interim
financial report in compliance with HKAS 34
Interim Financial Reporting, in respect of the first
six months of the financial year. At the end of
the interim period, the Group applies the same
impairment testing, recognition, and reversal
criteria as it would at the end of the financial year
(see Notes 4(d)(i) and 4(k)).

(e) Non-current Assets Held-for-sale

(f)

Non-current assets are classified as held-for-sale when
their carrying amount is to be recovered principally
through a sale transaction and a sale is considered
highly probable. The non-current assets are stated at
the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs
to sell. Deferred tax assets, assets arising from employee
benefits, financial assets (other than investments
in subsidiaries and joint ventures) and investment
properties, even if held-for-sale, would continue to
be measured in accordance with the policies set out
elsewhere in Note 4.

Property, Plant and Equipment and Right-of-
use Assets

Ownership interests in buildings held for own use are
stated at their revalued amount, being their fair value
at the date of the revaluation less any subsequent
accumulated depreciation.

Revaluations are performed with sufficient regularity
to ensure that the carrying amount of these assets
does not differ materially from that which would be
determined using fair values at the end of reporting
period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R IS ERRMEE

4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(f) Property, Plant and Equipment and Right-of-

use Assets (Continued)

Right-of-use assets arising from properties leased for
own use and ownership interests in leasehold land
held for own use are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation or amortisation and impairment losses (see

Note 4(d)).

Changes arising on the revaluation of buildings
held for own use are generally dealt with in other
comprehensive income and are accumulated separately
in equity in the asset revaluation reserve. The only

exceptions are as follows:

— when a deficit arises on revaluation, it will be
charged to profit or loss to the extent that it
exceeds the amount held in the reserve in respect
of that same asset immediately prior to the

revaluation; and

— when a surplus arises on revaluation, it will be
credited to profit or loss to the extent that a deficit
on revaluation in respect of that same asset had

previously been charged to profit or loss.

The cost of self-constructed items of property, plant
and equipment includes the cost of materials, direct
labour, the initial estimate, where relevant, of the costs
of dismantling and removing the items and restoring
the site on which they are located, and an appropriate
proportion of production overheads and borrowing

costs (see Note 4(x)).

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal
of an item of property, plant and equipment are
determined as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the item and are
recognised in profit or loss on the date of retirement or
disposal. Any related revaluation surplus is transferred
from the revaluation reserve to retained profits and is

not reclassified to profit or loss.
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R MBERRMEE

4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(f)

Property, Plant and Equipment and Right-of-
use Assets (Continued)

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost or
valuation of items of property, plant and equipment,
less their estimated residual value, if any, using the
straight line method over their estimated useful lives as
follows:

—  Leasehold land is depreciated over the unexpired
term of lease.

—  Buildings held for own use situated on leasehold
land are depreciated over the shorter of the
unexpired term of lease and their estimated useful
lives, being no more than 50 years after the date
of completion.

—  Properties leased for own use are depreciated over
the lease term.

—  Machinery and equipment 5-12 years
—  Furniture and fixture 5 years
—  Motor vehicles 5 years
—  Leasehold improvements 5-12 years

Construction in progress represents factory buildings,
office premises and workers’ dormitories and related
infrastructure projects under construction, which
is stated at cost less any impairment losses, and is
not depreciated. Cost comprises the direct costs
of construction during the period of construction.
Construction in progress is reclassified to the
appropriate category of property, plant and equipment
when completed and ready for use.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R IS ERRMEE

4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(9)

(h)

Investment Properties

Investment properties are land and/or buildings which
are owned or held under a leasehold interest (see
Note 4(i)) to earn rental income and/or for capital
appreciation. These include land held for a currently
undetermined future use and property that is being
constructed or developed for future use as investment
property.

Investment properties are stated at fair value,
unless they are still in the course of construction or
development at the end of the reporting period and
their fair value cannot be reliably measured at that time.
Any gain or loss arising from a change in fair value
or from the retirement or disposal of an investment
property is recognised in profit or loss. Rental income
from investment properties is accounted for as
described in Note 4(u).

Intangible Assets (Other Than Goodwill)
Expenditure on research activities is recognised as
an expense in the period in which it is incurred.
Expenditure on development activities is capitalised if
the product or process is technically and commercially
feasible and the Group has sufficient resources and the
intention to complete development. The expenditure
capitalised includes the costs of materials, direct
labour, and an appropriate proportion of overheads
and borrowing costs, where applicable. Capitalised
development costs are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and impairment losses (see Note 4(d)).
Other development expenditure is recognised as an
expense in the period in which it is incurred.

Other intangible assets that are acquired by the Group
are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation (where
the estimated useful life is finite) and impairment losses
(see Note 4(d)). Expenditure on internally generated
goodwill and brands is recognised as an expense in the
period in which it is incurred.
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R MBERRMEE

4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(h) Intangible Assets (Other Than Goodwill)

(Continued)

Amortisation of intangible assets with finite useful
lives is charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis
over the assets’ estimated useful lives. The following
intangible assets with finite useful lives are amortised
from the date they are available for use and their
estimated useful lives are as follows:

—  Brand name 20 years

- Computer software 5 years
Both the period and method of amortisation are
reviewed annually.

Intangible assets are not amortised while their useful
lives are assessed to be indefinite. Any conclusion that
the useful life of an intangible asset is indefinite is
reviewed annually to determine whether events and
circumstances continue to support the indefinite useful
life assessment for that asset. If they do not, the change
in the useful life assessment from indefinite to finite is
accounted for prospectively from the date of change
and in accordance with the policy for amortisation of
intangible assets with finite lives as set out above.

Leased Assets

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether
the contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or
contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration. Control is conveyed
where the customer has both the right to direct the use
of the identified asset and to obtain substantially all of
the economic benefits from that use.
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R IS ERRMEE

4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(i) Leased Assets (Continued)

0]

As a lessee

Where the contract contains lease component(s)
and non-lease component(s), the Group has
elected not to separate non-lease components
and accounts for each lease component and any
associated non-lease components as a single lease
component for all leases.

At the lease commencement date, the Group
recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability,
except for short-term leases that have a lease
term of 12 months or less and leases of low-value
assets which, for the Group, are primarily office
equipment. When the Group enters into a lease
in respect of a low-value asset, the Group decides
whether to capitalise the lease on a lease-by-lease
basis. The lease payments associated with those
leases which are not capitalised are recognised as
an expense on a systematic basis over the lease
term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability
is initially recognised at the present value of the
lease payments payable over the lease term,
discounted using the interest rate implicit in the
lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined,
using a relevant incremental borrowing rate. After
initial recognition, the lease liability is measured at
amortised cost and interest expense is calculated
using the effective interest method.
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4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

92

(i) Leased Assets (Continued)

0]

As a lessee (Continued)

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease
is capitalised is initially measured at cost, which
comprises the initial amount of the lease liability
plus any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, and any initial direct costs
incurred. Where applicable, the cost of the right-
of-use assets also includes an estimate of costs to
dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to
restore the underlying asset or the site on which it
is located, discounted to their present value, less
any lease incentives received. The right-of-use asset
is subsequently stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses (see Notes 4(d)
and 4(f)), except for the right-of-use assets that
meet the definition of investment property are
carried at fair value in accordance with Note 4(g).

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a
change in future lease payments arising from a
change in an index or rate, or there is a change in
the Group's estimate of the amount expected to
be payable under a residual value guarantee, or
there is a change arising from the reassessment
of whether the Group will be reasonably certain
to exercise a purchase, extension or termination
option. When the lease liability is remeasured in
this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to
the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset, or is
recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of
the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero.
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4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(i) Leased Assets (Continued)

0]

(ii)

As a lessee (Continued)

The lease liability is also remeasured when
there is a change in the scope of a lease or the
consideration for a lease that is not originally
provided for in the lease contract ("lease
modification”) that is not accounted for as a
separate lease. In this case the lease liability is
remeasured based on the revised lease payments
and lease term using a revised discount rate
at the effective date of the modification. The
only exceptions are any rent concessions which
arose as a direct consequence of the COVID-19
pandemic and which satisfied the conditions set
out in paragraph 46B of HKFRS 16 Leases. In such
cases, the Group took advantage of the practical
expedient set out in paragraph 46A of HKFRS 16
and recognised the change in consideration as if it
were not a lease modification.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do
not meet the definition of investment property in
‘property, plant and equipment’ and presents lease
liabilities separately in the statement of financial
position.

As a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it determines at
lease inception whether each lease is a finance
lease or an operating lease. A lease is classified as
a finance lease if it transfers substantially all the
risks and rewards incidental to the ownership of
an underlying assets to the lessee. If this is not the
case, the lease is classified as an operating lease.

When a contract contains lease and non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration
in the contract to each component on a relative
stand-alone selling price basis. The rental income
from operating leases is recognised in accordance
with Note 4(u)(ii).
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4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(j) Financial Instruments

0]

(ii)

Recognition and initial measurement

Trade receivables are initially recognised when
they are originated. All other financial assets and
financial liabilities are initially recognised when
the Group becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument.

A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable
without a significant financing component) or
financial liability is initially measured at fair value
plus, for an item not at FVTPL, transaction costs
that are directly attributable to its acquisition or
issue. A trade receivable without a significant
financing component is initially measured at the
transaction price.

Classification and subsequent measurement

Financial assets

On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified
as measured at: amortised cost; fair value through
other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”) — debt
investment; FVOCI — equity investment; or FVTPL.

Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to
their initial recognition unless the Group changes
its business model for managing financial assets
in which case all affected financial assets are
reclassified on the first day of the first reporting
period following the change in the business model.

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it
meets both of the following conditions and is not
designated as at FVTPL:

— it is held within a business model whose
objective is to hold assets to collect
contractual cash flows; and

— its contractual terms give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding.
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4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

4 FESTHERME (8)
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(j) Financial Instruments (Continued)

(i) Classification and subsequent measurement (i) 27EREBEE (8)

(Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

A debt investment is measured at FVOCI if it
meets both of the following conditions and is not
designated as at FVTPL:

— it is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both collecting
contractual cash flows and selling financial
assets; and

— its contractual terms give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding.

On initial recognition of an equity investment that
is not held for trading, the Group may irrevocably
elect to present subsequent changes in the
investment'’s fair value in OCI. This election is made
on an investment-by-investment basis.

All financial assets not classified as measured at
amortised cost or FVOCI as described above are
measured at FVTPL. This includes all derivative
financial assets. On initial recognition, the Group
may irrevocably designate a financial asset that
otherwise meets the requirements to be measured
at amortised cost or at FVOCI as at FVTPL if doing
so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting
mismatch that would otherwise arise.
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4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

BA SRR BT RE

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(j) Financial Instruments (Continued)

(ii) Classification and subsequent measurement

(Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets: Business model assessment

4 FESTHHERME (F)
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(i) 2EREEFE (F)

TREE (&)

The Group makes an assessment of the objective
of the business model in which a financial asset is
held at a portfolio level because this best reflects
the way the business is managed and information
is provided to management. The information
considered includes:

the stated policies and objectives for
the portfolio and the operation of those
policies in practice. These include whether
management'’s strategy focuses on earning
contractual interest income, maintaining
a particular interest rate profile, matching
the duration of the financial assets to the
duration of any related liabilities or expected
cash outflows or realising cash flows through
the sale of the assets;

how the performance of the portfolio is
evaluated and reported to the Group's
management;

the risks that affect the performance of the
business model (and the financial assets held
within that business model) and how those
risks are managed;

how managers of the business are
compensated — e.g. whether compensation is
based on the fair value of the assets managed
or the contractual cash flows collected; and

the frequency, volume and timing of sales of
financial assets in prior periods, the reasons
for such sales and expectations about future
sales activity.
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4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(j) Financial Instruments (Continued)

(ii) Classification and subsequent measurement

(Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets: Business model assessment
(Continued)

Transfers of financial assets to third parties in
transactions that do not qualify for derecognition
are not considered sales for this purpose,
consistent with the Group’s continuing recognition
of the assets.

Financial assets that are held for trading or are
managed and whose performance is evaluated on
a fair value basis are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets. Assessment whether contractual
cash flows are solely payments of principal and
interest

For the purposes of this assessment, ‘principal’
is defined as the fair value of the financial asset
on initial recognition. ‘Interest’ is defined as
consideration for the time value of money and for
the credit risk associated with the principal amount
outstanding during a particular period of time and
for other basic lending risks and costs (e.g. liquidity
risk and administrative costs), as well as a profit
margin.
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4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(j) Financial Instruments (Continued)

(ii) Classification and subsequent measurement

(Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets: Assessment whether contractual
cash flows are solely payments of principal and

interest (Continued)

In assessing whether the contractual cash flows
are solely payments of principal and interest, the
Group considers the contractual terms of the
instrument. This includes assessing whether the
financial asset contains a contractual term that
could change the timing or amount of contractual
cash flows such that it would not meet this
condition. In making this assessment, the Group

considers:

— contingent events that would change the
amount or timing of cash flows;

—  terms that may adjust the contractual coupon
rate, including variable rate features;,

—  prepayment and extension features; and

—  terms that limit the Group’s claim to cash
flows from specified assets (e.g. non-recourse

features).

A prepayment feature is consistent with the solely
payments of principal and interest criterion if
the prepayment amount substantially represents
unpaid amounts of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding, which may include
reasonable additional compensation for early
termination of the contract. Additionally, for a
financial asset acquired at a significant discount or
premium to its contractual par amount, a feature
that permits or requires prepayment at an amount
that substantially represents the contractual par
amount plus accrued (but unpaid) contractual
interest (which may also include reasonable
additional compensation for early termination) is
treated as consistent with this criterion if the fair
value of the prepayment feature is insignificant at

initial recognition.
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4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 4 FESHEFEHE (&)

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(j) Financial Instruments (Continued)

() &®MIA (&

(i) Classification and subsequent measurement (i) 27EREBEE (8)

(Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

TREE (&)

Financial assets: Subsequent measurement and TEEE BEGER N REE

gains and losses

Financial assets at FVTPL

BARERBEAIRZEREE

Financial assets at amortised cost

LBERATBCEREE

Debt investments at FVOCI
DAREREMEEKRAR
IRz EHRRE

Equity investments at FVOCI
HAREREMZEKRAR
Rz RARE

These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Net
gains and losses, including any interest or dividend income, are
recognised in profit or loss.
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These assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method. The amortised cost is reduced by
impairment losses. Interest income, foreign exchange gains and
losses and impairment are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or
loss on derecognition is recognised in profit or loss.
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B SE AR AR o RS~ SMNE U 55 R B 4B A SR BN 1R 2 FE AR
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These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Interest
income calculated using the effective interest method, foreign
exchange gains and losses and impairment are recognised in profit
or loss. Other net gains and losses are recognised in OCl. On
derecognition, gains and losses accumulated in OCI are reclassified
to profit or loss.
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These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Dividends
are recognised as income in profit or loss unless the dividend
clearly represents a recovery of part of the cost of the investment.
Other net gains and losses are recognised in OCl and are never
reclassified to profit or loss.
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4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(j) Financial Instruments (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Classification and subsequent measurement
(Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Financial liabilities: Classification, subsequent
measurement and gains and losses

Financial liabilities are classified as measured at
amortised cost or FVTPL. A financial liability is
classified as at FVTPL if it is classified as held-
for-trading, it is a derivative or it is designated
as such on initial recognition. Financial liabilities
at FVTPL are measured at fair value and net
gains and losses, including any interest expense,
are recognised in profit or loss. Other financial
liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method. Interest
expense and foreign exchange gains and losses
are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on
derecognition is also recognised in profit or loss.

Derecognition

Financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset when
the contractual rights to the cash flows from the
financial asset expire, or it transfers the rights to
receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction
in which substantially all of the risks and rewards
of ownership of the financial asset are transferred
or in which the Group neither transfers nor
retains substantially all of the risks and rewards of
ownership and it does not retain control of the
financial asset.

The Group enters into transactions whereby
it transfers assets recognised in its statement
of financial position, but retains either all or
substantially all of the risks and rewards of the
transferred assets. In these cases, the transferred
assets are not derecognised.
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4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(j) Financial Instruments (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Derecognition (Continued)

Financial liabilities

The Group derecognises a financial liability when
its contractual obligations are discharged or
cancelled, or expired. The Group also derecognises
a financial liability when its terms are modified
and the cash flows of the modified liability are
substantially different, in which case a new
financial liability based on the modified terms is
recognised at fair value.

On derecognition of a financial liability, the
difference between the carrying amount
extinguished and the consideration paid (including
any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities
assumed) is recognised in profit or loss.

Offsetting

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset
and the net amount presented in the statement of
financial position when, and only when, the Group
currently has a legally enforceable right to set off
the amounts and it intends either to settle them
on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the
liability simultaneously.
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4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(k) Impairment of Financial Assets

Financial instruments

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected
credit losses (“ECLs”) on the financial assets measured
at amortised cost.

The Group measures loss allowances at an amount
equal to lifetime ECLs, except for the following, which
are measured as 12-month ECLs:

— loans to a joint venture and amounts due from
joint ventures that are determined to have low
credit risk at the reporting date; and

—  deposits and other receivables and bank balances
for which credit risk (i.e. the risk of default
occurring over the expected life of the financial
instrument) has not increased significantly since
initial recognition.

Loss allowances for trade receivables are always
measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial
asset has increased significantly since initial recognition
and when estimating ECLs, the Group considers
reasonable and supportable information that is relevant
and available without undue cost or effort. This includes
both quantitative and qualitative information and
analysis, based on the Group's historical experience
and informed credit assessment and including forward-
looking information.

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial
asset has increased significantly if it is more than 180
days past due and without any business relationship.
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4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 4 FEETBREE (#)

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(k) =REERE (&)

(k) Impairment of Financial Assets (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
The Group considers a financial asset to be in default
when:

—  the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations
to the Group in full, without recourse by the
Group to actions such as realising security (if any is
held); or

—  the financial asset is more than 180 days past due.

Lifetime ECLs are the ECLs that result from all possible
default events over the expected life of a financial
instrument.

12-month ECLs are the portion of ECLs that result from
default events that are possible within the 12 months
after the reporting date (or a shorter period if the
expected life of the instrument is less than 12 months).

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs
is the maximum contractual period over which the
Group is exposed to credit risk.

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit
losses. Credit losses are measured as the present value
of all cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the
cash flows due to the entity in accordance with the
contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive).

ECLs are discounted at the effective interest rate of the
financial asset.
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BA SRR BT RE

4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(k) Impairment of Financial Assets (Continued)

Credit-impaired financial assets

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether
financial assets carried at amortised cost are credit-
impaired. A financial asset is ‘credit-impaired” when one
or more events that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have
occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
the following observable data:

—  significant financial difficulty of the borrower or
issuer;

—  breach of contract such as a default or being more
than 180 days past due;

—  the restructuring of a loan or advance by the
Group on terms that the Group would not
consider otherwise;

— it is probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

—  the disappearance of an active market for a
security because of financial difficulties.

Presentation of allowance for ECLs in the
statement of financial position

Loss allowances for financial assets measured at
amortised cost are deducted from the gross carrying
amount of the assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R IS ERRMEE

4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(k)

)

(m)

Impairment of Financial Assets (Continued)

Write-off

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written
off (either partially or in full) to the extent that there
is no realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally
the case when the Group determines that the debtor
does not have assets or sources of income that could
generate sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts
subject to the write-off. However, financial assets that
are written off could still be subject to enforcement
activities in order to comply with the Group’s
procedures for recovery of amounts due.

Derivative Financial Instruments

The Group uses derivative financial instruments such
as interest rate swaps to manage its risks associated
with interest rate and foreign currency fluctuations.
Derivative financial instruments are recognised at fair
value. At the end of each reporting period the fair value
is remeasured. The gain or loss on remeaseurement to
fair value is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
Derivatives are carried as assets when the fair value is
positive and as liabilities when the fair value is negative.

Inventories

Inventories are assets which are held for sale in the
ordinary course of business, in the process of production
for such sale or in the form of materials or suppliers to
be consumed in the production process.

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net
realisable value.

Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost
formula and comprises all costs of purchase, costs of
conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the
inventories to their present location and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make
the sale.
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4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(m) Inventories (Continued)

(n)

(o)

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those
inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in
which the related revenue is recognised.

The amount of any write-down of inventories to
net realisable value and all losses of inventories are
recognised as an expense in the period the write-down
or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of any write-
down of inventories is recognised as a reduction in the
amount of inventories recognised as an expense in the
period in which the reversal occurs.

Trade and Other Receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration. A right
to receive consideration is unconditional if only the
passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due. If revenue has been recognised
before the Group has an unconditional right to receive
consideration, the amount is presented as a contract
asset.

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the
effective interest method less allowance for credit losses
(see Note 4(k)).

Cash and Cash Equivalents

In the consolidated cash flow statement, cash and cash
equivalents comprise cash in hand, deposits held at call
with banks, other short-term highly liquid investments
with original maturity of three months or less, and bank
overdrafts. In the consolidated and the Company’s
statement of financial position, bank overdrafts are
shown within borrowings in current liabilities. Cash and
cash equivalents are assessed for ECLs in accordance
with the policy set out in Note 4(k).
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R IS ERRMEE

4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(p)

(a)

Trade and Bills Payables, Other Payables and
Contract Liabilities

Trade and bills payables are obligations to pay for
goods that have been acquired in the ordinary course
of business from suppliers. Payables are classified as
current liabilities if payment is due within one year or
less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business
if longer). If not, they are presented as non-current
liabilities.

Payables are recognised initially at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.

Contract liabilities are recognised (1) when the customer
pays non-refundable consideration, or the Group
has an unconditional right to receive non-refundable
consideration, before the Group recognises the related
revenue and (2) for expected volume discounts payable
to customers in relation to sales made until the end of
the reporting period.

Provisions and Contingent Liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a legal
or constructive obligation arising as a result of a past
event, it is probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a
reliable estimate can be made. Where the time value
of money is material, provisions are stated at the
present value of the expenditure expected to settle the
obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow
of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations,
whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future
events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless
the probability of outflow of economic benefits is
remote.
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R IS ERRMEE

4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(r)

(s)

Share Capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental
costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or
options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax,
from the proceeds.

Income Tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and
movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current
tax and movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities
are recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that
they relate to items recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, in which case the relevant
amounts of tax are recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the
taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted
or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting
period, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of
previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible
and taxable temporary differences respectively, being
the differences between the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their
tax bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from unused tax
losses and unused tax credits.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R IS ERRMEE

4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(s)

Income Tax (Continued)

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax
liabilities, and all deferred tax assets to the extent that
it is probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which the asset can be utilised, are recognised.
Future taxable profits that may support the recognition
of deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences include those that will arise from the reversal
of existing taxable temporary differences, provided
those differences relate to the same taxation authority
and the same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse
either in the same period as the expected reversal of the
deductible temporary difference or in periods into which
a tax loss arising from the deferred tax asset can be
carried back or forward. The same criteria are adopted
when determining whether existing taxable temporary
differences support the recognition of deferred tax
assets arising from unused tax losses and credits, that is,
those differences are taken into account if they relate to
the same taxation authority and the same taxable entity,
and are expected to reverse in a period, or periods, in
which the tax loss or credit can be utilised.

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax
assets and liabilities are those temporary differences
arising from goodwill not deductible for tax purposes,
the initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affect
neither accounting nor taxable profit (provided they
are not part of a business combination), and temporary
differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to
the extent that, in the case of taxable differences,
the Group controls the timing of the reversal and it
is probable that the differences will not reverse in
the foreseeable future, or in the case of deductible
differences, unless it is probable that they will reverse in
the future.
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R IS ERRMEE

4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(s)

Income Tax (Continued)

Where investment properties are carried at their fair
value in accordance with the accounting policy set out
in Note 4(g), the amount of deferred tax recognised is
measured using the tax rates that would apply on sale
of those assets at their carrying value at the reporting
date unless the property is depreciable and is held
within a business model whose objective is to consume
substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in
the property over time, rather than through sale. In all
other cases, the amount of deferred tax recognised is
measured based on the expected manner of realisation
or settlement of the carrying amount of the assets
and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period. Deferred tax
assets and liabilities are not discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and is reduced to
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient
taxable profits will be available to allow the related tax
benefit to be utilised. Any such reduction is reversed
to the extent that it becomes probable that sufficient
taxable profits will be available.

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution
of dividends are recognised when the liability to pay the
related dividends is recognised.

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and
movements therein, are presented separately from each
other and are not offset. Current tax assets are offset
against current tax liabilities, and deferred tax assets
against deferred tax liabilities, if the Company or the
Group has the legally enforceable right to set off current
tax assets against current tax liabilities and the following
additional conditions are met:

— in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the
Company or the Group intends either to settle on
a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the
liability simultaneously; or
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R IS ERRMEE

4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(s)

(t)

(u)

Income Tax (Continued)

— in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities,
if they relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority on either:

—  the same taxable entity; or

— different taxable entities, which, in each
future period in which significant amounts of
deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected
to be settled or recovered, intend to realise
the current tax assets and settle the current
tax liabilities on a net basis or realise and
settle simultaneously.

Government Grants

Government grants are recognised in the statement
of financial position initially when there is reasonable
assurance that they will be received and that the
Group will comply with the conditions attaching to
them. Grants that compensate the Group for expenses
incurred are recognised as income in profit or loss on
a systematic basis in the same periods in which the
expenses are incurred. Where the grant relates to the
prepaid land premium, the fair value is included in non-
current liabilities as deferred income. Deferred income
is credited to the consolidated statement of profit or
loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term of the
associated assets.

Revenue Recognition

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when it
arises from the sale of goods in the ordinary course of
the Group's business.

Revenue is recognised when control over a product is
transferred to the customer at the amount of promised
consideration to which the Group is expected to be
entitled, excluding those amounts collected on behalf of
third parties. Revenue excludes value added tax or other
sales taxes and is after deduction of any trade discounts.
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4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(u) Revenue Recognition (Continued)
Further details of the Group's revenue and other income
recognition policies are as follows:

(v)

0]

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Sales of electronic products
Revenue is recognised when the customer takes
possession of and accepts the products.

Rental income from operating leases

Rental income receivable under operating leases
is recognised in profit or loss in equal instalments
over the periods covered by the lease term.

Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised when the
shareholder’s right to receive payment is
established.

Interest income
Interest income is recognised as it accrues using
the effective interest method.

Employee Benefits

0]

Share option scheme

The Group operates the Share Option Scheme for
the purpose of providing incentives and rewards
to eligible participants who contribute to the
success of the Group's operations. Employees
(including directors) of the Group receive
remuneration in the form of share-based payment
transactions, whereby employees render services
as consideration for equity instruments (“equity-
settled transactions”).
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R IS ERRMEE

4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(v) Employee Benefits (Continued)

0]

Share option scheme (Continued)

The cost of equity-settled transactions with
employees is measured by reference to the fair
value at the date at which they are granted. The
fair value is determined by using a binomial model,
further details of which are given in Note 35 to
the financial statements. In valuing the granting
of share options, no account is taken of any
performance conditions, other than conditions
linked to the price of the shares of the Company
("market conditions”), if applicable.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is
recognised, together with a corresponding
increase in equity, over the period in which
the performance and/or service conditions are
fulfilled, ending on the date on which the relevant
employees become fully entitled to the award
(the “vesting date”). The cumulative expense
recognised for equity-settled transactions at each
end of reporting date until the vesting date reflects
the extent to which the vesting period has expired
and the Group's best estimate of the number of
equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The
charge or credit to the consolidated statement of
profit or loss for a period represents the movement
in the cumulative expense recognised as at the
beginning and end of that period.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is
reflected as additional share dilution in the
computation of earnings per share.
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4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(v) Employee Benefits (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Pension schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution
Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefit
scheme (the "MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for those
employees who are eligible to participate in the
MPF Scheme. Contributions are made based on a
percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and are
charged to the consolidated statement of profit or
loss as they become payable in accordance with
the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the
MPF Scheme are held separately from those of
the Group in an independently administered fund.
The Group's employer contributions vest fully with
the employees when contributed into the MPF
Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which
operate in Mainland China are required to
participate in a central pension scheme operated
by the local municipal government. These
subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain
percentage of their payroll costs to the central
pension scheme. The contributions are charged to
the consolidated statement of profit or loss as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of
the central pension scheme.

Defined benefit retirement plan obligations
The Group's net obligation in respect of defined
benefit retirement plans is calculated separately
for each plan by estimating the amount of future
benefit that employees have earned in return for
their service in the current and prior periods; that
benefit is discounted to determine the present
value and the fair value of any plan assets is
deducted. The calculation is performed by a
qualified actuary using the projected unit credit
method. When the calculation results in a benefit
to the Group, the recognised asset is limited to
the present value of economic benefits available
in the form of any future refunds from the plan or
reductions in future contributions to the plan.

114 Man Yue Technology Holdings Limited EMRHEEEGR AR

4 FEETERBE (&)

(v) BERF (&)

(i) BIKEFE
AEBRBEEH TR ESFBEDIR
AERARSERHENESRINE
FEHE ([eiREstE]) 2EBBEHTE
MRS 8 - IR ESAE
ZRA WHRTVIREEERFH 2 XK
—BDLEE  AREMNERE B
EHEAXRNK -BESFEACEESR
AEBEENFHRE »H— &%z
BIEZESEE -AEBZBIHM
—BIRARESE NEHEEE

o

mn

\

SEETEALEE ZHBARIR
RSB 5 T BT R SL 2 F RAR IR
TEE - MENBARRZERFHE
(AZFE—BD AT REAREE
K HRARRIE A RBIKE 5 E
RAENEEHZARERME -

3 om M

(iii) AEBARAKEFHEEM

REE G EHE B R AT 2 RGP
BREUZ RRAEFI R D FFTEREY
BERERNEBAREFE 2 BEFE-
BEREMNSSAERRE XTSI
EAFEEEZ ARE-FETIIER
HEeERBHEMAEELFEER
ET N EERBTIHASEER
O ERCEESBRSTBBIRAZ
BENam 2 RE MEBEMEZ R
AETEIRRATRE 2 SERK AR Z
ARG o



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R IS ERRMEE

4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 4 FESHEFEHE (&)

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(v) Employee Benefits (Continued) (v) EEEA (&)

(iii) REBARAKSFTHEME (F)

(iii) Defined benefit retirement plan obligations

(Continued)

Service cost and net interest expense (income)
on the net defined benefit liability (asset) are
recognised in profit or loss and allocated by
function as part of “cost of sales”, “selling and
distribution costs” or “administrative expenses”.
Current service cost is measured as the increase
in the present value of the defined benefit
obligation resulting from employee service in the
current period. When the benefits of a plan are
changed, or when a plan is curtailed, the portion
of the changed benefit related to past service by
employees, or the gain or loss on curtailment,
is recognised as an expense in profit or loss at
the earlier of when the plan amendment or
curtailment occurs and when related restructuring
costs or termination benefits are recognised.
Net interest expense (income) for the period is
determined by applying the discount rate used
to measure the defined benefit obligation at
the beginning of the reporting period to the net
defined benefit liability (asset). The discount rate
is the yield at the end of the reporting period on
high quality corporate bonds that have maturity
dates approximating the terms of the Group’s
obligations.

Remeasurements arising from defined benefit
retirement plans are recognised in other
comprehensive income and reflected immediately
in retained earnings. Remeasurements comprise
actuarial gains and losses, the return on plan assets
(excluding amounts included in net interest on
the net defined benefit liability (asset)) and any
change in the effect of the asset ceiling (excluding
amounts included in net interest on the net
defined benefit liability (asset)).
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R IS ERRMEE

4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(w) Borrowings

(x)

(y)

Borrowings are measured initially at fair value less
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition,
borrowings are stated at amortised cost using the
effective interest method. Interest expense is recognised
in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy for
borrowing costs (see Note 4(x)).

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of
the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the
reporting period.

Borrowing Costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of qualifying
assets, which necessarily take a substantial period of
time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are
capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. Other
borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which
they are incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost
of a qualifying asset commences when expenditure for
the asset is being incurred, borrowing costs are being
incurred and activities that are necessary to prepare
the asset for its intended use or sale are in progress.
Capitalisation of borrowing costs is suspended or ceases
when substantially all the activities necessary to prepare
the qualifying asset for its intended use or sale are
interrupted or completed.

Dividends

Final dividends proposed by the Directors are classified
as a separate allocation of retained profits within the
equity section of the statement of financial position,
until they have been approved by the shareholders in
a general meeting. When these dividends have been
approved by the shareholders and declared, they are
recognised as a liability.

Interim dividends are recognised as a liability when they
have been approved by the shareholders in a general
meeting.
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R IS ERRMEE

4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(z) Segment Reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner
consistent with the internal reporting provided to
the chief operating decision-maker of the Group,
which is considered as the Group's executive team,
comprising all executive directors and headed by the
managing director. The chief operating decision-maker
is responsible for allocating resources and assessing
performance of the operating segments based on the
entity-wide financial information.

(aa) Foreign Currency Translation

(i) Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each
of the Group's entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment
in which the entity operates (the “functional
currency”). The consolidated financial statements
are presented in Hong Kong dollars ("HK$"),
which is the Company’s functional and the
Group's presentation currency.

(ii) Transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions during the year are
translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling
at the transaction dates. Foreign exchange gains
and losses resulting from the settlement of such
transactions are recognised in profit or loss.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies are translated at the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the end of the reporting
period. Exchange gains and losses are recognised
in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are translated using the foreign exchange
rates ruling at the transaction dates. The
transaction date is the date on which the company
initially recognises such non-monetary assets
or liabilities. Non-monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies that are stated
at fair value are translated using the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the dates the fair value
was measured.
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R MBERRMEE

4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(aa) Foreign Currency Translation (Continued)

(iii) Group companies

The results and financial position of all the Group
entities (none of which has the currency of a

hyper-inflationary economy) that have a functional
currency different from the presentation currency
are translated into the presentation currency as
follows:

(a) assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at
the closing rate at the date of that statement
of financial position;

(b) income and expenses for each statement
of profit or loss are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is not a
reasonable approximation of the cumulative
effect of the rates prevailing on the
transaction dates, in which case income and
expenses are translated at the rate on the
dates of the transactions); and

(c) all resulting currency translation differences
are recognised in other comprehensive
income.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets
and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated
at the closing rate. Currency translation differences
arising are recognised in other comprehensive
income.
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R IS ERRMEE

4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(ab) Financial Guarantee

Financial guarantees are contracts that require the
issuer (i.e. the guarantor) to make specified payments
to reimburse the beneficiary of the guarantee (the
“holder”) for a loss the holder incurs because a
specified debtor fails to make payment when due in
accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.

Financial guarantees issued are initially recognised
within “trade and other payables” at fair value,
which is determined by reference to fees charged in
an arm'’s length transaction for similar services, when
such information is obtainable, or to interest rate
differentials, by comparing the actual rates charged
by lenders when the guarantee is made available with
the estimated rates that lenders would have charged,
had the guarantees not been available, where reliable
estimates of such information can be made. Where
consideration is received or receivable for the issuance
of the guarantee, the consideration is recognised in
accordance with the Group’s policies applicable to
that category of asset. Where no such consideration
is received or receivable, an immediate expense is
recognised in profit or loss.

Subsequent to initial recognition, the amount initially
recognised as deferred income is amortised in profit
or loss over the term of the guarantee as income from
financial guarantees issued.

The Group monitors the risk that the specified debtor
will default on the contract and recognises a provision
when ECLs on the financial guarantees are determined
to be higher than the amount carried in “trade and
other payables” in respect of the guarantees (i.e.
the amount initially recognised, less accumulated
amortisation).
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BA SRR BT RE

4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(ab) Financial Guarantee (Continued)

To determine ECLs, the Group considers changes in
the risk of default of the specified debtor since the
issuance of the guarantee. A 12-month ECL is measured
unless the risk that the specified debtor will default has
increased significantly since the guarantee is issued,
in which case a lifetime ECL is measured. The same
definition of default and the same assessment of
significant increase in credit risk as described in Note
4(k) apply.

As the Group is required to make payments only in the
event of a default by the specified debtor in accordance
with the terms of the instrument that is guaranteed, an
ECL is estimated based on the expected payments to
reimburse the holder for a credit loss that it incurs less
any amount that the Group expects to receive from the
holder of the guarantee, the specified debtor or any
other party. The amount is then discounted using the
current risk-free rate adjusted for risks specific to the
cash flows.

(ac) Repurchase of Shares

Where any group company purchases the Company’s
equity share capital, the considerations paid, including
any directly attributable incremental costs, is deducted
from equity attributable to the Company’s equity
holders until the shares are cancelled or reissued. Where
such shares are subsequently reissued, any consideration
received (net of any directly attributable incremental
transaction costs) is included in equity attributable to
the Company’s equity holders.
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R IS ERRMEE

4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(ad) Related Parties

(@)

A person, or a close member of that person’s
family, is related to the Group if that person:

(i)

(ii)

(iif)

has control or joint control over the Group;

has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or the Group's
parent.

An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies:

(i)

(i)

(vi)

The entity and the Group are members of the
same Group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to
the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a Group of which the
other entity is a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same
third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the
Group or an entity related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by
a person identified in (a).
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(ii)

(iif)

(iv)

(vi)
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RS ERERMEE
4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 4 FESTTBEREIE (&)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(ad) Related Parties (Continued) (ad) FEEE 75 (48)
(b) (Continued) by (#&)

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant (vii) @O)BEFTHEAIATYHZEREE
influence over the entity or is a member of AFENNEZER (NZER
the key management personnel of the entity WEAR) FEZEREKE -
(or of a parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a Group of (viii) ?Eﬁiﬁﬁﬁ%’i@ﬁﬂfﬂﬁﬁ
which it is a part, provides key management NAR/AEESKAEERT QAR
personnel services to the Group or to the HFEEBABRS-

Group's parent.
Close members of the family of a person are those —HRATHIRRIENBERRZ S AT Y
family members who may be expected to influence, or ZATHEHZZATLT %%E’J%EEXE °
be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the
entity.
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R IS ERRMEE

5 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND

ESTIMATES

(a) Critical Accounting Judgements in Applying

the Group’s Accounting Policies

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies, management has made the following
accounting judgement:

Classification of ownership interests in buildings
held for own use and other properties leased for
own use

In accordance with HKAS 16 Property, Plant and
Equipment, the Group chooses to apply either the cost
model or the revaluation model as its accounting policy
for items of property, plant and equipment held for own
use on a class-by-class basis. In applying this policy, the
Group has concluded that its ownership interests in
buildings held for own use and the right to use other
properties leased under tenancy agreements are two
separate groupings of assets which differ significantly in
their nature and use. Accordingly, they are regarded by
the Group as separate classes of asset for subsequent
measurement policies in accordance with Notes 4(f) and
4(j). Specifically, ownership interests in buildings held for
own use are carried under the revaluation model, while
rights to use properties under tenancy agreements are
carried at depreciated cost.

In making this judgement, the Group has taken into
account that, as the registered owner of buildings, the
Group is able to benefit fully from any changes in the
valuation of these buildings whether as holding gains
or by selling the ownership interest to others, as well
as being able to use the buildings in its operation free
of paying market rents. In contrast, the shorter term
tenancy agreements are typically for periods of no more
than 10 years and are subject to other restrictions, in
particular on transferability of the Group’s tenancy
rights to others. These shorter term tenancy agreements
are executed in order to retain operational flexibility and
to reduce the Group’s exposure to the property market
fluctuation. They may contain termination or extension
clauses and are typically subject to market rent reviews
every 2 to 5 years.
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R MBERRMEE

5 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

(b) Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
Notes 36 and 39 contain information about the
assumptions and their risk factors relating to defined
benefit retirement obligations and financial instruments
respectively. Other key sources of estimation uncertainty
are as follows:

0]

(ii)

Fair values of properties

The fair values of investment properties and
buildings held for own use are determined at
the end of each reporting period by independent
professional valuers. The fair values of certain
buildings held for own use in Mainland China are
determined on a depreciated replacement cost
basis. This methodology is based on an estimate
of the market value for the existing use of the
building, plus the current cost of replacement
of the existing structures less deductions for
physical deterioration and all relevant forms of
obsolescence and optimisation. The fair values
of the investment properties are determined
on an open market value basis by reference to
comparable market transactions.

Impairment of property, plant and equipment
and prepaid land premium

Impairment loss on property, plant and equipment
and prepaid land premium is recognised as the
amount by which the carrying amount exceeds
its recoverable amount in accordance with
the accounting policy stated in Note 4(d). The
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s
fair value less costs of disposal and value in use,
which are based on the best information available
to reflect the amount obtainable at each reporting
date, from the disposal of the asset in an arm’s
length transaction between knowledgeable, willing
parties, after deducting the costs of disposal.
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R IS ERRMEE

5 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

(b) Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
(Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Write-down on inventories

Inventories are written down to net realisable
value based on an assessment of the realisability of
inventories. Write-down on inventories is recorded
where events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the balances may not be realised.
The identification of write-down requires the
use of judgement and estimates. Where the
expectation is different from the original estimate,
such difference will impact the carrying value of
inventories and write-down of inventories in the
periods in which such estimate has been changed.

Impairment of receivables

The Group makes loss allowance on receivables
based on various factors including the ageing of
receivables, historical write-off experience and
forward looking information. The identification
of impairment of receivables requires the use of
judgement and estimates. Where the expectations
are different from the original estimates, such
differences will impact the carrying value of
receivables and the impairment losses on
receivable is recognised in the years in which such
estimates have been changed.
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e PBRARMEE

'F’

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group’s executive team, comprising all executive
directors and headed by the managing director of the
Company, is considered as the Chief Operating Decision
Maker (“CODM"). The CODM reviews the performance of
the Group on a regular basis.

As substantial business operations of the Group relate to
the manufacturing, selling and distribution of electronic
components, the CODM makes decisions about resources
allocation and performance assessment based on the entity-
wide financial information. Accordingly, there is only one
single reportable segment for the Group. Set out below is a
summary list of key performance indicators reviewed by the
CODM on a regular basis:

7 EER
MAAAZBRTEFERY A EFRERRY
ZAEBHTERREAEELBREA ([X
ERERFAD)  TEREREATHRAAE
B2 RR-

AR AEE R EHEERBIE  HERDHE
BFTHAR WAKREE2RERE ARER
NAZHBEEMELBEEE RS B RFRBT G2
AR -EH  AEERBE—EE—J2WMH -
FELERRATHRN ZETERRIEEHE
Epdlp Ul

2020
20204
HK$'000
THET
Revenue WA 1,599,599 1,292,160
Gross profit EH 271,877 245,293
Gross profit margin (%) EFE(%) 17.0% 19.0%
EBITDA ' EBITDA ' 149,986 161,851
EBITDA margin (%) EBITDALL Z (%) 9.4% 12.5%
Operating expenses ? KEBR? 208,308 224,465
Operating expenses/revenue (%) 4 B R E U L R (%) 13.0% 17.4%
Profit for the year FEmA 26,069 26,476
Net profit margin (%) 4 F K (%) 1.6% 2.0%
Notes: B 5 -
1. EBITDA represents the earnings before interest expenses, 1. EBITDAEREAESE BIE FEREHME
tax, depreciation and amortisation. e
2. Operating expenses represent the expenditure that the 2. REBREAEELESE —REBREEZRF

Group incurs as a result of performing its normal business
operations, including selling and distribution costs,
administrative expenses and net impairment loss on trade
and other receivables.
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A PBERRMEE

6 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

The following tables present the revenue from external
customers and specified non-current assets of the Group
by geographical locations. The geographical location of
customers is based on the geographical location of the
customers. The geographical location of the specified non-
current assets is based on the physical location of the asset,
in the case of property plant and equipment, the location
of the operation to which they are allocated, in the case
of intangible assets and goodwill, and the location of
operations, in the case of interest in joint ventures.

6

7 EER ()
TRIEARERIGIBEE D2 WHIEFRA
RETIRBEE - B 2B B REFHE
SOTSE © S SHEEIERB AR 2 IR B TR
RO BERRENE EEZERAE.
REAERBENS FESRZ SELHR
BRAELEIERTE  GEOHUME -

2019
20194

HK$'000
TAT

Revenue from external customers B ENBEE D 2 ¥

by geographical locations BEFBA

Hong Kong &
Mainland China HRE b
Taiwan =1
Southeast Asia E=
Korea =15

United States e
Europe M

Other countries EMBER

88,259 82,176
1,138,590 892,892
210,529 190,758
53,845 35,807
2,645 2,528
19,985 15,225
76,707 55,477
9,039 17,297
1,599,599 1,292,160
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e PBRARMEE

6 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 6

2EER ()

As at 31 December
M12831H

2020 2019

20204 20194
HK$'000 HK$'000
FH T FET

Non-current assets by physical locations 2t B & 2 2 FREEE
(excluding deferred tax assets and (TEREEHEEER
financial assets at fair value through &2 A ERIBHEATIE

profit or loss) ZEMEE)
Hong Kong B 109,912 114,790
Mainland China R A 1,249,504 1,151,251
Other countries HEMER 210 234
1,359,626 1,266,275
7 REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND OTHER NET 7 WA -Ht AR EM (E58)
(LOSS)/GAIN R
(a) Revenue (a) WA

The principal activities of the Group are the
manufacturing and trading of electronic components
and raw materials. Revenue represents the net value
of goods sold, after allowances for trade returns and
discounts.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A PBERRMEE

7 REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND OTHER NET 7 WA Ha AR EAM (F5E)

(LOSS)/GAIN (CONTINUED) ()
(a) Revenue (Continued) (@) WA (%)
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with REEEMRE D 2B EHMARMAN
customers by major product lines is as follows: T
2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$’000 HK$'000
TET FHET
Revenue from contracts with BBV ®REERE155
customers within the scope of HERAZEFEHRA
HKFRS 15
Manufacturing and trading of RERBEEE TG
electronic components 1,599,599 1,290,400
Trading of raw materials BERME - 1,760
1,599,599 1,292,160
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with R E 5 E D 2 &P A KA BB
customers by geographical markets is disclosed in Note O EE c FTE AR K — e B R -

6. All revenue is recognised at a single point in time.
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e PBRARMEE

7 REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND OTHER NET 7 WA HaAREAM (EE) W
(LOSS)/GAIN (CONTINUED) HEE (1)

(b) Other Income (b) Eftilt A
2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$'000 HK$'000
Fax FHT
Scrap sales FERISHE 962 631
Government subsidies' BT 48 B 4,982 4,961
Rental income generated from REMEEEZHSIWA
investment properties (Note 20(a)) (KFaF20(a)) 3,263 2,406
Losses on disposal of property, HEWE BELEEESE
plant and equipment (3,169) 61)
Others HAf 2,127 2,338
8,165 10,275
Note: M e
1. In 2020, the Group successfully applied for funding 1. 2020 REBKINEAFEAFRIK
support from the Employment Support Scheme under the RhEREESRUETE 2 ESED
Anti-epidemic Fund, set up by the HKSAR Government 2,368,000/ 7T - A& & > E R
amounted to HK$2,368,000. The purpose of the EB REBFEBEHR 2 EE - IBIFE &
funding is to provide financial support to enterprises to Mo AREBTSRRREINE S - B2
retain their employees who would otherwise be made BEARENEETIE-

redundant. Under the terms of the grant, the group is
required not to make redundancies during the subsidy
period and to spend all the funding on paying wages to
the employees.

() Other Net (Loss)/Gain () Hfth (BE) W FE
2020 2019
2020 20194
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET T
Dividend income g 8 A 1 2
Fair value (loss)/gain on investment WEWMHE L ARE
properties (Note 20) (E8) M=
(Bff5£20) (3,564) 12,245
Net foreign exchange (loss)/gain BN (E518) e F8E (23,802) 2,183
Fair value gains on financial assets at  #Z QAR ERB=ATIER 2
fair value through profit or loss SMEEZAEBERE 7,642 697
Write-back of other payables ’ L JE A FRIEHE B 1 - 2,131
Others Hfth (78) -
(19,801) 17,258
Note: B 3T
1. As of 31 December 2019, other payables of 1. #HZE2019%12A31H HRAEHRNIBHZ
HK$2,131,000 was fully written back as the obligations EEEEM - #2,131,0007 7T 2 H fb FE 1+
specified in the contracts have expired. MIEE 2 EREME -
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A PBERRMEE

8 OPERATING PROFIT 8 &KeERA
The Group's operating profit is arrived at after charging/ REEZEERBMAINB (GTA) U TEEE
(crediting) the following: EEC

2020
20204

HK$'000
FER

Employee benefit expenses (including 12 848 F| 5

directors’ emoluments) (Note) (BEEEHS)

(BsE) 9 266,765 254,522
Cost of inventories sold (including BEREFERE (B

raw materials and consumables R BN R

used and changes in inventories VB FE om LA B BURK i 2

of finished goods and work in EHmzFEES)

progress) 25(b) 1,314,316 1,038,193
Auditor’s remuneration ZEETE &

— Audit services —ZE R 1,750 1,785

— Non-audit services — B AR T 350 360
Depreciation charge: (Note) FrEm - (MiEE)

— Owned property, plant and —BRME -BE

equipment e 18 58,263 56,173

— Right-of-use assets —f[FREEE 18 19,207 19,531
Amortisation of prepaid land 30 70 B TR A R

premium 19 1,495 1,446
Amortisation of intangible assets B EEEE 22 237 289
Losses on disposal of property, plant HE&EWE  HE K

and equipment HEEE 7(b) 3,169 61
Research and development costs T BERA (PFE)

(Note) 25,373 17,557
Write-down of inventories FEMUR 25(b) 14,145 8,843
Reversal of write-down of inventories 7 & Hif 5 % [2] 25(b) (739) (169)
Net impairment loss on trade and R M5 R 5 % EL A JE LA

other receivables: FIB B EERFE

— Additional impairment losses —ERRZEINRE

recognised 18 39(d) 7,846 7,752

— Impairment losses reversed —BEBZBERBE 390 (8,792) (960)

— Loss/(gain) on reimbursement — R E ERE

right assets EiE, (W) 506 (2,892)
Fair value gains on financial assets at & QA ARERIBZEATIEREZ

fair value through profit or loss SEMEEZ ARBERE 70 (7,642) (697)
Deferred income recognised as RN ATERR AUA

income (313) (299)

Note:  Research and development costs include HK$6,306,000 MisE: A2 AR AN B8 356,306,000 JT (20194F :
(2019: HK$3,367,000) relating to staff costs and 3,367,000 ) EBE TRARNERMH Z&
depreciation which amounts are also included in the BIEER EXEBREFARSERANE
respective total amounts disclosed separately above for ArHER SR

each of these types of expenses.
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e MR
9 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES 9 EEBRAEX
2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Wages and salaries T& R 254,405 234,082
Contributions to defined contribution TE R SR IRET B3
retirement plan 12,360 20,440
Total employee benefit expenses EERAMFAXZEE 266,765 254,522
10 CHANGES IN FAIR VALUES OF DERIVATIVE 10 FTEESMIAEQNABEZEH
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FABTT
Fair value losses on interest rate FEEEHZz AREBE
swaps (Note 27) (BtEE27) 11 98
At 31 December 2020, all interest rate swap contracts were 72020128318 - i B FI XA L E 5
expired. B
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A PBERRMEE

11 FINANCE COSTS

11 B

2020 2019
20204

20194
HK$'000
T T

HK$’000
TRET

Interest expense on bank loans RITERCHEZ 35,508 37,155
Interest expense on lease liabilities HEBGEZMEZH 3,627 4,391
Others Hit 605 927
39,740 42,473
Less: Interest expenses capitalised into W BENMBTERIRZ
construction in progress MEZH (1,869) (1,229)
37,871 41,244
Note: Bt EE
1. The borrowing costs have been capitalised at a rate of 3.5% 1. BERARUEFEI 5% (20196 :3.9% ) #EITE
per annum (2019: 3.9%). PN
12 FINANCE INCOME 12 BB

Interest income from loans to a joint
venture (Note 24)

Interest income from time deposits and
bank balances

2020 2019
2020F

20194
HK$'000
FET

HK$"000
FEx

MY MEEREERZ

FEWA (KF5E24) 4,982 4,636

FHERNMIBRITESRZ
B U A 365 563
5,347 5,199

t
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e PBRARMEE

13 DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS 13 EEME
(a) Directors’ Emoluments (a) EEM<
Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to Appendix BB R BT 8 175 BB R FHUERHIE
16 to the Listing Rules, section 383(1) of the Hong Kong 383(NER AR (BREZEEMmER) RO
Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies F2HEBRESHE T

(Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors)
Regulation, are as follows:

For the year ended 31 December 2020: HE2020F12A31HILEE

Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person's services as a director
whether of the Company or its subsidiary undertaking:
REARRES (FRARAAAHNBADEH) BEEAARNZHE:

Employer's

contribution

toa

Estimated retirement

money value benefit

of other scheme

Discretionary benefits iy
Fees Salary bonuses  EftFlE RIEA Total
fie i RETA #HAEREE HE [ h
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THR THR THR TEn THT TET

Chairman and Executive Director: IRRUTES.

Kee Chor Lin g - 5130 - 151 18 5299
Executive Directors: YTES:

Chan Yu Ching, Eugene RFE - 4,950 - 836 18 5,854
Chan Tat Cheong, Alan 3= - 2,100 - - 18 2118

Independent Non-executive Directors: ~ BUFHTES:

Mar, Selwyn SHE 400 - - - - 400
Li Sau Hung, Eddy EX ] 360 - - - - 360
Lo Kwok Kwei, David REE 360 - - - - 360

1120 12,180 - 1,037 54 14,391
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e MR
13 DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED) 13 EEME (&)
(a) Directors’ Emoluments (Continued) (a) EEM< (&)
For the year ended 31 December 2019: HE2019F12A31HILEE

Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person’s services as a director
wheth ompany or its subsidiary undertaking;
FEABEES( AEIRAMBARER) BRE AN 2B

Employer's

contribution

toa

Estimated retirement

money value benefit
of other

Discretionary benefits
Fees Salary bonuses & ¢
s e METL  (AHEEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT 77 Thn TR Thn Thr

Chairman and Executive Director: IRRHTES:

Kee Chor Lin irE - 5,130 - 166 18 5,314
Executive Directors; 4iES:

Chan Yu Ching, Eugene BFE - 4,602 - 193 18 4813
Chan Tat Cheong, Alan (3] - 2,100 - - 18 2,118
Wong Ching Ming, Stanley IR - - - - - -

Independent Non-executive Directors: ~ B FHTEE:

Mar, Selwyn ShE 400 - - - - 400
Li Sau Hung, Eddy EX 360 - - - - 360
Lo Kwok Kwei, David EEE 360 - - - - 360
1,120 11,832 - 359 54 13,365
Note: B3 -
1. Mr Wong Ching Ming, Stanley resigned from the 1. TFEHLELEBE2019F1 8108 EBETAR
office of Executive Director of the Company with effect FITES ENEEASEEBERES
from 10 January 2019 but will remain as the Business X

Development Director of the Group.

(b) Information About Loans, Quasi-loans (b) ERUES ZEFEZABRBREH
and Other Dealings in Favour of Directors ESHHBERASRACER EE
Controlled Bodies Corporate by and MREMRZZ2ER
Connected Entities with Such Directors
There are no loans, quasi-loans and other dealings in FABEAEE ZIEHEABERZE
favour of directors, controlled bodies corporate by and EEVHEERAITAZER EER
connected entities with such directors during the year RHAMZR 5 (20194 - &) o
(2019: Nil).
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13 DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)
(c) Directors’ Material Interests in Transactions,

Arrangements or Contracts

No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts
in relation to the Company’s business to which the
Company was a party and in which a director of the
Company had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the year (2019: Nil).

14 FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS
The five highest paid individuals during the year included
three (2019: three) directors, details of whose remuneration
are set out in Note 13 above.

Details of the remuneration of the remaining two (2019: two)
highest paid individuals during the year were as follows:

13

14

EEH< (A)

() EBRRZ ZHAEGNPZERE
m
ARA RS R E R AT AR T REA T
WERARTNEFEELMEREEAR
HMAF A NEMBSRIDATEZ E
AR5 RHREH 20195 : ) -

hEREHHES
FRALZRSHHELBIE=E (2019F : =4)
EF ABEEHH 2 HERR EXME3R.

FRRSBEE Q019% | WA ) 5HHHIERH
Wz Rt T

Salaries and allowances e KoERh
Pension scheme contributions RIS ETEIH K

2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT AT
1,836 1,810
36 36
1,872 1,846

The remuneration of the remaining two (2019: two) highest
paid individuals is within the following band:

H#pmE 019 MB)&=FMER 22
BEmA AT 4R R -

2019
20194

HK$'000
TAET

Between HK$500,000 to HK$999,999 71 F-500,0007% 7T £999,9997% 7T 2 2

No remuneration has been paid by the Group to the five
highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon
joining the Group, or as compensation for loss of office.
None of the five individuals with highest remuneration
waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during the Year
(2019: Nil).
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VPN

R ERER R

N =1

15 INCOME TAX

(a) Taxation in the Consolidated Statement of
Profit or Loss Represents:

Current tax: RVEARR IS :

- Hong Kong — &

- Outside Hong Kong — &AL
Over-provision in prior years T mEEE
Deferred tax (Note 32) EIEFRLIA (FTRE32)
Total tax charge for the year REEBRIAT H

15 FrE®t
(a) mEBBERZBER:

2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FATT
1,515 -
8,791 11,781
(1,781) (3,620)
8,525 8,161
(1,681) 8,531
6,844 16,692

Hong Kong Profits Tax has been provided at the rate
of 16.5% (2019: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable
profits arising in Hong Kong during the year. Taxes on
profits assessable elsewhere have been calculated at
the rates of tax prevailing in the jurisdictions in which
the Group operates, based on existing legislation,
interpretations and practices in respect thereof.

In accordance with the relevant tax rules and regulations
in Mainland China, three (2019: two) of the Group's
subsidiaries in Mainland China enjoy a preferential tax
rate of 15% (2019: 15%). Other subsidiaries of the
Group in Mainland China are subject to income taxes at
a statutory rate of 25% (2019: 25%).

Taxation for subsidiaries outside Hong Kong and
Mainland China is charged at the appropriate current
rates of taxation ruling in the relevant countries.

BERFERIEAFERE BRI (G5 E
R AR T E16.5% (20199F : 16.5% )
R - Hfth it = FERR BUR A1 2 B IE Th iR R
SEEEMERERR ZETHE  BIK
HRITED 2B REFIFE -

IR IR AR B A AR BB IS AR B ROE R - A&
B H R =R (20194 : M) A+ B At
2B AT EH15% (20194 : 15% ) 2
BEB R - RNEBME ML E A2 K
BRAF)/EIR25% (20194 : 25% ) 2 A E T
KRG IMFTSH o

R &8 & B A b 3 51T B 2 RIZR 4R AR
B B X A & AE R AR R

Annual Report 2020 % 137



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PBRARMEE

15 INCOME TAX (CONTINUED) 15 Frisst (&)
(b) Reconciliation Between Tax Expenses and (b) BERZESTERNIZEBH R
Accounting Profit at the Applicable Tax Rate B2 YR
A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit FARRBIREKRESHBARLEERT
before tax using the statutory rates for the countries/ BR,rIEEE 2 EEREGTE 2R BAT
jurisdictions in which the Company and the majority of WA EABERS  BRERBERTE
its subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax expense at the BT EERAT

effective tax rates is as follows:

2020 2019
20204 20194

HK$°000 HK$'000
TER T

Profit before tax B F5 A1 g ) 32,913 43,168

Tax calculated at domestic tax  #Z@E AN EARIE R

rates applicable to profits in i) 2 8 R
the respective countries FTEZHIE 7,941 9,719
Lower tax rate for specific BEMBARIER
subsidiaries BT = (622) (3.414)
Income not subject to tax BERBA (2,631) (3,229)
Effect of research and HEEINHBIRZ
development super deduction — F £ (2,744) (2,805)
Expenses not deductible for tax AT ERT B 37 H 7,901 6,732
Over-provision in prior years T FmREEE (1,781) (3,620)
Recognition of tax losses not MR A R MER
previously recognised ZBIEEE (478) (369)
Utilisation of tax losses not B A LA R ERTIA
previously recognised &8 (5.319) (416)
Reversal of tax losses previously 1 6] LA 1 #E 52
recognised 2 HIEERE - 4,444
Tax losses not recognised RiERIBEE 4,577 9,650
Tax charge at the Group’s BAREERKEX
effective rate AHEZBRIE N 6,844 20.8 16,692 38.7
The share of income tax attributable to joint ventures FEAh & & E PSR 4,764,000/ 7T
amounting to HK$4,764,000 (2019: HK$10,111,000) (20194F : 10,111,000/ 70 ) Bt A A 1BE
is included in “Share of results of joint ventures” in the R BEEEREZEE] -

consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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A PBERRMEE

15 INCOME TAX (CONTINUED)

() Tax Effect Relating to Each Components of
Other Comprehensive Income
Tax effect relating to each components of other
comprehensive income is as follows:

(9]

2020

15 Fri8%i (4&)

BHEMEEBART S EEZBIE
-2

81 E At 2R A B 5 MR 2 BB 2 a0
T

PACKES)

20204 20194
Before After After
tax Tax tax Before tax Tax tax
R AD B RE%E R HE KRB
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 SHKS000HK$ 000" =HK$ 000
TEx TFTHx TEx PHER TEem S Tk
Fair value (loss)/gain DRE(EE)
Ve €::
— Buildings held for own —F{EE R
use (Note 18) BF
(PfsE
18) (1,197) 299 (898) 3,333 (834) 2,499
Currency translation fERER
differences 124,839 (276) 124,563 (55,674) 484 (55,190)
Other comprehensive income EMZ2mEUA 123,642 23 123,665 (52,341) (350)  (52,691)
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16 EARNINGS PER SHARE
The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on
the profit for the Year attributable to equity holders of
the Company of HK$24,064,000 (2019: HK$31,578,000),
and the weighted average number of 475,548,000 (2019:
475,548,000) ordinary shares in issue during the Year.

16 BREF
BREXEFMDBEAD R BRERSEABGER
F 2 ' #124,064,0007% 7T (20194F : 31,578,000
BIL)RAFEEFHITEBER 2 NEFHE
475,548,000/% (2019%F : 475,548,0000% ) 51 & °

Issued and weighted average number of ordinary ERITEBERZMEFEH
shares
2020 2019
20204 2019%F
Issued ordinary shares at 1 January and MATRZE#TEERKR &
weighted average number of ordinary R1I2A3NEEBRKR 2
shares at 31 December I F 1988 475,548,000 475,548,000

The diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding to
assume conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.

The diluted earnings per share is the same as the basic
earnings per share as the Company's share options
outstanding during the Year and the year ended 31
December 2019 were anti-dilutive ordinary shares.

17 DIVIDENDS

The Board does not recommend final dividend for the Year
(2019: Nil).

140 Man Yue Technology Holdings Limited ¥R EEERAE

BREERENDARRABAAIEE 2 EE LR
Bt R B B BT T AR I F AR

Sy e
=
FTHE

ARARRIAFE REZ=2019F12A8318 1EF
2 RATEBIE D REEE LR REREE
B EGRERBFIEE -

17 BRE

EFE TEBREAFE ZRMEE (20195 :
&) e



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A PBERRMEE

18 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 18 Y% BERRE

(a) Reconciliation of Carrying Amount (a) EREIEZHER

Ownership

interests in

buildings
heldfor  Properties
ownuse leased for
aredat  ownuse
fair value arried

BALE atcost  Machinery  Fumniture

Skt fiA and and Motor Leaschold Construction

BBBRs JBzEf  equpment  fixtwes  vehices improvements in progress Total

fRREE BREENE HERRE GARRE E§ HENEEE  ARIR fat
HKS000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$000. HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
TT T&n Tn TAn TT T&n AT TAn

At January 2020 0051 318
Costor valuation BREL(AE 204685 100399 1,203,869 36,662 038 13931 3679 1,729,006
Accumuated depreciation ZifE - (18300 (97403 (30813) (10,054 (106,09) - (1062666)
(Qpening net carrying amount EfGESE 204,685 82,097 306,466 5849 230 EEWE)] 31679 666,340
Opening net canying amount at H00%18182

1 January 200 EEETE 204685 007 306466 5,849 230 B3 3619 666,340
Addions ¥ 3 2B 33348 956 - 6,057 24,250 671421
Modfications B - 3,160 - - - - = 3,160
Disposals il - - (8923) (1) () (509) - (9,486)
Deficit on revaluation (Note 15) EEER (M315) (1,197) - - - - - - (1.197)
Depreciaton for the year ERifE (5809  (1920)  (&2,09%) (1,708) (145) (7,907) - ()
Transfers by - - 346 - - 3,460 (3,806) -
Bxchange realignment EiAE 13,618 4510 18983 N 18 173 2,936 12,19
Closing net caying amount at H00E1283182

31 December 2020 FREETE 211,390 B 0816 5408 1577 36,070 5059 690973
At 31 December 2020 00128318
Costor vluation RAEIRE 1390 112650 1,289,099 39793 0% 157,09 55059 1,877,366
Accumuated depreciation ZiffE - (930 (80gm3)  (438)  (1079)  (121009) - (11863%)
(Closing net carrying amount EREESE 21139 13383 308,126 5408 151 36,070 55,059 690,973
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18 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 18 M¥ BWEKRE (F)
(CONTINUED)
(a) Reconciliation of Carrying Amount (a) BREEZHER (&)
(Continued)

Qwnership
EE
buldings
heldfor ~ Properties
ownuse  leased for
carried at own Use

fair value arted
atcost  Machinery — Fumiture
] and and Motor Leasehold  Construction
equipment fitures vehices  improvements —in progress
& E EL B ERIR
BKSO00  HKSO0D  HKSOO0  HKSOOD  HKSO00
Tin Tin BT Th1 Tin
At January 2019 H019%1 418
Cost or valuation RAESfEE 1173 - 17909 36,630 305 13984 0683 1600414
Accumulated deprecaton ZithE - I € T 1) 0997 (103304 - (104810
Opening net carying amount ENEmEE Mm - 9 6,589 308 /W 068 5756
Opening net canying amount at H09E1A182
1 January 2019 EEETE 1173 - 975 6,589 3018 35,980 0683 5760
Impact on iniial application of HKFRS 16 1S ERE T AR 28]
ZI6% 52 - 70,470 - - - - - 70170
Opening net carying amount at R09E IRRERS
1 January 2019 per HKFRS 16 UEREENS 6T E
EEFE M7m 00 297561 6,589 308 3590 063 65T
Adtons g i 1628 59,295 831 - 2941 46 10998
Disposals it - (1,440) (1212) 13 (19 - - 2684)
Surplus on evaluation Note 15) EfAE% (M) 333 - - - - - - 333
Depreciaton for the year EmAE BI3) (19%31) (1349 (1,181) (650) (£977) - (0
Transfers ] - - 886 - - - (8%6) -
Bichange realignment )% (4,539) (1,730 6612 (17 ) (107 (o4 (1437)
(Closing net carrying amount at A9 128318
31 December 2019 EXEEFE 204,685 00T 306466 5809 230 BB 367 66630
At 31 December 2019 H019%12831R
Cost or valuation RAEAfE WL 100399 1,203,869 36,662 1381 139331 30679 1709006
Accumulated depreciation ZithE - (1830 (897403) (30813) (10,054 (106,094) - (1,062,666)
Closing net camying amount EREEEE 204,685 0097 6466 5849 230 337 369 666,340
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A PBERRMEE

18 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(CONTINUED)

(b) Fair Value Measurement of Properties

0]

Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the fair value of the
Group's properties measured at the end of the
reporting period on a recurring basis, categorised
into the three-level fair value hierarchy as defined
in HKFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement. The level
into which a fair value measurement is classified
is determined with reference to the observability
and significance of the inputs used in the valuation
technique as follows:

—  Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using
only Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted
prices in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities at the measurement date

—  Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using
Level 2 inputs i.e. observable inputs which
fail to meet Level 1, and not using significant
unobservable inputs. Unobservable inputs
are inputs for which market data are not
available

—  Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using
significant unobservable inputs

18 W% BEKRE (&)

(b) MEZAREFE

0]

>

REER
TREJNAEEMENRS BRIZE
FUHREFEZDAME LRREE
BATSREERIE 1398 [ R ERTE | AT
REIFEARBERDE  RAENE
ERT2RAERMAMBEAREZ
ERMEREREEENT

- FERIGE: BERAFEIARE
A EZANE BIRGE
RHEREEXABEEERTS

—  F2RPIEE  ERE2EH A
BB E2 A nE ITAFEE
1RBIZ A BRBABEAKRE
EREATABRBARE T
ATBRE ABURIEEERG TS
Bz ARE

— FIMAHEERERTAE
R ABBAEZARE

Fair value measurements categorised into

AREHEBZDE

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

S8R5 E28 5 B3 Al
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
TERr TEr THET

Recurring fair value measurements &E M A AEFE

Buildings held for own use HIEERCETF

— Mainland China —HE A
At 31 December 2020 A20209F12A31H - - 211,390
At 31 December 2019 72019912 A31H - - 204,685
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(CONTINUED)

(b) Fair Value Measurement of Properties
(Continued)

(i) Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

There were no transfers among Level 1, 2 and 3
during the Year. The Group's policy is to recognise
transfers into and transfers out of fair value
hierarchy levels as of the date of the event or
change in circumstances that caused the transfer.

The Group's buildings held for own use
were revalued as at 31 December 2020
by Memfus Wong Surveyors Limited, an
independent professionally qualified valuer, at
an aggregate value of HK$211,390,000 (2019:
HK$204,685,000). A deficit on revaluation of
HK$1,197,000 (2019: surplus on revaluation
of HK$3,333,000), resulting from the above
valuations, has been charged to the relevant
asset revaluation reserve. Had these buildings
been carried at historical cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, their
carrying values would have been approximately
HK$123,954,000 (2019: HK$122,223,000).

The Group’s management has discussion with
the surveyors on the valuation assumptions and
valuation results when the valuation is performed

at each annual reporting date.
(ii) Information about Level 3 fair value
measurements
Valuation techniques
Buildings held for Depreciated replacement

OWn Use cost approach
- Mainland China

input and range

Construction costs

per sq. m. ranged from
RMB1,650 to RMB2,800
(2019: RMB1,750 to

18 ¥ -BERRE (HE)

(b) MEZRAAREE (4

0]

(ii)

)

il

AREZER (&)

REFZAN - FVRR - B2 5 R E34R
Bz EN R AREE L BER AR
HIRERARERHEE 2 EH
SRR EEE B ERA B A
ﬁj o

RNEERFEEREFEHRBILEE
AERGHEMEMAERNTMATER
NEEHEN2020F12A318 2
#2{H /211,390,000 7T (20194 :
204,685,000/8 7T) » il fhBELE
h B 414 $£1,197,00058 7T (20194 :
& {4 22 643,333,000/ 7T ) - © 1% 48
MEESHEE BRASEFTEE
SRR 2T E RBEF B
A1) L BR T (B FE 49 £123,954,000/5 7T
(2019%F : 122,223,000 7T, ) °

RNEEHE B BHERGES A%E
R ERR R ARG RS
BT 348 o

oo

BRAFERBDAETFEZER

TUER

fhER% BAYBREE

RlEERZBT  EEE
~ER KAk

FEHREEAA
NTARE1 65072
AE#28007
(2019

AR 7507 E
ANEH33507)



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A PBERRMEE

18 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(CONTINUED)

(b) Fair Value Measurement of Properties
(Continued)

(ii)

Information about Level 3 fair value
measurements (Continued)

Level 3 fair values of buildings located in Mainland
China have been derived using the depreciated
replacement cost approach, which is based on an
estimate of the market value for the existing use
of the land, plus the current cost of replacement
of the existing structures less deductions for
physical deterioration and all relevant forms of
obsolescence and optimisation.

The movements during the year in the balance
of these Level 3 fair value measurements are as
follows:

18 W% - BERZE (&)

(b) ME 222 RETE (4

(i)

)

i

FHEBRBIAABETEZES
(%)

R BRI BF 2 FERBIAR
BENAFTEEERALER -TES
ERAEAERBER L mEZ
B RER SNEEREEEN
BERA BREREREBRURA
BEREAVAZRERE(LZHE-

FIWMBAREH B2 EBERFE
ZEEIMT

2020
20204

2019
20194
HK$'000
T

HK$’000
FER

Buildings held for own use FIEBRZEF

— Mainland China —FE A

At 1 January M1ATR
Additions NE
(Deficit)/surplus on revaluation =H (BB B
Depreciation charge for the year ANEEFTEF L
Exchange realignment M H B

At 31 December M12A31H

204,685 211,773
93 27
(1,197) 3,333
(5,809) (5,913)
13,618 (4,535)
211,390 204,685

(Deficit)/surplus on revaluation and exchange
realignment of buildings held for own use are
recognised in other comprehensive income
in “asset revaluation reserve” and “exchange
fluctuation reserve” respectively.

FIFERBFZERRERFHEZ
(BR) /BHO5IRE2EEAG [E
EEGHFEE] R EXRERFE]

Bl
o °©
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e PBRARMEE

18 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(CONTINUED)

(c) Prepayment on Purchases of Property, Plant
and Equipment
The amount of prepayment of property, plant and
equipment expected to be transferred to property,
plant and equipment after more than one year is
HK$93,902,000 (2019: HK$74,521,000).

(d) Right-of-use Assets
The analysis of the net book value of right-of-use assets
by class of underlying asset is as follows:

(9]

(d)

18 W% - BERZRE (&)

BEVEX BERRBZANRE

TEHEEE —FULYE BERREZ
Y% - B M A% TR 3R IE 593,902,000/%8
7 (20194F : 74,521,000/ 7T ) °

FEHEEE
BB EERNSMERAEEE 2 FEETF
BT

Properties leased for own use, B A EWE

carried at depreciated cost AT ER AR

Ownership interests in leasehold #F{EE BHAE b2
land held for own use, P e s - e
carried at amortised cost, PRABI B - I sATH &
with remaining lease term N F35245F
between 35 and 45 years (FfF5EE19)

(Note 19)

Ownership interests in leasehold #F{EE B EEF 2
buildings held for own FiB#EER EARE
use, carried at fair value, HIER - FghFAE HR
with remaining lease term N F35245F

between 35 and 45 years

Ownership interests in leasehold A& & Y%~ FrE #&
investment property, carried B B A ARBENER
at fair value, with remaining FIsp A EH (MI5E20)
lease term (Note 20)

— 50 years or more —50F 5 Ak
— between 25 years and — N F25E50F
50 years

73,343 82,097
61,305 59,084
211,390 204,685
2,305 2,166
157,555 156,090
505,898 504,122
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A PBERRMEE

18 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 18 % MERRE (&)
(CONTINUED)
(d) Right-of-use Assets (Continued) (d) EREEE (&)
The analysis of expense items in relation to leases BN ERTHRAZEEAE2FAXIEE D
recognised in profit or loss is as follows: GIBCENE

2020 2019
20204 20194

HK$’000 HK$'000
TR TAT

Depreciation charge or amortisation 1R iEFEEELERIZI D 2

charge of right-of-use assets by CREEENE
class of underlying asset: XS T
— Properties leased for own use —BRHEEYE 19,207 19,531
— Ownership interests in leasehold —HIEEREELH
land held for own use 2B 1,495 1,446
20,702 20,977
Interest on lease liabilities (Note 11) HEBEHME (FFE11) 3,627 4,391
Expense relating to short-term leases ~ ERfGHAFAE R HAM A E
and other leases with remaining ERsAX  FBHEE!
lease term of 12 months or less 1248 A 3 AR 775 1,687
Expense relating to leases of low-value EEXEEEEMEEHZ
assets, excluding short-term leases Y TEEREEEE
of low-value assets ZREIHE - 6
During the year, additions to right-of-use assets were REREREEENRE /2,723,000 7T
HK$2,723,000 (2019: HK$34,628,000). This amount is (2019%F : 34,628,000 7T ) ° #% & FAELFTTH
related to the capitalised lease payments payable under EMEETENERNMEESNRER-
new tenancy agreements.
Details of total cash outflow for leases and the maturity MEzHeREAEREEBESIEA
analysis of lease liabilities are set out in Notes 28(c) and DT 2 FHAD RIE M EE28(0 K31 °

31 respectively.
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e PBRARMEE

18 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(CONTINUED)

(d) Right-of-use Assets (Continued)

Notes:

1.

Properties leased for own use

The Group has obtained the right to use some properties
as its warehouses, factory and office premises through
tenancy agreements. The leases typically run for an initial
period of two to five years. Lease payments are usually
increased every two to five years to reflect market rentals.

Ownership interests in leasehold land and buildings held
for own use

The Group holds several factory buildings for its
electronics business, where its manufacturing facilities
are primarily located. The Group is the registered owner
of these property interests, including the whole or part
of undivided share in the underlying land. Lump sum
payments were made upfront to acquire these property
interests from their previous registered owners, and there
are no ongoing payments to be made under the terms of
the land leases.

19 PREPAID LAND PREMIUM
The movements in prepaid land premium during the year
were as follows:

18 W% - BERZRE (&)

d) EREEE (&)
GEE
1. BREEn%

AEECDEBEEAGZRENRE THE
ERERRE  THEMAEYE 2 ERE-
HE—RYVT REREF -HENKBE
T2ESFEMN URMRTISHES

2. RFHEEREELMRETHOMAEEES

AREREETEBRAEZRIEAEZ
MELAEREUEES I AEERZ
St (BEAR LB 2D
RRIDEED) 2 BFLET - MAIBRLET
WHEZ S ERERENR N —F 6B
B BURFRIRE LA SRR K

19 THAERNK
FRLMBEBENRZ EHMT

2019

2019%F

HK$'000

FHIT

Carrying amount at 1 January M1A1TR ZERMEE 59,084 61,858
Amortisation during the year F R Y (1,495) (1,446)
Exchange realignment ME 3 T 3,716 (1,328)
Carrying amount at 31 December R12A318 Z2EEmE 61,305 59,084
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ma

BA RS R T

20 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

At 1 January

(Loss)/gain on fair value adjustment
(Note 7(c))

Exchange realignment

At 31 December

20 REYHE
2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$'000 HK$'000
FH T T T
M1 A1 158,256 147,778
AREARZ (BE) RS
(M3E7(c)) (3,564) 12,245
VE & 5,168 (1,767)
128318 159,860 158,256

(@) Amounts Recognised in Profit or Loss for

Investment Properties

(a) RBREVENEBERRBRAZEH

2020
20204

HK$'000
FER

Rental income (Note 7(b)) He WA (H3E7(0b)) 3,263 2,406
Direct operating expenses from EEBeRAZYEZ
property that generated rental HEEKZEER
income (252) (307)
3,011 2,099
(b) Fair Value Measurement of Properties (b) MEZRAAETE

(i) Fair value hierarchy

(i) DARERF

The following table presents the fair value of the T&REVNAREBMIENRE BPARIZLE
Group's properties measured at the end of the BUEEHEZANE WIEREA
reporting period on a recurring basis, categorised BTG R ERIZE 135 [ AnfErt =] Fr
into the three-level fair value hierarchy as defined REERANREERDE - RAERE

in HKFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement. The level

ERT2RGETEMBBABEZ

into which a fair value measurement is classified AEREREEHEFTHT:
is determined with reference to the observability
and significance of the inputs used in the valuation

technique as follows:

-~ Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using —  BIRAEE EERAERAE

only Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted
prices in active markets for identical assets or

A EZANE BIRNGE
RHEREEX A EEERTS

liabilities at the measurement date ARG TERE
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e PBRARMEE

20 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED) 20 wREYHE (E)

(b) Fair Value Measurement of Properties (b) MEZAAEFE (8)
(Continued)

(i) Fair value hierarchy (Continued) (i) 2AEHRH (&)

-~ Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using —  E2HBEHE - ERE22RAEA
Level 2 inputs i.e. observable inputs which FRHAE2ANE NTKFEE
fail to meet Level 1, and not using significant 1Rz BEE ABIEARE
unobservable inputs. Unobservable inputs B AE R AT E 2 A SR -
are inputs for which market data are not A ER R A BURIE BUEES TS
available Bz ABUR

- Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using — EMMFEE:FRAEARTAEH
significant unobservable inputs RRABBHAEZANE

Fair value measurements
at 31 December 2020 categorised into
R2020512A31A AR EERZ D E
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

SR 24 5l 355
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT TERT TET

Recurring fair value measurements ZEM D AEFE

Investment properties BREME
— Completed residential properties -BERIFEME

- Mainland China —FRE A - - 2,305
— Completed industrial property ~BERITEME

— Mainland China —HER - - 17,550
- Completed commercial properties ~ —BE R LEEDE

- Hong Kong BB - - 74,300
— Under development commercial —~BRTEENE

property — Mainland China —FRE A - - 65,705

- - 159,860
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A PBERRMEE

20 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED) 20 wREYHE (E)

(b) Fair Value Measurement of Properties (b) MEZDAALEFE (B)
(Continued)
(i) Fair value hierarchy (Continued) (i) AREHRH (EF)
Fair value measurements
at 31 December 2019 categorised into
RR2019F 12 A3 B AR EFEZH
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
FE28 7Bl 34 7
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET TET

F1R 7
HK$'000
THTT

Recurring fair value measurements EEMAAEFE
Investment properties REWME
— Completed residential properties —BERIAEYE
- Mainland China — A - - 2,166
— Completed industrial property -BRIIEDE
— Mainland China —HE A - - 16,156
— Completed commercial properties ~ —B 5 LREME
- Hong Kong Bk - - 78,200
— Under development commercial —BRPEENE
property — Mainland China — B A - - 61,734
- - 158,256

There were no transfers among Level 1, 2 and 3
during the Year. The Group's policy is to recognise
transfers into and transfers out of fair value
hierarchy levels as of the date of the event or
change in circumstances that caused the transfer.

The Group's investment properties were revalued
as at 31 December 2020 by Ravia Global Appraisal
Advisory Limited, an independent professionally
qualified valuer. At the end of each reporting
period, the directors update their assessment
of the fair value of each property, taking into
account the most recent independent valuations.
The directors determine a property’s value within
a range of reasonable fair value estimates. The
Group management has discussion with the
surveyors on the valuation assumptions and
valuation results when the valuation is performed
at each interim and annual reporting date.

REFER - FER - B248 5 K B3R
Bl F EERE  REBZBEARN
HREHRRARERSZHER 254
FRREEE A EREEEZ-

2020128310 AEBZEEY
¥HBUEEAERHEMBLRK
HEEABRARERHE-BER
BREHHERSEIFSYHREY
ERAREZFE EPC BT
B hE-EEAAEZAREMET
HEETWEZEBE - REPHEEF
E ke ARG ER  REEEE
Bt G ERE L EESRERSME

TTalam o
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e PBRARMEE

20 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

(b) Fair Value Measurement of Properties
(Continued)

(ii)

Information about Level 3 fair value

measurements

Investment properties -
Residential - Mainland
China

Investment properties -
Industrial - Mainland
China

Investment properties -
Commercial - Hong Kong

Investment property - under
development - Mainland
China

There were no changes to the valuation techniques

during the year.

Valuation techniques

Direct comparison
approach

Direct comparison
approach

Direct comparison
approach

Residual approach

Unobservable input
and range

Discount on quality of
the building of 6%
(2019: discount of 0%)

Premium on quality of
the building of 20%
(2019: premium of 5%)

Discount on quality of
the building ranged

from 0% to 7%

(2019: discount of 0% to
4%)

Gross development value
per sg.m. of RMBY, 150
(2019: RMBY,150)

152 Man Yue Technology Holdings Limited B#%EHHEEERAFE

20 REWE (&)

(b) MEZRAREFE (&)

(i) BRAFERBAAEFEZEHR

RENE-
=z
~ER

FEnE-
I%
~hERH

Bang-
5%

EYES
B
~ER

fhER%

BRUBA

BRILEE

BRI

HBEEE

TURR
BAYBRER

BFEEHTO%
(2019% : 5330% )

BTEEEBN%
(2019% - 5 E5%)

BTEEHE
NF0%ET%
(2019% : Bh30%
Z4%)

FYRABRAE
ARH9,1507 (20195 :
AEH91507)

RARFEER GETELETHNE

& o



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R IS ERRMEE

20 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

(b) Fair Value Measurement of Properties
(Continued)

(ii)

Information about Level 3 fair value
measurements (Continued)

For the completed investment properties, their
fair values are generally derived using the direct
comparison approach, which basically uses the
comparable sales transactions as available in the
relevant market to derive the fair value of the
properties. Where such information is not available
the directors consider information from a variety of
sources including:

(i) current prices in an active market for
properties of different nature or recent prices
of similar properties in less active markets,
adjusted to reflect those differences;

(i) discounted cash flow projections based on
reliable estimates of future cash flows; or

(i) capitalised income projections based upon a
property’s estimated net market income, and
a capitalisation rate derived from an analysis
of market evidence.

For the investment property under development,
its fair value is derived using the residual approach.
This valuation method is essentially a means of
valuing the land by reference to its development
potential by deducting development costs, land
premium, together with developer’s profit and risk
from the estimated capital value of the proposed
development assuming completed as at the date
of valuation.

20 REWE (&)

(b) MEZAREE (K)

(i) FEERAQAAETEZER

(%)

HREZTIREMEMS HOAER
FHAERLBRER -ERLEE
EAXEMBEREMS LA EHZAE
HEHEXHEBMERRE WA
EMGEREMN EREEEKA
ZHEZER B

() TREEZMERERMS 2R
ﬁEﬁ%iiﬁﬁM%%%FTiﬂ%ﬁ
15 2 MBS (AR IR Lt

RIEHFRE)
(i) RERFRSRE A EMEFM
EHZERBERETER X

(i) REBEWEZEETIHRATFERIA
NMRETMSREDMAEZER
et =miEH 2 B AL ATE

Al

RBERPEREVEMNS  HAREMN
RRBEEEESR -ZHENEEE
EREREERERNMOERIEX
BBIVRE RN - LS AR
RAEMGFENEE G ERAR M
DEHBRENH TIETHE
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RE SRR
20 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED) 20 REWME (&)
(b) Fair Value Measurement of Properties (b) MEZAAEFE (8)
(Continued)
(ii) Information about Level 3 fair value (i) BRAFEIHBIAAEBETFEZEHR
measurements (Continued) (£&)
The movements during the year in the balance FABMRANRAANBEHEEHRET
of these Level 3 fair value measurements are as /I
follows:

Investment properties

REMHE

Mainland

Hong Kong China

BE R A 3t

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FTEL
At 1 January 2020 R202061 418 78,200 80,056 158,256

(Loss)/gain on fair value adjustment AREFRBZ
(Note 7(c)) (E18), W=
(M3E7(0)) (3,900) 336 (3,564)

Exchange realignment fE N R - 5,168 5,168
At 31 December 2020 72020124318 74,300 85,560 159,860

Investment properties

HEME
Mainland

Hong Kong China Total

BB B A i @t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FHET FET

At 1 January 2019 R2019F1H1A 69,600 78,178 147,778
Gain on fair value adjustment RABERE 2 ME

(Note 7(c)) (FEE7(0)) 8,600 3,645 12,245

Exchange realignment ER R - (1,767) (1,767)

At 31 December 2019 7201912 A31H 78,200 80,056 158,256
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A PBERRMEE

20 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

(b) Fair Value Measurement of Properties
(Continued)

(i)

Information about Level 3 fair value
measurements (Continued)

Fair value adjustment of investment properties is
recognised in the line item “other net (loss)/gain”
on the face of the consolidated statement of profit
or loss.

All the (loss)/gain recognised in profit or loss for
the year arise from the properties held at the end
of the reporting period.

The Group leases out investment properties under
operating leases. The leases typically run for an
initial period of one to two years, with an option
to renew the lease after that date at which time all
terms are renegotiated. None of the leases includes
variable lease payments.

At 31 December 2020, the Group had total future
minimum lease receivable under non-cancellable
operating leases as follows:

20 REWE (&)
(b) MEZ2DAAEE (&)

(i) FEASRBIQAABTEZESR
(%)
REMEZ AREABREAERR
[Efh (BE), W F5EEE N

27
e

RERE B A RS - PR RN FE AR
BWEEEZ (BR) aEREER
R -

AEBERBEEHOLEREDE-
ZEMERBNE R —EME ¥
ARZAREEEES ERAEHN
HEREMEGRR -HEEEENZA
B

#20209F12 4318 » REERE A
BUsE SR 2 BRARSERS 2
BN

2020 2019

2020F 20194

HK$'000 HK$'000

FTET FHET

Within 1 year 15 A 695 727
After 1 year but within 5 years BB 1FERSFR = 654
695 1,381
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e PBRARMEE

21 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 21 BRAAERERANIEZEREE
PROFIT OR LOSS

2020 2019
2020F 20194F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT T

Non-current investments FEENERIR &
Equity securities N 17,466 9,154
Insurance policy investments R E 15,615 15,279
33,081 24,433

Current investments VAR &

Equity securities N 14 17

ok

Information about the fair value measurement of the ERAARBEREBEEANINEZ CREEZ ARER
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss is included = AR & BHER M FE39(f) ©
in Note 39(f).
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A PBERRMEE

22 INTANGIBLE ASSETS 2 B|LEE

At 1 January 2020, net of

202051 818 -

Computer
software

EhaEms

HK$°000
TERT

e BT

Brand

Name Goodwill
mE
HK$'000

TR

HK$°000
TR

Total
et
HK$'000
FHR

accumulated amortisation bR R AT EE - 1,518 3 1,521
Amortisation provided during the FRHHEEE

year - (237) - (237)
Exchange realignment PE X % - 84 = 84
At 31 December 2020, net of FR2020F12A31H

accumulated amortisation bR 2ET#E - 1,365 3 1,368
Cost RAE 3,885 2,483 3 6,371
Accumulated amortisation ZETEEE (3,885) (1,118) = (5,003)
Net carrying amount REFEE - 1,365 3 1,368
At 1 January 2019, net of R2019F1 7418 -

accumulated amortisation bR R AT 61 1,719 3 1,783
Amortisation provided during the FREHEE

year 61) (228) - (289)
Exchange realignment ME 3 I8 - 27 - 27
At 31 December 2019, net of HR2019%128318 -

accumulated amortisation bR 2T E - 1,518 3 1,521
Cost RAE 3,885 2,334 3 6,222
Accumulated amortisation 2T (3,885) (816) - (4,701)
Net carrying amount REEE - 1,518 3 1,521

Amortisation of HK$237,000 (2019: HK$289,000) is included
in the “administrative expenses” of the consolidated

statement of profit or loss.

# $5237,0007% 7T (20194F : 289,0005 7T ) 5 A
EBERIITHER] -
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e PBRARMEE

23 SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows:

Accord Advance Limited

hERRAR ¢

Dongguan Luminous Town Electric
Co, Ltd.*
REBHETERAA

Dongguan Manixon New Materials and
Components Company Limited *

RENEHRHHTHERAE

Forward Electronics (Dongguan)
Company Limited *
BEEET (RR)ARLT

Foshan Rifeng Electronic Co., Ltd.
BLEYETERAR

Fu Tak (Qingyuan) Electronic Foil
Company Limited *
EE(BR)ETREERAT

High Merit Group Limited

Place of
incorporation/
registration and
operations
AL/
ZfREEHE
British Virgin Islands
ZBRUES

Mainland China
BRI

Mainland China
REIRA

Mainland China
HERL

Mainland China
HER

Mainland China
HEA

British Virgin Islands
ZBRUAES

23 MIEAT
FEMBATERIT

Nominal value

of issued and Percentage of

paid-up/ equity attributable

registered to the Company
capital RAREERREDL
BRIRARKRA 2019
HE/EREs 2019E

Ordinary US$10 100 100
LRRI0ET

Registered 74.86 74.86
HK$11,550,000

HMER

11,550,000/ 7

Registered 100 100
1S$9,590,000

HER

9,590,000% T

Registered 100 100
RMBS5,000,000

HfExR

AR 5,000,000

Registered 100 100
US$1,000,000

Hf &R

1,000,000%

Registered 100 100
RMB11,000,000

AMEAR

AR #11,000,0007

Ordinary US$1 100 100
LERIET

Principal activities

IRER

Investment holding

REER

Manufacture and
sale of electronic
components

RERHEE Tl

Manufacture and
sale of electronic
components

RERHEE Tl

Manufacture and

sale of electronic
components
BERBES Tl

Manufacture and
sale of electronic
components

RERHEETILh

Manufacture and
sale of electronic
components

RERHEE Tl

Investment holding

BB
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A PBERRMEE

23 MEBAT (&)
TEMBATNERIT : (&)

23 SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows:

(Continued)

Place of
incorporation/
registration and
operations
AL/
AR EEHE

Nominal value
of issued and
paid-up/

Percentage of
equity attributable
registered to the Company
capital KAAEERRE DL
BRARMERE 2019
HE/EREs 20194

Principal activities

IERE

Jiangxi Telexon Electronics 1 Mainland China Registered 100 100 Manufacture and
Company Limited * HE R RMBA40,000,000 sale of electronic
IRELEEFERAA HHER components
AR #40,000,0007 HEREERT M
Johnstone International Limited British Virgin Islands ~ Ordinary US$1 100 100 Investment holding
WasEERARAR EBRUES LEREL RERR
Kunshan Hongzheng Electric Co., Ltd. 1 Mainland China Registered 74.86 7486 Manufacture,
BILEESTERAR ME R US$5,300,000 processing and sale of
HMER electronic components
53000005 BE MIREE
Bk
Luminous Town Electric Co., Ltd. Taiwan Registered 74.86 7486 Investment holding
BHETRNERATA R TIW$668,308,610 REER
HMER
£7%668,308,6107
Man Fat International Trading (Shanghai) 1 Mainland China Registered 100 100 Trading of electronic
Company Limited * PR U5$200,000 components
EXERES (L) ARAA HER BBl
200,000% T
Man Jin Electronics (Shenzhen) 1 Mainland China Registered 100 100 Trading of electronic
Company Limited * HE R HK$3,500,000 components
EEET(RINERAR HfExR BEETIH
3,500,000/ 1
Man Yue (China) Investment Limited * 1 Mainland China Registered 100 100 Investment holding
B (B REBRAT hERH, US$30,000,000 REBR
HMER
30,000,000% 7
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23 SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 23 HMEAT (&)
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: FEMBARERMT : (B)
(Continued)
Nominal value
Place of of issued and Percentage of
incorporation/ paid-up/ equity attributable
registration and registered to the Company
operations capital ALARGRAE A
HMRL/ BETRARZRE 2019 Principal activities
AL EELE HE/EmEx 019F  IEER
Man Yue Electronics Company Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2, 100 100 Trading of electronic
ENEFBRAA Bk Non-voting deferred components
HK$3,000,000 BEE T
Lakdn
ERFRELR
3,000,000/
Man Yue Holdings (BVI) Limited 2 British Virgin Islands ~ Ordinary US$10,000 100 100 Investment holding
EBRUES L15%10,000% 7T REER
Man Yue Technology (China) Ltd 1 Mainland China Registered 100 100 Investment holding
EARS (hE)BRAT hERL US$48,000,000 REZR
AMEAR
48,000,000% 7
Man Yue Technology Limited British Virgin Islands/ ~ Ordinary US$10 100 100 Investment holding
BRBRERAT Hong Kong LRRI0ET REZR
AERAHE/BH
Manixon Electronics Company Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS1 100 100 Trading of electronic
EFEETERAR Bk LRRIET components
BEE Il
MLPC Electronics Company Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$100 100 100 Trading of electronic
BEEAETHRAH Bk L@RI00%T components
EEE Tl
MMS Electronics Company Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 100 100 Trading of Electronic
EREFERAA Bk TERIET components
EEETIh
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AR
23 SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 23 HMEAT (&)
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: FEMBARIERMT : (&)
(Continued)
Nominal value
Place of of issued and Percentage of
incorporation/ paid-up/ equity attributable
registration and registered to the Company
operations capital ALARGRAE AL
FMRL/ BETRARRE 2019 Principal activities
AREEEHE HE/EmEx 019  FEEE
MMS Logistics Company Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,000 100 100 Trading of electronic
2 EiER 10,0008 components
BEETIH
Rifeng Qingyuan Electronic Co., Ltd. 1 Mainland China Registered 100 100 Manufacture and sale
RE(FE)ETERAA mE R HK$80,000,000 of raw materials
AMEA HERBERMH
80,000,000% 7T
Rihong (Yaan) Electronics Co., Ltd.* 1 Mainland China Registered 100 100 Manufacture and sale
A (BR)ETRRARA hEIR US$23,000,000 of raw materials
HMER HERBERME
23,000,000
Samxon Electronic Components Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 100 100 Trading of electronic
—RETEHERAA Bk LERET components
BEEETIH
Samxon Electronics (Dongguan) Co., Ltd. 1 Mainland China Registered 100 100 Manufacture and
ER=FEF(RR)ERAT ER US$96,775,000 sale of electronic
HHER components
96,775,000%7C RERHEE Tl
Searange Investment Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 100 100 Trading of equity
BRREARAA 26 TERET investments
Splendid Skill Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands ~ Ordinary US$10 100 100 Investment holding
RBRNAES LaEk0ET RERR

Annual Report 2020 3 161



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PBRARMEE

23 SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 23 MEAT (&)
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: FEMBARERMT : (B)
(Continued)
Nominal value
Place of of issued and Percentage of
incorporation/ paid-up/ equity attributable
registration and registered to the Company
operations capital ALARGRAE A
HMRL/ BETRARZRE 2020 2019 Principal activities
AL EELE HE/EmEx 2020% 019 FEEE
Stand New Enterprise Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 100 100 Investment holding
URRFARAA &R LRRIEL REER
Starzeon Electronics Company Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 100 100 Trading of electronic
EEXETERAR Bk TERIET components
EEE i
Starzeon Electronics (Dongguan) Co., Ltd. * 1 Mainland China Registered 100 100 Manufacture and
EERET(RR)EBAF hER US$15,000,000 sale of electronic
HtExR components
15,000,000% T HERBEEF Ll
TradeUNIT Limited British Virgin Islands/ ~ Ordinary 100 100 Trading of raw materials
HEZBRAT " Hong Kong HK$9,500,000 EERMH

RERAHE/BE  LBKR9500,0005 T

Walters Electronics (Dongguan) 1 Mainland China Registered 100 100 Manufacture and
Company Limited HEA RMBS5,000,000 sale of electronic
EETET(RR)ERAA HHER components
AR 5,000,000 HERHES TN
Walters Electronics (Qingyuan) 1 Mainland China Registered 100 100 Manufacture and
Company Limited FEIAL 1S$30,000,000 sale of electronic
EETET(FR)BRAA HMER components
30,000,000% T RERHES TN
Wuxi Man Yue Electronics 1 Mainland China Registered 100 100 Manufacture and
Company Limited BRI US$42,000,000 sale of electronic
ERENETERAA HMER components
42,000,000 7T RERHES M
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FE IR MR
23 SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 23 MEAR (&)
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: FEMBARIERMT : (&)
(Continued)
Nominal value
Place of of issued and Percentage of
incorporation/ paid-up/ equity attributable
registration and registered to the Company
operations capital ALARGRAE AL
FMRL/ BETRARRE 2019 Principal activities
AREEEHE HE/EREx 019  FEEE
X-CON Electronics Limited British Virgin Islands/ ~ Ordinary US$1 100 100 Trading of electronic
X-CONETAR AR Hong Kong LERIET components
EBRUBE /AR BEETIH
Xinjiang Join Yue Electronics New 1 Mainland China Registered 100 100 Manufacture and sale
Materials Company Ltd. HEIR US$8,000,000 of raw materials
MERREFHITRERAR &R BEREERMH
8,000,000% T
Yuk Wah Electronics Company Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$80,000 100 100 Investment holding
FEETERRA B LiR1R80,0005 T REZR
LT HTE R ER A 1 Mainland China Registered 75 75 Manufacture and sale
hER RMB10,000,000 of chemical material
HfExR HERHEN IR
AR 10,000,0007
BEREETERAA 1 Mainland China Registered 100 100 Manufacture and
RE AL RMB2,500,000 sale of electronic
HHER components
AR 2,500,000 HEREES TN
Notes: BT -
1. The subsidiaries are registered as wholly-foreign-owned 1. WEWBRARDNREFREANERTMRAINIE

enterprises under the laws of Mainland China.
2. Shares held directly by the Company. 2.

# The Company name in Chinese is a direct translation of the #
registered English name for the purpose of identification.

* The company name in English is a direct translation of the *

registered Chinese name for the purpose of identification.

BERE-
ARBEERA 2K

X AR B AEM R ARz B REE - E M)
Rl

BXA A BT AN S B2 EERE
Al
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23 SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 23 MEAT (&)
All the subsidiaries of the Company are limited liability RARFENMB AR ABREELRA -
companies.
The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, ERANARFIMBARI N EESRATEFE
in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results AEEEEIRKAEREEFEEEZLD 2
for the Year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets B AT

of the Group.

The following table lists out the information relating to TREINBEAREEE TG EARFERRR
Luminous Town Electric Co., Ltd. (“Luminous Town"), the s ([FEERRREER]) 2B AR E T
only subsidiary of the Group which has a material non- B BERAT (MBI ) 2 ER - T E25 2 B
controlling interest (“NCI”). The summarised financial BEBERTM AR EHERIEE

information presented below represents the amounts before
any inter-company elimination.

2020

20204

HK$'000

FExT
NCI percentage FEERBRRERA D 25.1% 25.1%
Current assets mENEE 250,265 175,789
Non-current assets FMBEE 69,459 56,624
Current liabilities mEBAE 150,685 80,243
Non-current liabilities ERBEE 24,353 25,052
Net assets BEHE 144,686 127,118
Carrying amount of NCl FEER IR R AR E A 36,374 31,957
Revenue WA 252,649 187,557
Profit/(loss) for the year FEER, (EE) 8,010 (19,934)
Total comprehensive income 2HEM AL 9,209 (21,871)

Profit/(loss) allocated to NCI PETFIEEBBEER 2

wmFL (EE) 2,013 (5,011)
Cash flows from operating activities KEXB ReRE 15 16,719
Cash flows from investing activities REEH RS RE (13,545) (4,524)
Cash flows from financing activities MEETHZEESRE 29,337 (25,043)
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A PBERRMEE

24 INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES

Share of net assets
Loans to a joint venture
Due from joint ventures
Due to joint ventures

fEIGEEFE
wY—HeE
e & & b2 FIR
e & & b2 FIR

24 REEDLECZRE

2020 2019

20204 20194

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FETT

194,142 167,215

TEZER 152,358 133,908
20,580 29,884

(56,619) (36,822)

The loans to a joint venture, amounts due from and due to
joint ventures are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on
demand or per trading credit terms except:

(@ Loans amounting to HK$123,539,000 (2019:
HK$105,088,000) are interest-bearing at a rate of
4.90% (2019: 4.90%) per annum.

(b) Included in amounts due to joint ventures are
trade payables to joint ventures amounting to
HK$20,876,000 (2019: HK$10,225,000).

Particulars of the joint ventures, all of which are held
indirectly through subsidiaries, are as follows:

Place of
Particulars of incorporation/
issued shares/ registration
registered capital and operations
BRIRS/ EMRL/
AMERzF#E BIIES bt
Ever Reliance Industrial Ordinary HK$100 Hong Kong
Investments Limited LEk100ET B
("Ever Reliance")
REIXREABRAA
(IRE])
Nan Tong Xin Cheng Registered HK$25,080,000  Mainland China
Electronics Company Ltd.
HRNAETARAT M EAR25,080,0008  RERKL

BT -HABLRZER BRRENAELHR
ZHEDEER 28 ABRERRERDEE
B - 1

.

(@) A %0123,539,000% 7T (20194 :
105,088,0007% 7T ) < B 3% F | R4.90/E
(20194F : 4902 ) 5t &

by ERNEECEZRETEEESAED
¥ 7 FES BR 320,876,000/ 7T (20194 :
10,225,000 7T ) o

BEEMBARNRERSEZAELEERNT:

Percentage of
TA&EZEDL
Ownership Voting Profit  Principal
interest power sharing  activities
gL §: $+ ER BOEN IEXE
48 50 48 Investment holding
RERR
49 33 49 Manufacture and sale of
raw materials
HERHERIH
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e PBRARMEE

24 INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED)
Set out below are the summarised financial information of a
material joint venture, Ever Reliance, which is accounted for
using the equity method.

24 REELRZKRE (K)
ATRIIEBAELEREZHBANEE K
SV IN

2020 2019
2020 2019%F
HK$000 HK$'000
FET T
Summarised statement of MERRREE
financial position
Non-current assets EmENE E 540,374 469,572
Current assets (excluding cash and REBEE (TEFERE K
cash equivalents) BEEEY) 4,817 15,948
Cash and cash equivalents ReERBELFED 688 396
Current financial liabilities (excluding trade BN E BB & (T B IEER
and other payables and provisions) BR R EL At B AT R IE
AR B ) (93,033) (94,258)
Other current liabilities (including trade EtnsaE (eEEf
and other payables and provisions) BR X R Lt FE AT 50IR
AR BB 5) (24,043) (32,571)
Non-current financial liabilities FmBEMEE (30,600) (30,600)
Other non-current liabilities HEmIERBEE (63,739) (48,381)
Net assets BEFE 334,464 280,106

2019

20194

HK$'000

FHET

Summarised statement of profit or loss BEHERHEMEEKARBE
and other comprehensive income

Revenue WA 12,855 12,972
Other gains H ez 38,907 84,242
Depreciation e = (316)
Interest income FBHA 3 1
Interest expense MEXH (4,982) (4,636)
Income tax FriS i (9,926) (21,065)
Profit for the year IEE i F 30,664 65,947
Other comprehensive income HEp=mUBA 23,694 (7,243)
Total comprehensive income EET PN L 54,358 58,704
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A PBERRMEE

24 INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED) 24 RE¥ X2 RE (&)

Reconciled to the Group’s Interest in Ever Reliance HAKBRREZERZ B
2020 PAONIC)
2020 2019%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T
Gross amounts of Ever Reliance’s REEEFHEEBRE
net assets 334,464 280,106
Group's effective interest AEEZERER 48% 48%
Group's share of Ever Reliance’s net rEEERGERECEEFE
assets and carrying amount in the PSRN E
consolidated financial statements BRHEE 160,543 134,451
The following table sets out the summarised financial TREVNTEBEEEERE (TRERE)H
information of the Group’s shared portion of joint ventures DAWFEERNER 2 HEERTE -

excluding Ever Reliance, that are not individually material:

2020
20204
HK$’000
TH T
Loss for the year RERERE (1,204) (705)
Other comprehensive income HEip2mEUA 2,039 (732)
Total comprehensive income 2HEUWALEEE 835 (1,437)
25 INVENTORIES 25 FE
(a) Inventory in the Consolidated Statement of (a) REMBURRRZFEERE:

Financial Position Comprise:

Raw materials R4 234,412 154,442
Work in progress TR 133,765 207,333
Finished goods BUAK G 309,083 233,825

677,260 595,600
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e MR
25 INVENTORIES (CONTINUED) 25 FE (&)
(b) The Analysis of the Amount of Inventories (b) BRAMZHEFABREZ2EESHE
Recognised as an Expense and Included in AWME:

Profit or Loss is as Follows:

2020 2019

20204 2019%F

HK$000 HK$'000

FET T

Carrying amount of inventories sold BEHETEZEREE 1,314,316 1,038,193

Write-down of inventories T E MR 14,145 8,843
Reversal of write-down of inventories 17 & #fi 5 B [@ (739) (169)

Cost of sales & AR 1,327,722 1,046,867
The reversal of write-down of inventories made in prior RBEFE FEMRELR DERTISE
years arose due to an increase in the estimated net HESERETEFEm IR F

realisable value of certain electronic goods as a result of B MATEL -

a change in market preferences.

26 TRADE RECEIVABLES AND PREPAYMENTS, 26 FEVRRURFENTIE ZERHEME
DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES W FRIE
2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$'000 HK$'000
FiERx T#ETT
Trade receivables FEUBR TR 801,307 697,380
Loss allowance B 18 A (39,740) (39,496)
761,567 657,884
Prepayments, deposits and FERRIE e Rk
other receivables H b e W GRIE 118,524 106,303
880,091 764,187
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R IS ERRMEE

26 TRADE RECEIVABLES AND PREPAYMENTS, 26 EBWERFURFAENRFUE - REREME

DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(CONTINUED)

All of trade and other receivables are expected to recovered
within one year.

The Group's trading terms with its customers are mainly
on credit, except for new customers, where payment in
advance is normally required. The credit period is generally
90 days, extending up to 150 days for major customers.
Each customer has a maximum credit limit. The Group seeks
to maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables
and has a credit control department to minimise credit
risk. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by senior
management. In view of the aforementioned and the fact
that the Group's trade receivables relate to a large number of
diversified customers, there is no significant concentration of
credit risk. Trade receivables are non-interest-bearing.

Credit risk was hedged mainly through credit insurance
policies. Where the Group has the benefit of credit
insurance, a separate asset is recognised for any expected
reimbursement that would be virtually certain if a claim
was to be made. As at the end of the reporting period
HK$2,386,000 (2019: HK$2,892,000) is included within
“prepayments, deposits and other receivables” in current
assets in respect of such expected reimbursements.

The Group categorises its trade receivables based on the
ageing. Future cash flow for each group of trade receivables
are estimated on the basis of historical loss experience,
adjusted to effects of current conditions of each customer
as well as forward looking information. For trade receivables
relating to accounts which are long overdue with significant
amounts or known insolvencies, they are assessed individually
for impairment.

WA (&)

P AR R e Bt EGRIRTR A I — F N
Yem e

AEEREFPZRZIHEREIB/EETRN
BEP—RABAMNK - EFEH—RA/OKX B
EFARERERZISOR -BHREPUREARS
SR - AR BN i RUER 2 FEUGRIR 4 5
BB YRBEEEH BB EERBRRER
E-2REEABERRABRES AR Lt
REARAEEZ BUEFKERETRAES
B mEAEEEPER - BUERR TR -

EERBREEFAEERBEIT -WAEBEEE
BEREAMZ BIEREREZBERAT HELHR
EATAESEERESERERNEE - NS
HiZK © B #8725 78 B8 48 3 1H 1892,386,0007%8 7T
(20194 : 2,892,000/ 7T) BT AREIEE 2 [ 78
A me R EAEYRRIE] -

&R B AR IR A5 EL A AR R R 1R - & HE Bl R MR
RZARRB 2 RERBERKERMET  AHRE
BEFREEMRAZZE R EHEL TR -
REBYEARSERAZRP RO MENEE
Z FEYBR SR & BB E 1F B B FT 4 o
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R MEHRRME

26 TRADE RECEIVABLES AND PREPAYMENTS, 26 EUERRURFANRIE BHERHEMIE
DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES WRRE (88)
(CONTINUED)
An ageing analysis of the trade receivables at the end of the R|MERR REZAHFERNREERER
reporting period, based on the invoice date and net of loss ZEWARFERE DT T

allowance, is as follows:

2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$’000 HK$'000
FE&xT FHET
1 - 3 months 12318 A 614,583 504,766
4 — 6 months 4% 61E A 129,666 127,966
7 - 12 months 7E1218AR 11,733 16,350
Over 1 year HBiE1 5,585 8,802
761,567 657,884
27 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 27 TES@MT A
2020 2019
20205 2019%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
TET T
Analysed into: AMIT
— Interest rate swaps —F == 5 - 245
Portion classified as current SRR D = (245)
Non-current portion FERBHD = -
At 31 December 2020, all interest rate swap contracts were 72020912 A318 - Fi BRI Ris 16 KB 5|
expired. B o
The net changes in the fair value of interest rate swap MEFEOME  AEEERGEBEERFHT
contracts which did not meet the criteria for hedge FefrastRIBIEEZ FIXREBHE R AFE
accounting for accounting purposes amounting to N2 AR EEB)FEER11,0007% 7T (20194
HK$11,000 (2019: HK$98,000) were debited to the 98,000 7T) °

consolidated statements of profit or loss during the Year.
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A PBERRMEE

28 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

(a) Cash and Cash Equivalents Comprise:

Cash and bank balances
Time deposits within 3 months
to maturity when placed

Cash and cash equivalents

R MIRTTHERR
R AR 2 H] B 318 A
ARz EHIFER

ReMEEFEY

28 BEREEEEY
(a) BEeRBELEEYWERE:

2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FAT
258,834 220,707
4,652 5,008
263,486 225,715

Cash at banks earns interest at floating bank deposit
rates. Short term time deposits range from one day
to three months depending on the immediate cash
requirements of the Group, and earn interest at the
respective short term time deposit rates. The cash and
bank balances are deposited with creditworthy banks

with no recent history of default.

As at the end of the reporting date, the amount of
cash and cash equivalents denominated in Renminbi
("RMB") was HK$121,366,000 (2019: HK$81,060,000).
The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies,
however, under the Regulations of the People’s Republic
of China on the Management of Foreign Exchange,
the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for other
currencies through authorised banks to conduct foreign

exchange business.

RITR ST BRITE AN R REA B - 52
HERFARRTAKEZARREF R
BUNF—RE=EA 2 PREL Ak
HEA 2 R HIE M R IRERA B - R E
MRTTESERONERNCHAEER
o2 8RAT

RBEHR UARE(TARE])HE
2 He RIReEEYA121,366,00078 7T
(20194 : 81,060,000/ 7T ) °» ARBAAI A
LR AEAME - AT - BIBRE (P
ARKEMBEINEEFIZIEH) - NEBE S
BEREIRITEITINESER AR
HAHMEE-

Annual Report 2020 &3k 171

~



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PBRARMEE

28 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (CONTINUED)

(b) Reconciliation of Liabilities Arising from
Financing Activities:
The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities
from financing activities, including both cash and non-
cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities
are liabilities for which cash flows were, or future cash
flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated cash

flow statement as cash flows from financing activities.

At 1 January 2020

Changes from financing cash flows:
Proceeds from new bank loans
Repayment of bank loans

Capital element of lease rentals paid
Interest element of lease rentals paid
Interest paid

Payment for interest rate swaps

Total changes from
financing cash flows

Change in fair value
Exchange adjustments

Other changes:
Increase in lease liabilities from entering
into new leases during the period
Increase in lease liabilities
from modification of leases
during the period
Interest expenses (Note 11)

Total other changes

At 31 December 2020

202061818

ﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁiﬁﬁ'
MERTEFMENE
Eﬁﬁﬁ%m
ENEEHE CEAED
ENEERE N
ENFE

XM =5

HARSREZDAR

DRERD

EiAE

A2

NI LHBEMEMZ
BEAE

BRI BEMEMm
BEAE

MEX (1)
EtEHRE

20205128318

28 HEeERBEELEEY (&)
(b) RMEETBELE BB ZHIR:

TRAMAEEREEHEE AEE
PEReRIFREEH - ﬁﬂﬁ/EEUEEZE
BERRESTREEL (KRB REHE)
WHEERAEEGERERERERME
EEFTRHEEME -

Interest Lease
rate swap  Bank loans liabilities
S RITER HESE

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 Total

THET TR TR fst

(Note 27) (Note 30) (Note 31) HK$'000

(MtzF27) ( H&E30) (KzE31) TR

245 975,677 83,949 1,059,871

- 2,090,574 - 2,090,574

- (2,057,871) - (2,057,871)

- - (17,955) (17,955)

- - (3,627) (3,627)

- (36,113) - (36,113)

(256) - - (256)

________ (256) ____GA10)  (158) (25.248)

1" - - 1"

- 16,137 4,740 20,877

- - 2,123 2,123

- - 3,075 3,075

- 36,113 3,627 39,740

. 6118 S 45,538
- 1,024,517 76,532 1,101,049
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A PBERRMEE

28 RERREEEY (H)
(b) METBHELECEBZIHER:

28 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (CONTINUED)

(b) Reconciliation of Liabilities Arising from

Financing Activities: (Continued)

(%)

Interest Lease
rate swap Bank loans liabilities
F o d 53 RITER MEARE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 Total
TET TR AT @it
(Note 27) (Note 30) (Note 31) HK$'000
(FizE27) (Hi7%30) (FizE31) TR
At 1 January 2019 R2019%181H 2,273 889,355 70,170 961,798
Changes from financing cash flows: BERLHRELH:
Proceeds from new bank loans HERTEREHE - 889,090 - 889,090
Repayment of bank loans BEBITER - (800,672) - (800,672)
Capital element of lease rentals paid BENHEERS ZEREH - - (17,583) (17,583)
Interest element of lease rentals paid ENAERE 2RISR - - (4.391) (4,391)
Interest paid BTHE - (38,082) - (38,082)
Payment for interest rate swaps SEppIES=E (2,126) - - (2,126)
Total changes from BERERELDLE
finanding cash flows @16 033% Qs 26236
Change in fair value AREED 98 - - 98
Exchange adjustments ERAZ - (2,096) (1,803) (3,899)
Other changes: Hit25:
Increase in lease liabilities from entering ~ HRFTHAEFE M2
into new leases during the period HEakE - - 34,628 34,628
Decrease in lease liabilities IR IERERR D 2
from termination of leases HEARE
during the period - - (1,463) (1,463)
Interest expenses (Note 11) FEH (M) - 38,082 4,391 42,473
Total other changes EtmEges - 38,082 37,556 75,638
At 31 December 2019 R2019%12A431H 245 975,677 83,949 1,059,871

Annual Report 2020 3 173

't

S’



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PBRARMEE

28 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (CONTINUED) 28 RERHREZEY (&)

(c) Total Cash Outflow for Leases (0 HERSARLHEE
Amounts included in the cash flow statement for leases HeReRkHEREUNTSESRE:
comprise the following:

2020 2019
20204 2019%F
HK$000 HK$'000
FTHET T
Within operating cash flows KEBREREN 775 1,693
Within financing cash flows MERESTREN 21,582 21,974
22,357 23,667
These amounts relate to the following: ZECBEETISERRH:

2020 2019
20204 20194

HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TAT

Lease rentals paid ENEERS 22,357 23,667
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A PBERRMEE

29 TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES, OTHER 29 ERRARREE - HtESFIEREST
PAYABLES AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES AND BEUREHER
CONTRACT LIABILITIES

2020 PAONIC)

20205 20194

HK$'000 HK$'000

THET T

Trade and bills payables ERERRER 346,126 254,770
Receipt in advance ! TEMFRIE 4,530 1,817
Salary and welfare payables e % & 4@ 33,699 25,502
Value-added tax payable FETIEE T 16,742 20,342
Contract liabilities 2 BRAE? 8,265 5,683
Other payables and accrual JE A< Ho A R I8 K JEETFRIE 66,176 52,060
475,538 360,174

Notes: FaE

1. The receipt in advance is not related to contracts that create 1. FEWRHEREAEEREP 2 MEEATRITET
enforceable rights and obligations between the Group and the MEBHELER -
customers.

2. One of the customers is entitled to volume discounts based on 2. HA 2P ARZARAHSTERI2ER S
aggregate sales over a 12-month period. Revenue from sales MErE s EFM -MZEETPIERHEEEEY
to this customer is recognised based on the price specified in WAIZA LT EEREFT L E T NHER - RaT
the contract net of estimated volume discounts. Accumulated KERAR BT R AITELBE - Mk AZ
experience is used to estimate and provide for the discounts REREABO K BERER FHEZR
and revenue is only recognised to the extent that it is highly EHMRBIEHIHEZ RN BBERENERZE
probable that a significant reversal will not occur. A refund HARt 2 AT T LARERR ©

liability is recognised for expected volume discounts payable
to the customer in relation to sales made until the end of the
reporting period.
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e PBRARMEE

29 TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES, OTHER
PAYABLES AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES AND
CONTRACT LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

SRR RS - H R KA R B
BEURENEE (F)

Movements in Contract Liabilities

BHEEED

2020 2019
2020

20194
HK$'000
AT

HK$'000
FEx

Balance at 1 January W1ATH Z &8k 5,683 6,746
Increase in contract liabilities as a result (A & < 78 HR 4L 2 T F0 4 hn

of increase in expected volume Bz &8 EEm

discounts payable 7,587 6,329
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result FAMSETINAMB

of utilisation of volume discounts ERBaERD (5.393) (7,454)
Exchange realignment b H P 388 62

Balance at 31 December

M2 A318 2 #8

8,265 5,683

All of the trade and other payables are expected to be settled
or recognised as income within one year or are repayable on
demand.

An ageing analysis of the trade and bills payables at the
end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as
follows:

PR A IR R I E e T SRIB TR R —F
ERRBRASILREREE -

R|ERR  REZAMFE 2 BARRRRE
BREC DTN T

2019
20194

HK$'000
TR

Trade payables: FERTRR SR :
— 1 =3 months —1&=318 A 258,300 218,866
— 4 — 6 months —4%61E A 57,540 10,564
—7 — 12 months —7Z&1218 A 12,430 11,897
— Qver 1 year —HBB1F 12,570 5,214
340,840 246,541
Bills payables R R 5,286 8,229
346,126 254,770
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A PBERRMEE

30 BANK LOANS 30

RITERK

2020 2019
20204 20194

HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET TR

Bank loans, unsecured, with repayable on B A NHAREEH A

demand clause, repayable: RERBEERRZ
EEAIRITER:

— Within one year —15R

— In the second year —E2F RN

— In the third to fifth years, inclusive — 3= F5F

(BRIEEEME)

Portion classified as current liabilities BEARDBESS
Non-current portion EMBNEL D

972,145 935,720
32,439 23,776
19,933 16,181

1,024,517 975,677
(1,024,517) (975,677)

As at 31 December 2020, unsecured bank loans of the
Group denominated in Hong Kong dollar, United States
dollar and other currencies amounted to HK$408,738,000
(2019: HK$780,942,000), HK$316,888,000 (2019:
HK$15,575,000) and HK$298,891,000 (2019:
HK$179,160,000) respectively. The weighted average interest
rate of the unsecured bank loans was 3.04% (2019: 4.78%)
per annum. All bank loans bear floating interest rates and are
repayable by instalments up to 2024. The carrying amounts
of the Group's bank loans approximate their fair values.

Man Yue Technology Holdings Limited is required, to comply
with certain restrictive financial covenants, including, inter
alia, interest coverage ratio, net debt to EBITDA ratio and
finance charge to EBITDA ratio. As at 31 December 2020,
the Group breached two covenant requirements in certain
bank loans of HK$372,041,000 from two banks. The Group
obtained waiver letter issued by the banks before the
end of the reporting period for one-off waiver from strict
compliance with the covenant requirements.

2020512 A31H - AREBE LA TT 2T R B
EREHE 2 B IR IR T B D 5l /£408,738,000
7 7 (20194F : 780,942,00078 7T ) ~ 316,888,000
7 7T (20194F = 15,575,0005% 7T ) 52298,891,000
78 7T (20194 : 179,160,00058 7T ) ° 7% = £ 1K 3
RITE R Z Dt T F F K B3.04/F (20194
478F) - FTARITEFIRZ B A X B W AER
2024F LRI D HAE R - AR BERITERZEES
BEQNLERE-

ERRHEEE AR AR EESTE TR
R HPBEMNBEER HESYEBTDAR
R A K B 75 59 St S EBITDALL R » 142020412 A
3N AREERKREMEBITZE TRITER
372,041,000/ 87018 R MIBEFHRITE ° AEBERNIHR
SEIRBIEVSIRITE H 2 FA R 1 - E— IR EA
BRI EBTHAEE K-
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30 BANK LOANS (CONTINUED)

31

As at 31 December 2019, the Group breached two covenant
requirements in certain bank loans of HK$403,956,000
from two banks. The Group obtained waiver letter issued
by a bank before the end of the reporting period for
one-off waiver from strict compliance with the covenant
requirements in relation to outstanding bank loans of
HK$373,956,000 at the year end. The Group obtained
the waiver letter from another bank after the end of
reporting period in relation to the outstanding bank loans of
HK$30,000,000 as at year end.

LEASE LIABILITIES
At 31 December 2020, the lease liabilities were repayable as
follows:

Within 1 year 1N
After 1 year but within 2 years 1FBE2FR
After 2 years but within 5 years 2F & BSF R
After 5 years 5%

178 Man Yue Technology Holdings Limited ¥R EEAR AT

30 $R1T

31

™ (&)

7201912 A310  AEE R AMMERITZE
FERITEFRA403,956,000/8 T2 R MIBZZH R TE ©
AEERBEHRAMES —HRITHELE 2R
i IR RIS ETERRERREER
#R1TE3X373,956,000/8 L 2 LB Bk - AEER
s BRI B R R E B IR1TE (30,000,000
B S —MRITZ B K-

HEEE
2020128318 - HHEBERRATHEE
IR

2020
20204
HK$’000
FExT
ee.....20320 17,091
20,228 16,871
25,868 37,108
10,116 12,879
I 36,212 66,858
76,532 83,949
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A PBERRMEE

32 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(a) Current taxation in the Consolidated
Statement of Financial Position Represents:

Provision for Hong Kong Profits
Tax for the year
Provisional Profits Tax paid

Balance of Profits Tax recoverable
relating to prior year

Overseas tax recoverable

Overseas tax payable

Representing:
Tax recoverable
Tax payable

32 HZRENKRRERZAE

(@) FEMBRRRZDBHIRRE:

2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$'000 HK$'000
TH T FHET
KEEZEEBFSHEE
1,515 -
BT E SRS (55) -
1,460 -
BEF—FEHH@EZ
FISH AT Y o1 458 (1,526) (1,582)
AT Y B HNE TR (885) (119)
FEHEINRIB 12,249 11,989
11,298 10,288
B :
AT B 7 T8 (2,440) (1,701)
e FLTE 13,738 11,989
11,298 10,288
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RE SRR
32 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 32 FEMBMRRKZAEH (F)
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(CONTINUED)
(b) Movements of Each Component of Deferred (b) FEZERBEERBBENID 2
Tax Assets and Liabilities -]
The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities FAZELEHRBEELEGEZSHNT

during the Year were as follows:

Deferred tax assets EEMRIBEE

Tax losses

Provisions  available for
for trade offsetting
receivables against
and future

write- taxable
down for profits

inventories  THAREH
EWERS  RRERH

BER  BAZEE Others Total
FEMH BE Hitr FH)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TR TAT TR
At 1 January 2019 20191716 4,058 10,702 6,132 20,892
Credited/(charged) to profit or FRRBRIIA/ (NK)
loss during the year (Note 15) (BzE15) 1,265 (7,517) (1,428) (7,680)
Credited to reserve during FRETAGE (M5E15)
the year (Note 15) - - 484 484
Exchange realignment B A% 40 (131) 78 (13)
At 31 December 2019 and R2019512A31B &
1 January 2020 202091 31H 5,363 3,054 5,266 13,683
Credited/(charged) to profit or ERPREIA (IR)
loss during the year (Note 15) (Bi3215) 2,419 (2,577) 1,923 1,765
Charged to reserve during ERREENR (F515)
the year (Note 15) - - (276) (276)
Exchange realignment B AR 86 - 356 442
At 31 December 2020 20204128318 7,368 477 7,269 15,614
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A PBERRMEE

32 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(CONTINUED)

(b) Movements of Each Component of Deferred
Tax Assets and Liabilities (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities

At 1 January 2019 R2019%1A1H

Charged to profit or loss FRRERMG (FF15)
during the year (Note 15)

Charged to reserve during FARGEENR (FzH15)
the year (Note 15)

Exchange realignment LS

At 31 December 2019 and 2019124318 &
1 January 2020 20201R18

Charged to profit or loss FARBEMG (Fz15)
during the year (Note 15)

Credited to reserve during FRREETA (FiF15)
the year (Note 15)

Exchange realignment B 5 AE

At 31 December 2020 120206124310

32 ZEMBRRRZFAEHR (K)

(b) BSEEHBEEREEARBD 2

28 (&)
EEBEEE

Depreciation

allowance

in excess

of related

Revaluation of  depreciation
properties  HEEZ Others Total
Efthx BERERR Hit @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TAT THL TAT
44,903 1,124 306 46,333
851 - - 851
834 - - 834
(823) - 6 (817)
45,765 1,124 312 47,201
84 - - 84
(299) - - (299)
2,803 - 20 2,823
48,353 1,124 332 49,809

(c) Reconciliation to the Consolidated Statement
of Financial Position

Net deferred tax assets recognised
in the consolidated statement of
financial position

Net deferred tax liabilities recognised
in the consolidated statement of
financial position

KR & BN R NHER
EERIRE EFE

RERE BB R AR
BRI R EFE

(0 REMBURRKRZHIR

2020
20204

2019
20194
HK$'000
T T

HK$'000
Fi#

15,283 10,299
(49,478) (43,817)
(34,195) (33,518)

L
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32 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED

32 ZEMBRRRZAER ()

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(CONTINUED)

(d)

(e)

Deferred Tax Assets Not Recognised

The Group had unrecognised tax losses arising in Hong
Kong of HK$74,908,000 (2019: HK$72,262,000)
that are available indefinitely for offsetting against
future taxable profits of the companies in which
the losses arose. The Group also had unrecognised
tax losses arising in Mainland China and Taiwan of
HK$86,191,000 (2019: HK$96,645,000) that will
expire in one to ten years for offsetting against future
taxable profits. The Group has cumulative tax losses
not recognised amounting to HK$161,099,000 (2019:
HK$168,907,000). Deferred tax assets have not been
recognised amounting to HK$33,116,000 (2019:
HK$34,395,000) in respect of these losses as they have
arisen in subsidiaries that have been loss-making for
some time and it is not considered probable that taxable
profits will be available against which the tax losses can
be utilised.

Deferred Tax Liabilities Not Recognised
Pursuant to the Enterprise Income Tax Law of the
People’s Republic of China, a 10% withholding tax
is levied on dividends declared to foreign investors
from the foreign investment enterprises established
in Mainland China. The requirement is effective from
1 January 2008 and applies to earnings after 31
December 2007. A lower withholding tax rate may be
applied if there is a tax treaty between Mainland China
and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For the
Group, the applicable rate ranges from 5% to 10%.
As at 31 December 2020, the Group has undistributed
profits of subsidiaries amounted to approximately
HK$313,240,000 (2019: HK$280,902,000). The
corresponding deferred tax liabilities have not been
recognised, given that the Company is able to
control the dividend policy of these subsidiaries and
it is probable that these retained profits will not be
distributed in the foreseeable future.

182 Man Yue Technology Holdings Limited EMRHEEEGR AR

(d)

(e)

AERZELEBEEE

AEEBBERRBEBZAERBIEEIE
74,908,000 7T (20194F : 72,262,000
JC)  AJEREALIRINEE BB ARZ
KRR E R F - NEE A RN A
[ & & 2 KRR T 15 /85 1886,191,0007%8
7T (20194F : 96,645,000/87T) ' 5 —E+
FEPE R - AT DA S R SR B ER R S A o AR
EEB AR RS EE161,099,00078
7T (20194 : 168,907,000/ 7T) - AR % &
BEDEENREE —BRERNHEEGER
Z [t~ 7] BB FERR T F) A] A LA H0 5%
EMBEBZAIREERK BT ARZE
TR R IH & E 433,116,000 7T
(20194 : 34,395,000/ 7T ) °

AERZEERBEEE
BIE(REARLMBECEMERE)
R BN 2 INEREMBEINEEE TR
2B BEKI0% 2B - RBMRTHE
20085F1 A1 H AR i A R20075F12 A
3TAAEEE Z B o i B R B2 51 Bl
WEEMBREER 2B EREESRR
i RIAHRERTE R R AT - AR E
S EAMEN T5%E10% 72020912
A318  NEEMBE A RZ ARSI A
313,240,000/ 7T (20194F : 280,902,000/8
TL) o ER AN BRI HIZEM B AR Z %
BHREBZERE AFRNA R AR A ge T
FHR MW REREBERERIERE-
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33 DEFERRED INCOME 33 JRIEWA
The deferred income amounting to HK$10,018,000 (2019: 10,018,000/ 7T (20194F : 9,706,000/ 7T ) 2 i&
HK$9,706,000) of non-cash subsidies in relation to parcels BRABEHZE LN IERSRE) IS
of land located in Wuxi was granted by the Jiangsu Province B ERBEEEEZ B EN2004FHE 4B F
Xishan Economic Development Management Committee ZERB 2 7R RS B R E 'R
in 2004. The subsidy was in the form of a reduction of the B ES 2 +if S2A 2 ARE - B RBY D
consideration for the acquisition of a parcel of land in Wuxi, ARZERIETEER-

Mainland China, paid by the Group. The purpose of the
subsidies is for industrial development in these areas.

34 SHARE CAPITAL 34 RS
Ordinary Shares EER
2019
20194
HK$'000
FHAIT
Issued and fully paid: BEITREE:
475,547,534 (2019: 475,547,534) 475,547,534[% (20194 :
ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each 475,547,5340% ) &%
H0.10/8 T 2 L ik 47,555 47,555
A summary of the transactions involving the Company'’s BRARBBRAZZSGHENT

share capital is as follows:

Share
Number Issued premium
of shares capital account Total

inissue CETRAR RHESER “st
%5 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
KRB TR FTHET FTHET

At 1 January 2019, M201951A18
31 December 2019, 20194128318 -
1 January 2020 and 20201 H1R &
31 December 2020 2020912 A31H 475,547,534 47,555 165,458 213,013

't
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BA SRR BT RE

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 26 May 2006, the Company adopted the Share Option
Scheme for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards
to eligible persons, including employees, directors and other
persons as specified under the scheme document, who
contribute to the success of the Group’s operations and the
same was revised on 27 May 2010.

The Share Option Scheme became effective on 26 May 2006
and will remain in force for 10 years from that date. The life
of such Share Option Scheme was expired on 25 May 2016.
Subject to the exercise period, all options (to the extent not
already exercised) granted prior to the expiry of the Share
Option Scheme shall continue to be valid and exercisable in
accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme.

The maximum number of the shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all outstanding share options granted and
yet to be exercised under the Share Option Scheme and any
other share option schemes of the Company shall not, in
aggregate, exceed 30% of the total number of issued shares
from time to time provided that the total number of shares
which may be issued upon exercise of all share options to
be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other
share option schemes of the Company shall not in aggregate
exceed 10% of the total number of issued shares on 26 May
2006.

Each grant of the share options to a director, chief executive
or substantial shareholder of the Company, or to any of
their associates, under the Share Option Scheme must
comply with the requirements of rule 17.04 of the Listing
Rules and must be subject to approval of the independent
non-executive directors to whom share options have not
been granted. In addition, any grant of share options to a
substantial shareholder or an independent non-executive
director of the Company, or to any of their associates,
which would result in the shares issued and to be issued
upon exercise of all share options already granted and to be
granted to such person in the 12-month period up to and
including the date of such grant in excess of 0.1% of the
total number of shares of the Company in issue and with
an aggregate value in excess of HK$5,000,000, is subject to
prior approval from shareholders in a general meeting.

Man Yue Technology Holdings Limited EMRHEEEER AR

35 BRESTE

200658268 « AN A B HE 4N — TR BE AR A AT
g EEREAKE  KINEEEHEBZEE
AT (BEFEXHFIAZES EFKA
fo A o) FRE 8RB KR B3R - iz AT EIE R 20104
SA27HERERT

B RRERT 81102006475 H 26 B B #a £ W 10 7% B
FEEH10F BRI £ R - ;% BT 8| F T R 2016
F5A25H @MW - IRIBTTER - REBBHERT8IEm
AIDRHEHARTTE 2 2EBERRIDABR I
AR BB AR B 2 IR T AT T

AT AR 5 BB AR AT 81 M AR 2 Rl b BB R
RERTEIR LB RITEZ A AR T E B
AFHITZBROHEE  ARRSTEEBTRE
BATRRAD 4B 2 30% MR T{EAR IR B AR At 2
RARREMEAERETZB R L ZMEE
REAE T ] 8517 2 AR 4B R - & KRB B 82006
SA26HEBITRMNBE210% °

RIEBRETEFRARAARFTES  TTHRA
B FERFRFEST 2 AMHE AR DBRER
FEEMRBIE17.045 2 T AL RERE
f& 8 2 B IEITE R - BIN AR A F
FERERBIIEATEST A HE 2 EMBHE
ARLERE BEREEZRE A (B1EZ
H)12E AR AT EZA TEER RGER 2
FrEBREME BT RS TEIT 2 ROBAEAR
A BT 4 200.1% M 42 (B E 8 385,000,000
PEIT AIZBESRERIRE RS EE k-
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35 SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED) 35 BERRHERTE (&)

The exercise price of the share options is determinable by
the Directors, but may not be less than the highest of (i)
the nominal value of the Company’s shares, (ii) the average
closing price of the Company’s shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange's daily quotation sheets for the five trading
days immediately preceding the date of offer, and (i) the
closing price of the Company’s shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotation sheet on the date of offer of the
share options, which must be a trading day.

The Group did not recognise any share option expense for
both years ended 31 December 2019 and 2020. No previous
year expense was reversed in the Year for forfeited share
option in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

(a) The Terms and Conditions of the Grants as at
31 December 2019 are as Follows:

Number of
instruments

TA¥E

Options granted to employees:

BREZTEERESETE HETFSERTII=
EFRZ&ERE: (VAARROEE ()2 RRK
DRERZFHBORPNAARZ ABIME
B¥RERAE 2 FHWHE - KA A B 7
BREZOAS (BWEARXSRBXMEAR
ERMEZWTE -

REE20195 K% 20205E12 831 B IEMEFEE » &
LB ERERTAERERS - MEEFRIN
NEERERWEREELE S BRSERED -

(a) BHZ2BEARIEHENR2019F12831
BT :

Contractual life
of options

BREZEHH

Vesting conditions

BE R

MESRDERE:

—on 15 September 2010 860,000 One year from the date of grant 10 years
— 201097 15H B B ERE1F 105
—on 15 September 2010 850,000 Two years from the date of grant 10 years
—#A201099A15H B B s 26 106
Total share options granted 1,710,000

ERHBRZEER

All share options were lapsed on 14 September 2020.

B B AR HE S B 70 20204F9 A 148 5k 4% -
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35 SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED) 35 EARAERTE (&)

(b) Fi-BRETFETRETEZBR

(b) The Following Share Options were

Outstanding under the Share Option Scheme
during the Year:

O

2020 2019
2020 2019F

Weighted Weighted

average average

exercise exercise

price price

¥ TS
fiEE Number 168 Number
HK$ of options HK$'000 of options
TEr BREHE TEr  BREHS
At 1 January R1A1H 2.262 1,710,000 2.262 1,880,000
Lapsed during the year FREH 2262 (1,710,000 2.262 (170,000)
At 31 December M2A318 - - 2.262 1,710,000

The exercise price and exercise periods of the share
options outstanding as at the end of reporting date are
as follows:

Exercise period '

T8

R|E AR RETEBREZITEE
RATHEEAT -

Number of options

BREHA
2020
2020
HK$°000
THET

2019
20194
HK$'000
FAET

Exercise price 2

fTHEE?
HKS$ per share
BRERT

15-9-2011 to 14-9-2020 2011F9A15HE
20209H14H 2.262 = 860,000
15-9-2012 to 14-9-2020 201299H15HE
20209H14H 2.262 = 850,000
2.262 = 1,710,000
Notes: R

1. The vesting period of the share options is from the date
of grant until the commencement of the exercise period.

2. The exercise price of the share options is subject to
adjustment in case of rights or bonus issues, or other
similar changes in the Company’s share capital.

The share options outstanding at 31 December 2019
had an exercise price of HK$2.262 and a weighted

average remaining contractual life of 0.71 year.

All share options were lapsed on 14 September 2020.
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1. BEEZBEMDERHAPNERESTE
HARRLG -
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36 EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS

(a) Defined Benefit Retirement Plans

The Group's subsidiary, Luminous Town, makes
contribution to defined benefit retirement plans. The
plans are administered by trustees, the majority of
which are independent, with their assets held separately
from those of the Group. The trustees are required by
the Trust Deed to act in the best interest of the plan
participants and are responsible for setting investment
policies of the plans.

The plans are funded by contributions from the
Group in accordance with an independent actuary’s
recommendation based on annual actuarial valuations.
The latest independent actuarial valuations of the
plans were at 31 December 2018 and were prepared
by Greatfine Wealth Management Consulting Inc. As
at 31 December 2020 and 2019, the Group and the
related employees have mutually agreed to settle the
defined benefit retirement plans and was in progress
of arranging relevant administrative procedures and
applications.

The plans expose the Group to actuarial risks, such as
interest rate risk, investment risk and longevity risk.
Information about the plan is disclosed below:

(i) The amounts recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position are as follows:

Present value of wholly or
partly funded obligations
Fair value of plan assets

36 EERMKEF

(a)

2E A D EHK
BfEzHE
AHEIBEEZARE

REBAMBRAKZEE

AEBZ B A RERARERIERES
SHEIEH R - R BIRREAEE K
MoHEEBY HEEEZMARNCEE
DA - REBEFERE  TEABUTA
AE2BEARENRZAATE BAR
AHlEZSFAEZRERRK

ZEEBHAERMBEB U EEAM HER
BRRFEBEMEREES - &ETElZ
OB BEMEZ BEA2018F 124
318 HEBREEEERERNDERA A
4 B0 A20204F N2019%E 12 A31H A" &
EXiEERELRREEERTRBAERINK
CETE WIF P ERTT BRI o

SRS A EEEERERR  0FF
AR ERREESAR - % EIENE
HEBMT

() RESMBRRRABIZEEN
T:

2019
20194

HK$'000
TAT

(2,095)
2,841

(1,969)
2,670

746 701

The above liability is expected to be settled within
one year. The Group does not expect to pay any
contributions to defined benefit retirement plans in
2021.

P B ERAR —FRNES - AEERE
BAF02VFRERBMEARSFENE
fa] g3k o
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36 EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS
(CONTINUED)

(a) Defined Benefit Retirement Plans (Continued)

(ii) Plan assets consist of the following:

Central Trust Fund held in
a Taiwan bank

36 EERKEFN (&)

(a) RAERAMBRMAKZTE (&)

(i) FFBEEBR/UTRE:

2020
20205

2019
20194
HK$'000
T T

HK$"000
FEx

REERITHALZ
FREFEESR

2,841 2,670

(iii) Movements in the present value of the
defined benefit obligation

At 1 January B1ATE
Exchange realignment HE 5, 38 B
At 31 December M12H31H

(i) REBANEAREZLE

2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$'000 HK$'000
FH T THT
1,969 1,933
126 36
2,095 1,969

The weighted average duration of the defined
benefit obligation is 1 year (2019: 1 year).

188 Man Yue Technology Holdings Limited E# A1 EEAR AT

REBMNETZ ML HERBIE
(20195 1 14F) -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR
36 EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS 36 EERKER (&)
(CONTINUED)
(a) Defined Benefit Retirement Plans (Continued) () AERABRAKEFE (&)
(iv) Movements in plan assets (iv) FHrEIEEZE5
2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET T T
At 1 January ®1A18 2,670 2,622
Exchange realignment ME M S8 171 48
At 31 December ®12A31H 2,841 2,670
(v) Significant actuarial assumptions (expressed (v) EXBERR (UmELG9ESIR)
as weighted averages) and sensitivity analysis RBRBESHAT:

are as follows:

2020 2019
20205 2019%F
Discount rate AL ER % 0.68% 0.68%
Future salary increases KRR T AL N 1.00% 1.00%
The below analysis shows how the defined benefit AT A5 R E ] E &
obligation would have increased/(decreased) as a RIBE BRR0.5% 2 EEymig i, Of
result of 0.5% change in the significant actuarial D)
assumptions:
2020 2019
20205 2019F
Increase Decrease Increase Decrease
in 0.5% in 0.5% in 0.5% in 0.5%
1 M0.5% #$0.5% £ 110.5% H0.5%
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TET THL TAT
Discount rate BRE - 30 - 29
Future salary increases FRIBEM 29 - 28 -
The above sensitivity analysis is based on the LA EBRES N ENEERR 2
assumption that changes in actuarial assumptions BE A B W RS RIEE
are not correlated and therefore it does not take 2% 2 8 2 AR E R (R
into account the correlations between the actuarial
assumptions.

>
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e PBRARMEE

36 EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS 36 EERNEFN (F)

(CONTINUED)

(b) Defined Contribution Retirement Plan (b) EEHFEBRKRESFE
The Group also operates a Mandatory Provident Fund REBTRBEEB RGBS BEH
Scheme (“the MPF scheme”) under the Hong Kong BIREE B RGN 2 5 EE BEEER
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for BRI ARMARERBIRK S E 2B
employees employed under the jurisdiction of the BRI A B RINERE S ([4E
Hong Kong Employment Ordinance and not previously SatEll) - BERFHEIEIAEAETRLZ
covered by the defined benefit retirement plan. The EREFRAREHE - REBBESFE B
MPF scheme is a defined contribution retirement plan F R HEE S BIEREERBIRAZ5%
administered by independent trustees. Under the MPF TR - 1 _ERR RS B AERIN A 30,0007
scheme, the employer and its employees are each TLo Bzt Bl R R BN ER R o

required to make contributions to the plan at 5% of the
employees’ relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly
relevant income of HK$30,000. Contributions to the
plan vest immediately.

Subsidiaries in Mainland China participate in the defined A i BB R B e B A M R B 26
contribution retirement schemes operated by the local BT & B & P2 B FUR ARG 8 - 5%
authorities. Contributions to these schemes are charged LB 2 HFRNEEERER R
to the consolidated statement of profit or loss when
incurred.
37 CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 37 EXRAERE
The Group had the following capital commitments at the end REBRHREARARGUTERHKIE:

of the reporting period:

2019
20194
HK$'000
T

Contracted, but not provided for: BT A B AR
— Plant and machinery — BB M3 51,160 42,551
— Buildings —EF 3,947 15,652
- Land —+i 1,211 1,138

56,318 59,341
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A PBERRMEE

38 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

As at 31 December 2020, Man Yue Holdings Inc. had a
44.09% equity interest in the Company as the single largest
shareholder. The ultimate controlling party of the Company
is Ms. Kee Chor Lin, a director of the Company, which her
principal place of business at Unit 03, 6/F., Habour Centre
Tower 2, 8 Hok Cheung Street, Hung Hom, Kowloon, Hong
Kong.

(@) The Group had the following material transactions with
its joint ventures:

38 BEEBARS

72020512318 " Man Yue Holdings Inc.LAE
—RABRR G () F5A AR F)44.09% M A A -
RABZEBRER A RARRES LB EL L
HFXrEL B AT B NEAMBAEeRES
L Z HA6IE03E

@ AEEHRESECEAUTEARS:

Purchases of raw materials BB RME 77,992 47,167
Lease rental payment 2 HERSER? 13,520 13,525
Interest income received 3 B U F B UL A 3
(Note 12) (MF5E12) 4,982 4,636
Notes: B 5E

1. The above purchases of raw materials were determined
on the basis agreed by both parties and were conducted
in the normal course of business.

2. The Group entered into a lease in respect of the factory
premises in Mainland China from a joint venture. The
amount of rental payable by the Group under the lease
is RMB1,000,330 per month, which was determined
with reference to mark-to-market yield. At 31 December
2020, the Group recognised a right-of-use asset and a
lease liability of HK$38,241,000 and HK$40,008,000
respectively (31 December 2019: a right-of-use asset and
a lease liability of HK$47,767,000 and HK$48,854,000
respectively).

3. The interest was charged at a rate of 4.90% (2019:
4.90%) per annum.

—

BB R TR ET R BT B 2 B
BT AR ERERBERET

2. FEER—EEECERTEANMZ TH
MERTL —BREL - REBEZEL AEE
2BERTMEETZENEEAEAAR
#1,000,3307T ° A2020%E12 A310 » A&
ERRAzERAREERTAERGES A
38,241,000/ Jt }240,008,0007% 7T (2019
FRANB:FHEEEREEAES R
#47,767,0007% 7T 148,854,000 7T ) °

3. MBETIREF490E (20195 :4.90E) 2
BRE-
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38

39

192

BA SRR BT RE

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(CONTINUED)

(b) Remuneration for key management personnel is set
out in Notes 13 and 14 of the consolidated financial
statements.

(©) The details of loans to a joint venture, amounts due
from and due to joint ventures are set out in Note 24 of
the consolidated financial statements.

(d) None of the above related party transactions falls under
the definition of connected transaction or continuing
connected transaction as defined in chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES

The Group has certain financial instruments, including bank
loans and cash and short term deposits, of which main
purpose is to fund the Group’s operations. The Group has
various other financial assets and liabilities such as trade
receivables and trade and bills payables, which arise directly
from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group's financial instruments
are foreign currency risk, interest rate risk, liquidity risk
and credit risk. The Board reviews and agrees policies for
managing each of these risks and they are summarised
below.

(a) Foreign Currency Risk

The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily through
sales and purchases which give rise to receivables,
payables and cash balances that are denominated
in a foreign currency, i.e. a currency other than the
functional currency of the operations to which the
transactions relate. The currencies giving rise to this
risk are primarily United States Dollar, Renminbi and
Japanese Yen.

Man Yue Technology Holdings Limited EMRHEEEER AR

38

39

LIRS (&)

by ETB2EEABZFHMMEALGRE M EHREM
F13%14 -

(O BEAT HALLECZER BUKLRE
NASMERBEZFBHRGEETHR
KKIFE24 -

d) LS ZZHMEBN EHRAEI4AE
RELAEXHAFBEMERS -

MBRREEBERBER

AEEFETERIA (BERTEFUALR
EREHREFER) TEBNDRAEEZEBIR
HET AEEAZEHAMEREENRARE (W0
FEYSRA L BN N RR) DERRNEFTE
Ao

FAAEEERTAZ T E2RBAIINERR
TR RBECRBRLEERR EFEREF
Kt E RS RAR 2 BUR - R T Xt -

(a) HMESELBR
AEBAZNEERERERREAINE (A
ERXHZERREENEERAINZE
%) FHEZHE RIRBAE £ 2 RUGR
RNERRReESR EXZRARZER
ITE2RET ARBNAE-
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A PBERRMEE

39 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBIJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(a) Foreign Currency Risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The following table indicates the instantaneous change
in the Group's profit before tax (and retained profits)
that would arise if foreign exchange rates to which
the Group has significant exposure at the end of the
reporting period had changed at that date, assuming all
other risk variables remained constant. In this respect,
it is assumed that the pegged rate between the Hong
Kong dollar and the United States dollar would be
materially unaffected by any changes in movement
in value of the United States dollar against other
currencies.

2020 20204

39 BIKEBREEEERBER (&)

(a) ShEsmEBR ()

BREDN

TRIRHAEER RERRAEEEX
R\ 2 SNEE RN Z A EE - RRATAEM
[ R =i A ARERBATE N (R

SERRETEXT BHBEXEIER
XTAEMEEZREEHEATE -

Increase/ (Decrease)/
(decrease) increase
in Japanese in profit
Yen rate before tax

HEE=R BB A 35 7
AT (B /&M
% HK$°000

% TET

If Hong Kong dollar had weakened fisi 75 7T %, A [B] B 3= B

against Japanese Yen

If Hong Kong dollar had strengthened  f#% 7t 5 A [ElE & _t F+

against Japanese Yen

2019 20195

If Hong Kong dollar had weakened fisi 75 7T 4, A [B] B 3= B

against Japanese Yen

If Hong Kong dollar had strengthened  f#% 7T 3 A [El[E & _t F+

against Japanese Yen

5 (511)
(5) 511
5 (950)
(5) 950

't
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e PBRARMEE

39 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(a) Foreign Currency Risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

2020 20204

39 BKEREEEERBER (&)

(a) Shempe (&)
HRBED T ()

Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) (decrease)
in Renminbi in profit
rate before tax

ARBER BRBE A1 2
A (TR &/ ORd)
% HK$'000

% FET

If Hong Kong dollar had weakened fis B 7T H A R R T pE

against Renminbi

If Hong Kong dollar had strengthened {478 7T 3 A R FE R 7+

against Renminbi

2019 20195

If Hong Kong dollar had weakened fis B 7T A R R T pE

against Renminbi

If Hong Kong dollar had strengthened {4787 3 A R FE R 7+

against Renminbi

5 903
(5) (903)

5 (1,779)
(5) 1,779
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39 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 39 BIEMREEEEREE (&)

AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(a) Foreign Currency Risk (Continued) (a) shuEmE B (48)

Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

2020 20204

If Renminbi had weakened against HMARKE ETERT|E
United States dollar

If Renminbi had strengthened against {4 A R % 5 35 JUIE & _EF+
United States dollar

2019 20194

If Renminbi had weakened against HMARKN ETERT|E
United States dollar

If Renminbi had strengthened against {4 A R % 5 35 JUIE & _EF+
United States dollar

HRED N (K)

Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) (decrease)

in United States in profit
dollar rate before tax

EnER BB A 325 R
A (TFR) &M/ CR2)
% HK$°000

% THET

5 35,418
(5) (35,418)
5 29,807
(5) (29,807)

Results of the analysis as presented in the above table
represent an aggregation of the instantaneous effects
on each of the Group entities’ profit before tax and
equity measured in the respective functional currencies,
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange
rate ruling at the end of the reporting period for
presentation purposes.

ERENZAMBERIEEA KBS EERR
AT M Mg (AR B2 e E¥EHE)
B R EAE BIFEY) CDIRBESR
ZERBERETT
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39 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(a)

(b)

Foreign Currency Risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

The sensitivity analysis assumes that the change
in foreign exchange rates had been applied to re-
measure those financial instruments held by the
Group which expose the Group to foreign currency
risk at the end of the reporting period, including inter-
company payables and receivables within the Group
which are denominated in a currency other than the
functional currencies of the lender or the borrower. The
analysis excludes differences that would result from
the translation of the financial statements of foreign
operations into the Group’s presentation currency. The
analysis is performed on the same basis as 2019.

Interest Rate Risk

The Group's interest rate risk arises primarily from
borrowings. Borrowings issued at variable rates and
at fixed rates expose the Group to cash flow interest
rate risk and fair value interest rate risk respectively.
The Group defines “net borrowings” as being interest-
bearing financial liabilities less interest-bearing
investments (exluding cash held for short-term working
capital purpose). The Group's interest rate profile as
monitored by management is set out in (i) below.

To manage any exposure arising from the changes in
market interest rates, the Group enters into interest
rate swap, in which the Group agrees to exchange, at
specified intervals, the difference between fixed and
variable rate interest amounts calculated by reference to
an agreed-upon notional principal amount. This interest
rate swap is not qualified as hedging for accounting
purposes.

196 Man Yue Technology Holdings Limited EMRHEEEGR AR

39 BKEREEEERBER (&)

(a)

(b)

S ()

BREDN (&)
BREDTRBINEEREB D EAE
VEHEAEEBEC eI A MzEem
T BB 2N & B 70 R 25 HA R T 9 N B
BIEULEFRASBERAZEEREUINE
MESHE 2 REE A A AR FE A 708 & UL
FIE BN T REREREBINEBI S
MEAAEEZNEEMBEE 2 Z8
BIZE20195F R < B LE#TT o

A =@ b

AEBEZNEXARIEHREBEEEL BT
BFR RIZEE MR B 2 EE D BIE A
SEBKASREN KRR R AAENEX
B AERERE MEREFH] Rt BER
BERMFRRE (TEREFIFEHEESR
E2BE) BEEEERASENEHRE
R ©

REBTSNEEBMAR AR A EE
RIS M EIERA A - Bt NREBEHER 5
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39 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBIJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(b) Interest Rate Risk (Continued)

(i) Interest rate profile
The following table details the interest rate profile
of the Group’s net borrowings at the end of the
reporting period.

EEREEE:

Fixed rate borrowings:
Loans to a joint venture

Bank Loans RITER
Lease liabilities HEER
Variable rate borrowings: EFHAREE:
Bank loans RITER

Total net borrowings BEETE

LY -BAELXZER

39 BIEREEEEREE (&)

(b) A=z (&)

() FIERR
TRHFIAEBEETERRE A
2 FIE R -

2020 2019

20205
Effective
interest rate

2019
Effective
interest rate
ERH= BIRF|X
% HK$'000 %
% TER %

HK$'000
TAL

4.90% (123,539) 4.90% (105,088)
4.29% 104,372 5.53% 50,236
4.52% 76,532 4.70% 83,949
2.95% 920,145 4.26% 925,441
977,510 954,538

(ii) Sensitivity analysis

At 31 December 2020, it is estimated that a
general increase/decrease of 100 basis points
in interest rates, with all other variables held
constant, would have decreased/increased
the Group’'s profit before tax and retained
profits by approximately HK$9,201,000 (2019:
HK$9,254,000).

(i) BREDW
20209128318 EFT B Hib B &
MR ZIERT  ErH R E K
EHTHEI00EER B 1
DN &= B R B AT A R AR B R F 49
9,201,000/ 7T (20194F : 9,254,000/
JT) °

Annual Report 2020 %% 197

~



»

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R MBERRMEE

39 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(b) Interest Rate Risk (Continued)

(ii) Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

The sensitivity analysis above indicates the
instantaneous change in the Group's profit before
tax and retained profits that would arise assuming
that the change in interest rates had occurred at
the end of the reporting period. In respect of the
exposure to cash flow interest rate risk arising
from floating rate non-derivative instruments held
by the Group at the end of the reporting period,
the impact on the Group's profit before tax and
retained profits is estimated as an annualised
impact on interest expense or income of such a
change in interest rates. The analysis is performed
on the same basis as 2019.

(c) Liquidity Risk

Individual operating entities within the Group are
responsible for their own cash management, including
the short term investment of cash surpluses and the
raising of loans to cover expected cash demands,
subject to approval by the parent company’s board.
The Group's policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity
requirements and its compliance with lending
covenants, to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves
of cash and readily realisable marketable securities
and adequate committed lines of funding from major
financial institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in
the short and longer term.

198 Man Yue Technology Holdings Limited %R EEERAFE

39 BKEREEEERBER (&)

(b) F=mE bz (&)

(i) BRBREDHN (&)

LA ESURRE 5 3T B R A S B BR B AT
s 1 R AR BB U ) A B AR 6] 3 2 Bl Y
HMERAREBEFR TEAZ B
BE RASERABEFEETET
BERBEARAZ 2R RFAERR
s HAEBERB AR RRE &
Pl B AZ SR EEBEFEFAZ
SN 2 BEZBEME - TR
2019 MR 2 B e #ETT o

() RBEZEMR

AEEANERNEEERARSAZREE
2 eREeRR EHRE R ETEN
Re®RMBEZEF HAFEARE
EEHE - AEBZBRRTEMERER

BEeFREEBERO 2 RIERN  AHER
HBRTReREITERSER 2 BEZ
7 ARATEZSRBEREREAHEER
BE WENEHERMZABDESHER -
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39 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBIJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(c) Liquidity Risk (Continued)

The following tables show the remaining contractual
maturities at the end of the reporting period of the
Group's non-derivative financial liabilities and derivative
financial liabilities, which are based on contractual
undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments
computed using contractual rates or, if floating, based
on rates current at the end of the reporting period) and
the earliest date the Group can be required to pay:

Trade and bills payables ERERRZR

Other payables and accrued liabilities HiENFERETEE
Due to joint ventures [ERGELEFE
Bank loans RITER

Lease liabilities MEAR

Dividends payable RIS

39 BIEREEEEREE (&)

(9]

nBEERRE (&)
TRIRAEENBERARZIFTESR
BERMIEERABIHRTANIBER
HBRBANARBRRACRE (BERED
MREEZ M BN KM F B KRG
B AIARBREMRZRITARAE) UK
AEEANZ &R BHGFTE:

2020
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
20205
BHNABEBALRE

Carrying
Within amount
1 year or at
on demand 31 December
1€/  Over 1year Total  ®12A31H
HERER BE1F ZEHEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR Tz
346,126 - 346,126 346,126
113,051 - 113,051 113,051
56,619 - 56,619 56,619
1,036,469 1,405 1,037,874 1,024,517
23,286 61,134 84,420 76,532
43 - 43 43
1,575,594 62,539 1,638,133 1,616,888
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39 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 39 BiEMEEEEREE (&)
AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

() Liquidity Risk (Continued) () RBELEAR (&)
2019
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
2019F
BRRERRRN

Carrying

Within amount

1 year or at

on demand 31 December

CIEA Over 1 year Total  RM2A31H

FEEK iR 1F ) ZEHME

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TEL THEL TET TET

Derivative financial instruments TESBIA 245 - 245 245
Trade and bills payables EREFRER 254,770 - 254,770 254,770
Other payables and accrued liabilities HtERFEREHEE 100,238 - 100,238 100,238
Due to joint ventures EREEtEIHE 36,822 - 36,822 36,822
Bank loans RITER 1,001,913 - 1,001,913 975,677
Lease liabilities BEARE 20,600 74,512 95,112 83,949
Dividends payable FERIRE 43 - 43 43
1,414,631 74,512 1,489,143 1,451,744

(d) Credit Risk d) EERK
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if EFEERBRANEFP &/ T AL F 7R
a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument BITHAKNEM  AEBFTRIEZ BI5EE
fails to meet its contractual obligations. The Group's [ REE 2 EEEREZRE EIR
credit risk is primarily attributable to trade and other FRREMEWRIE LT HeEcErE
receivables, loans to a joint venture, other financial FoEMemEERBITER - BEEEDH
assets and deposits with banks. Management has a EEERR UeHBEEEZSEaERAR-
credit policy in place and the exposures to these credit AEFEZEAZY —EABEFEEETEER
risks are monitored on an ongoing basis. The Group B B EEARAMEREFEREER
manages the credit risk by setting up a team responsible B ATRIRERERBRMETTEN UL e BAfE & o X
for the determination of credit limits, credit approvals SEHEFEEHAERARBBRFELAE
and other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow- RRBE AR EERRE L URE R
up action is taken to recover overdue debts. The Group BREMIRZSRZEERRE-

has entered into credit insurance contracts with the
Hong Kong Export Credit Insurance Corporation and
China Export & Credit Insurance Corporation to mitigate
the credit risk arising from the receivable balances.

200 Man Yue Technology Holdings Limited B#RHE EEER AT

’4



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AN
%/T\l::

B ERAR P RE

39 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(d) Credit Risk (Continued)

The Group's exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly
by the individual characteristics of each customer rather
than the industry or country in which the customers
operate and therefore significant concentrations of
credit risk primarily arise when the Group has significant
exposure to individual customers. At the end of the
reporting period, 8.89% (2019: 7.42%) and 25.34%
(2019: 24.06%) of the total trade and other receivables
was due from the Group's largest customer and the five
largest customers respectively.

Trade and other receivables

Individual credit evaluations are performed on all
customers requiring credit over a certain amount.
These evaluations focus on the customer’s past history
of making payments when due and current ability
to pay, and take into account information specific to
the customer as well as pertaining to the economic
environment in which the customer operates. Trade
receivables are due normally within 90 days from the
date of billing. Normally, the Group does not obtain
collateral from customers.

ECLs as at 31 December 2019 and 2020
The Group measures loss allowances for trade

receivables at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, which
is calculated using a provision matrix.

39 BKEREEEERBER (&)

(d) EE=RE (&)

AEEMEH 2 EFERBRFEXESRE,HE
AR PEERM SR 2ITEHBER
e Al WMASEBEHENTEFER
EARR BEBELESEETZEZER
B o PR HASK - JEURGBR 5% I B Ath B IR SR IE
4ARES.89% (20194 1 7.42% ) }225.34%
(20194 : 24.06% ) 7 Rl BEM AR E B &KX

BEFRARERPZHA-

FE W RR K % L At FE WL R IE

AEESHMERREBR —E2REEZ
BEPETENEENE ZEFEERN
BB S BB IR RC 8 A KRB 3K
B YEBREPZBEARLEFREE
PR ERE - YRR — R HEER
HI1Z90R AR - IER TN E - AEE L HE

REPZEMm-

A2019%F K% 2020512 A31H 2B HiE B

]

AEBENEFEMARRERAERERASS
It BRYUIRRBEEERE 2 RABME

TEREETE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PBRARMEE

39 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 39 BiEMEEEEREE (&)
AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(d) Credit Risk (Continued) (d) EE=RM (&)
ECLs as at 31 December 2019 and 2020 (Continued) M2019F %2020 12 A31H 2 BHifE A
&8 (&)
The following table provides information about the TRIEHEEMN2019% %2020 12 A31H
exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade receivables EERBEREEEP ZEBYRRZTE
from customers as at 31 December 2019 and 2020. HiEREE-

2020
2020&

Provision on
Gross individual
carrying basis ECL rates ECLs Loss

amount EfERIEE AHER BHMER  allowance

REGE  fLEfE BiE% BE  BERB
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THEL THEL THEL T THEL

Current and within payment terms HERARTEARR 636,352 - 0.27% (1,739) (1,739)
1- 3 months past due BHIZ3MER 98,750 (34) 1.33% (1312) (1,346)
4 -6 months past due BH4Z6ME A 14,376 (243) 16.28% (2.301) (2,544)
7-12 months past due BHIERMAEA 15,444 (6,544) 20.11% (1,790) (8,334)
Over 1 year past due AEEmE 36,385 (18,879) 39.40% (6,898) (25,777)

801,307 (25,700) (14,040) (39,740)

2019
20195
Provision on
Gross individual
carrying basis ECL rates ECLs Loss

amount  fR(ERIEE EHER EHER allowance
FHEE  FuiE BEX BE  BERE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T FHL T THL T

Current and within payment terms SPER T M SRR 9 552,849 - 0.25% (1,375) (1,375)
1 -3 months past due BEIE3MEA 88,182 - 1.52% (1,336) (1,336)
4 - 6 months past due BEAT6E A 5,339 - 21.22% (1,133) (1,133)
7 - 12 months past due BEIE12EA 8,702 - 21.40% (1,862) (1,862)
Over 1 year past due aHBEE 42,308 (28,779) 37.04% (5,011) (33,790)

697,380 (28,779) (10,717) (39,496)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A PBERRMEE

39 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 39 BiREBEEEEREE (&)

AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(d) Credit Risk (Continued) d) EE=RB (&)

ECLs as at 31 December 2019 and 2020 (Continued)

ECL rates are based on actual loss experience over the
past three years. These rates are adjusted to reflect
differences between economic conditions during the
period over which the historic data has been collected,
current conditions and the Group's view of economic
conditions over the expected lives of the receivables.

Movements in the loss allowance of trade
receivables

The movements in the loss allowance of trade
receivables during the reporting period were as follows:

MA2019FE 220205128318 2 FEHIEH
BiE (&)
BHEABERBE=FrEREBBLR
FTE -RELRBTRAE URBIKEES
BREIE 2 EERR BRI RN ER
HEKFBEBERFHZEBERAER =
go

BUERRzERBESD

RBEHE BURRZBRBEEHEZEE M

N L

_{

2020 2019

20204 20194

HK$000 HK$'000

FET T T

Balance at 1 January BM1TATR 2 &% 39,496 33,405
Additional impairment losses recognised BiER 2 BINREEE 7,846 7,752
Impairment losses reversed B B 1B O] (8,792) (960)
Written off b (338) -
Exchange realignment PE 5, % 1,528 (701)
Balance at 31 December W12A318 2 &% 39,740 39,496
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R MBERRMEE

39 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(d) Credit Risk (Continued)

(e)

Loans to a joint venture

The maximum exposure to credit risk in respect of the
loans at the end of the reporting period and the key
terms of the loans are disclosed in Note 24.

The Group does not provide any other guarantees
which would expose the Group to credit risk.

Capital Management

The Group's primary objectives when managing capital
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern, so that it can continue to provide
returns for shareholders and benefits for other
stakeholders, by pricing its products and services
commensurately with the level of risk and by securing
access to finance at a reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages
its capital structure to maintain a balance between
higher shareholder returns that might be possible with
higher levels of borrowings and the advantages and
security afforded by a sound capital position, and makes
adjustments to the capital structure in the light of
changes in economic conditions.

The Group monitors its capital structure on the basis of
a net debt to capital ratio. For this purpose, the Group
defines net debt as interest-bearing bank loans and
lease liabilities, less cash and cash equivalents and time
deposit with banks.

204 Man Yue Technology Holdings Limited BiARHEEBER AT

39 BKEREEEERBER (&)

(d) &= (&)

(e)

BT HEELEZER
RBEFRRFEEEFRZEREERRIE
R E B 248558

AEEYERSASERREERRZE
] EADERET IR B 5

EXEE

AEBMEREEZ T EA R REERAEE
BRENEBRFBECEEELE BEF
BIREE K TR PR E m RIS EE
UERBREEKARSHE SRRAER
BR BRI A AT R

R E R 5 H B R R TR R
B A A RE T
BB RRE R R A 2 A AR A2
R B2 T R AR
LU B AR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A PBERRMEE

39 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 39 BiREBEEEEREE (&)

AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(e) Capital Management (Continued) (e)
During 2020, the Group's strategy, which was
unchanged from 2019, was to maintain its adjusted
net debt-to-capital ratio to be 45% to 65%. In order to
maintain or adjust the ratio, the Group may adjust the
amount of dividends paid to shareholders, issue new
shares, return capital to shareholders, raise new debt
financing or sell assets to reduce debt.

The Group’s adjusted net debt-to-capital ratio at 31
December 2019 and 2020 was as follows:

EXEE (&)

20205 - A K BH FA2019F 2 KB - 15
HGAREBEEFEHRALERREBEANT
45%E65%  AIRIFRALFBL R A%
B e HEORERN 2B SR BT
G RERATRE BEFELRE
FHELENRKAR-

AREE 20194 2 2020F12 A31H 2 18+
BETFHEEBRALLENT

IRITER 30
HEAG 31

Bank loans
Lease liabilities

BoORERBEEEY 28

Less: Cash and cash equivalents

Adjusted net debt RAEGERE

Equity attributable to equity RARIREREA
holders of the Company FEIE S

Adjusted net debt-to-capital RARGBEFEERE
ratio [z

1,024,517 975,677
76,532 83,949
1,101,049 1,059,626
(263,486) (225,715)
837,563 833,911
1,505,422 1,359,585
55.6% 61.3%
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R MBERRMEE

39 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(f) Fair Value Measurement

0]

Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair
value

Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the fair value of the
Group’s financial instruments measured at the
end of the reporting period on a recurring basis,
categorised into the three-level fair value hierarchy
as defined in HKFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement.
The level into which a fair value measurement
is classified is determined with reference to the
observability and significance of the inputs used in
the valuation technique as follows:

—  Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using
only Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted
prices in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities at the measurement date

—  Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using
Level 2 inputs i.e. observable inputs which
fail to meet Level 1, and not using significant
unobservable inputs. Unobservable inputs
are inputs for which market data are not
available

—  Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using
significant unobservable inputs

206 Man Yue Technology Holdings Limited BiARHZEBER AT

39 BKEREEEERBER (&)
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D RERR
TREINRE B IEEENRE LR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A PBERRMEE

39 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBIJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(f) Fair Value Measurement (Continued) (f)

0]

Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair
value (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

The Group engaged external valuer to perform
valuations for the financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss which is categorised into
Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. The external
valuer report directly to management. A valuation
report with analysis of changes in fair value
measurement is prepared by external valuer at
each interim and annual reporting date, and is
reviewed and approved by management.

The following table presents the Group’s financial
instruments carried at fair value at year end.

39 BIEREEEEREE (&)

AR ERTE ()

YNV

0]

BRAARETEZERMEEREE
&)

—

DAERG (F)
ARBEREIBEEMRDERAA
ERBIFEIRRI 2R ARENREA
FIfkz M EEEITHE -INBMHE
EhEEAEEERE - HIIAAER
BEBOM 2 HERE HINEFEERD
RERMEFERSBMFER B
EIE B ML

TREINANEERFERZRRIET
fRzem T A

Fair value measurements as at
31 December 2020 categorised into
202051231 B2 AR EHES B

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E18R 5 F2 3 E34R Rl @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEx TER TEx TEx
Assets EE
Financial assets at fair value through R AL ERRERTIHK 2
profit or loss - non current SREE-FRY - - 33,081 33,081
Financial assets at fair value through &AL ERBE AT 2
profit or loss - current SREE-RD 14 = - 14
Total assets BEBE 14 - 33,081 33,095

Annual Report 2020 3k 207

e



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PBRARMEE

39 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 39 BiEMEEEEREE (&)
AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(f) Fair Value Measurement (Continued) f) DAREFE (E)
(i) Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair (i) BAARBENEZSREERERS
value (Continued) (%)
Fair value hierarchy (Continued) ARERE (&)

Fair value measurements as at
31 December 2019 categorised into
R2019512A31H 2 R A B EDER

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
F1R 7 AR F305
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THL THEL
Assets BE
Financial assets at fair value through R ARER BRI 2
profit or loss - non current SRHEE-FNE - - 24,433 24,433
Financial assets at fair value through ~ RALERBERNFKZ
profit or loss - current SREE-RD 17 - - 17
Total assets BEBE 17 - 24,433 24,450
Liabilities 8
Derivative financial instruments; fTEemIA:
~ Interest rate swaps —FEEE - 245 - 245
Total liabilities BESE - 245 - 245
During the years ended 31 December 2019 and R ELE20194F 20209124318 Lk
2020, there were no transfers between Level 1 FE BRI RE2H R 2 B e
and Level 2, or transfers into or out of Level 3. The %o e A S B3R ANEE Y
Group's policy is to recognise transfers between BER RN BRI ER 2 mE AR BER R
levels of fair value hierarchy as at the end of the REHRR 2B

reporting period in which they occur.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A PBERRMEE

39 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBIJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(f) Fair Value Measurement (Continued)

0]

Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair
value (Continued)

Valuation techniques and inputs used in Level
2 fair value measurements

The fair value of interest rate swaps is the
estimated amount that the Group would receive
or pay to terminate the swap at the end of the
reporting period, taking into account current
interest rates and the current creditworthiness
of the swap counterparties. The Group engaged
external valuer to perform valuations for the
interest rate swaps which is categorised into Level
2 of the fair value hierarchy.

Information about Level 3 fair value
measurements

()

Valuation techniques

fEER %

Key management insurance contracts

TEERERRAMR HERBALRE
Equity securities Discounted cash flow
A E % HERBALRE

Discounted cash flow

39 BEMEREBERBER ()

DREFE (F])
() RAREFEZERMEERAR

—~

&)

DRABEFEE2RBIARAZEE
FAERBARE

FEBHEHNZ AANEREAEERR
EERBEE X AL IR IE 2
BE R K REHEOHEFHZ
RONERRTEE - AEEREI
A EME D ER R ERE2R
Bz M Rp A OETHE.

FHBERBAAETEZESR

Significant
unobservable
inputs

EXFIBERARE

Weighted average
Y3

Discount rate 2.19%
(2019: 2.20%)

BRE 2.19%
(2019%:2.20%)

Discount rate 20.0%
(2019: 20.0%)

BRE 20.0%

(20194 :20.0% )
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R MBERRMEE

39 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(f) Fair Value Measurement (Continued)

0]

Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair
value (Continued)

Information about Level 3 fair value
measurements (Continued)

The fair value of insurance contracts is determined
using the discounted cash flow model. The
duration of the cash flows and the specific timing
of inflows and outflows are determined by
conditions in accordance with the terms of the
respective insurance contracts. The periodic cash
flow is estimated as gross redemption value and
interest income less surrender charges. The series
of periodic net income for the contracting periods
is then discounted. The fair value measurement
is negatively correlated to the discount rate. As
at 31 December 2020, it is estimated that with
all other variables held constant, a decrease/
increase in discount rate by 1% would have
increased/decreased the Group's profit or loss by
HK$1,176,131 (2019: HK$1,299,911).

The fair values of the Group’s unlisted equity
securities are based on cash flows discounted
using a rate based on the market interest rate and
the risk premium specific to such investments.
As at 31 December 2020, it is estimated that
with all other variables held constant, a decrease/
increase in discount rate by 1% would have
increased/decreased the Group's profit or loss by
HK$393,564 (2019: HK$397,143).
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BRERAAABEHEZER
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EFEBET-RERBZHRUARFA
K 2 B ERBRESRRAER
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AT ARIEDEE R BRABRRE
B-ARHMEz — @R T HFRAT
FLATE - A AEFEEERR
M8 - 220205128318 & FT A
Hth SR8 2 FRT S5
FIETH, LFH1%  #18Ehn, 5
AN E 8 251,176,13178 7T (20194 ¢
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A PBERRMEE

39 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 39 BiREBEEEEREE (&)
AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(f) Fair Value Measurement (Continued) (f) AREFE (&)
(i) Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair (i) BAAENEZSREERERS
value (Continued) (%)
The movements during the year in the balance ZEEIMRBN A REF B2 HERNE
of these Level 3 fair value measurements are as NZEEINT -

follows:

Key management insurance
contracts:

As at 1 January
Net unrealised gains recognised in
profit or loss during the period

At 31 December

Total gains for the period included
in profit or loss for assets held
at the end of the reporting period

Equity securities

As at 1 January

Changes in fair value recognised in
profit or loss during the period

Exchange realignment

At 31 December

Total gains/(losses) for the period
included in other comprehensive
income

Total gains for the period included in
profit or loss for assets held at the
end of the reporting period

2019
20194
HK$'000
FET
TEEEERRER:
M A1 15,279 14,806
AR ERERZ
AW FEE 336 473
A12831H 15,615 15,279
R EHRTHEZ
BEFTAEBRZ
HIA Uz 42 58 336 473
RAE %
®1A1H 9,154 9,130
Hﬂ WW\%E ﬁ:l:LEE At
NREEE) 7,309 227
PE X % 1,003 (203)
®12831H 17,466 9,154
SAEMEERAZ
Bk (BE)
FEE-c) 1,003 (203)
RRBEHRBTEZ
BEFTABRZ
HIA Uz 42 58 7,309 227
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PBRARMEE

39 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

39 BKEREEEERBER (&)

(f) Fair Value Measurement (Continued) f) DAREFE (E)
(i) YIEUQDABIIRZEHEERE
BARE
AR RS SR AN DIBR 2 AN EEE 2
T EZERMEEREM20194 20204 12
R31BZRARBEIEERER

(ii) Fair value of financial assets and liabilities
carried at other than fair value
The carrying amounts of the Group's financial
instruments carried at cost or amortised cost were
not materially different from fair values as at 31
December 2019 and 2020.

40 f#E
AEERESD

40 RESERVES

Reserve Movement of the Group

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

’ﬂ‘

AARRERE AER
Mainland
Share Asset  Exchange China
option revaluation fluctuation reserve
Share reserve Contributed  reserve reserve funds® Other  Retained
premium BRE  Sumplus® EEER EXRD  FERE  reserve profits Total
K13 EE e BARKO 1 1 RELD Hftif  REEA @i
HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT TET TRT TET ThERT TER THET THET TR
Balance at 1 January 2020 202051 A1B 2 8 165,458 1,621 2,800 102,573 73,282 62,846 (162) 903,612 1,312,030
Profit for the year REERR - - - - - - - 24,064 24,064
Other comprehensive income: Hin2ERA:
Asset revaluation deficit, net of tax NBHBEREESHEL - - - (898) - - - = (898)
Currency translation differences ERER
- Group ] - - - - 109,258 - - - 109258
- Joint ventures -BER%E - - - - 13,413 - - - 13413
Total comprehensive income for the year ~ EE2020F12A318 1L FE
ended 31 December 2020 EHYELE - = = (898) 122,671 - - 2,064 145837
Employee share option scheme: EEERESE:
~ Share option lapsed -BRYERE
Transferred to retained profits ERZRBEHN - (1.621) - - - - - 1,621 =
Balance at 31 December 2020 20205128318 2 8% 165,458 - 2,800 101,675 195,953 62,846 (162) 929,297 1,457,867
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40 RESERVES (CONTINUED)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A PBERRMEE

Reserve Movement of the Group (Continued)

40 f#fE (&)

rEERERD (H)

Attributable to equity holders of the Company
KRFARIESE B

B

Mainland
Share Asset  Exchange China
option revaluation  fluctuation reserve
Share reserve  Contributed reserve reserve funds 2 Other Retained
premium fEfiE Suplus'  EEER EXRD feserve profits
RipaE HE  BARS i 2 Eftfs i
HKS'00! HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T Tax THL TEL TEL TR TEL TR
Balance at 1 January 2019 20191 A1B 2 &8 165,458 1,782 2,800 100,074 128,425 62,755 (162) 871,964  1,333,09%
Profit for the year REEEF - - - - - - - 31,578 31578
Other comprehensive income: Hinz2ERA:
Asset revaluation surplus, net of tax NBHEREEERRS - - - 2,499 - - - - 2,499
Currency translation differences EXEE
- Group -4£8 - - - - (50934 - - - (50934
~ Joint ventures -REDE - - - - (4,209) - - - (4,209
Total comprehensive income for the year ~ E{Z2019F12A318 L5 &
ended 31 December 2019 2EREEE - - - 2,499 (55,143) - - 31,578 (21,066)
Employee share option scheme: EERRETE:
~ Share option forfeited -BRERRE - (161) - - - - - 161 -
Transferred to retained profits ERZRBEHN - - - - - 91 - (91) -
Balance at 31 December 2019 20195124318 2 5 165,458 1,621 2,800 102,573 73,282 62,846 (162) 903,612 1,312,030

Notes: M3E -

1. The Group’s contributed surplus represents the difference 1. AEBZHARBREMBRERBRTZR’RE
between the nominal value of the shares of the subsidiaries HEEE L AZRWE A RRG METARAR
acquired over the nominal value of the Company’s shares BHOEE Z5 -
issued in exchange therefor.

2. Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in Mainland 2. WBEFERBBEEEREEE KEERF

China, a portion of the profits of the Group's subsidiaries
which are established in Mainland China has been transferred

to the Mainland China reserve funds which are restricted as to

use.

MRS 2 B AR A S m FlE B E
TEANBEES HBAXRIRS -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PBRARMEE

41 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 41 RRFHBRRARRBEES

RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

Statement of Financial Position

Fr # AR &R

2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHT T
Non-current assets IRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RHBRRZ®E 63,901 63,901
Financial assets at fair value through BAREREREATIERZ
profit or loss SREE 4,450 4,385
Due from subsidiaries FEUHIE A R 2 k1B 414,476 172,148
Total non-current assets FrnBHEERE 0000 482,827 240434
Current assets REBEE
Due from subsidiaries FEUHIE A R 2 5kIE 244,491 484,764
Prepayments TE T FRIE 842 883
Cash and cash equivalents RekBFEEHED 222 438
Total current assets MENVEELE 245555 486,085
Current liabilities REAE
Due to subsidiaries FETHI B AR 2 BIE 449,255 442 144
Other payables and accrued liabilities HMENFIERERTEE 2,303 2,279
Dividends payable FEATR% B 43 43
Total current liabilities nEaEEE 451,601 444,466
Net current (liabilities)/assets e (AE) EAEFE _ (206,046) . 41,619
Net assets BEEFE 276,781 282,053
Capital and reserves EAXR#E
Share capital [N 47,555 47,555
Reserves % 229,226 234,498
Total equity ERBE 276,781 282,053
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A PBERRMEE

41 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY
(CONTINUED)

41

RRBMBRAKRKHEEE (&)

Reserve Movement of the Company KARREES
Share
Share Option  Contributed Retained

premium reserve surplus profits Total

ROEE BRERE HARR  REEA @t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FHT THT THT THT THT

At 1 January 2019 20191818 165,458 1,782 63,623 9,861 240,724

Loss for the year ~EEER - - - (6,226) (6,226)
Employee share option scheme: EEBRESE:

- Share options forfeited -DHERRE - (161) - 161 -
At 31 December 2019 R2019%12A31A 165,458 1,621 63623 379 234498
At 1 January 2020 202081718 165,458 1,621 63,623 3,796 234,498
Loss for the year TEEEE - - - (5.272) (5.272)
Employee share option scheme: EERRENE:

— Share options lapsed -BAMERE - (1,621) - 1,621 -
At 31 December 2020 20208124318 165,458 - 63,623 145 229,226

The Company’s contributed surplus represents the excess
of the fair value of the shares of the subsidiaries acquired
over the nominal value of the Company’s shares issued in
exchange therefore. Under the Companies Act 1981 of
Bermuda (as amended), a company may make distributions
to its members out of the contributed surplus in certain
circumstances.

ARBZHABBERMRENB AR 2RO A
AEBERZIME AR M ET2ARE

BihEE 28 - REBRE (1981FRRNE)

(ERIA) - AR AIER TIER T A RS IK

TR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PBRARMEE

41 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 41
RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY
(CONTINUED)

Reserve Movement of the Company (Continued)
The share option reserve comprises the fair value of share
options granted which are yet to be exercised, as further
explained in the accounting policy for share-based payment
transactions in Note 4(v)(i) to the consolidated financial
statements. The amount will either be transferred to the
share premium account when the related options are
exercised, or be transferred to retained profits should the
related options expire or be forfeited.

42 POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW 42
STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED
BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR
ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the
HKICPA has issued a number of amendments, and a new
standard, HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts, which are not yet
effective for the year ended 31 December 2020 and which
have not been adopted in these financial statements. These
developments include the following which may be relevant to
the Group.

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual Framework

BEMBREENFEIFZEFT [HRER 2R

RATMBRAKRK HEEE (&)

RATRHERE (F)

BRERERFCRBERRTEREREZA
A E-TRERGAMBHRERMZTAVOAE
BARD RERZNRR B2 G BEK - ZE 8
R A BB E TR SR ERMSER X
HAERBEED ERUEHR  IBRERE

3o

HZ2020F128318 L EECEMHE
M AREMZIEE] - FRTERIRRE 2T
g

HEZSYBRERTIZBE F8ertiiagr
WAL IRER] R — BT R BB GRS
BIZE1 798 [REEE L] - ZEEFT KT ERIRE
2020512 A1 HIEFEHARER - BRZEY
EHREW AT - ZZ BT BB T Al E A S
EFRREM A LR -

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after

RTFIBHR 2%
Pz LR

1 January 2022
2022F1 A1 H

Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before Intended Use
EBGHERE6R 2B (M BE K&RE  (EREREA 2 EFIE]

1 January 2022
2022F1 A1 H

Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a Contract
BEARGTEREITR 2B [BEAN-BITEH0ZKA]

1 January 2022
2022F1 A1 H

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020 Cycle
BB B RS A E O (20185 220205 B H1)

1 January 2022
2022F1 A1 H

REBBRIEF A ZFERT R YR ERHE AR
EEZEE S EEwmARAREETIAR
EEHEAMBRREREMNERTE -

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what
the impact of these developments is expected to be in the
period of initial application. So far it has concluded that the
adoption of them is unlikely to have a significant impact on
the consolidated financial statements.
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Five-Year Financial Summary

HFEBFEHRE

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and non- A TARARNEBEBERBETBFE 2 EXEUREE 8
controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years, ENIFERIRRESME TR E S T8 2 8FZ
as extracted from the published audited financial statements is set ~ B ¥k °

out below.

RESULT E

2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
20205 2019F 20185 201745 20165

HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TiEx T T T T

Revenue KA 1599599 1,292,160 1361718 1275923 987,027
Profit/(loss) before tax BREAET/ (B8) 32913 43,168 56,666 62,199 (4,460)
Income tax PG (6,844) (16,692) (15,990) (16,994) (8,642)
Profit/(loss) for the year REEET/ (BR) 26,069 26,476 40,676 45,205 (13,102)
Attributable to: TII% A -
— Equity holders of the Company ~AREREREA 24,064 31,578 43,046 48177 (14,905)
~ Non-controlling interests —FERRRER 2,005 (5,102) (2,370) (2,972) 1,803

26,069 26476 40,676 45,205 (13,102)

ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND NON-CONTROLLING EE BERFERBRRER
INTERESTS

2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
2020% 2019% 20185 20174 2016F

HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TiEn TiEr TiEr T T

Total assets BELA 3252607 2918812 2724673 2,753,087 2475167
Total liabilities BERE (1,706,560)  (1,522,499) (1,302,145 (1,277,548)  (1,162,592)
Non-controlling interests FERRRE R (40,625) (36,728) (41,877) (59,032) (70,165)

1,505,422 1,359,585 1,380,651 1,416,507 1,242,410

+
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Glossary

=l
AR 52

Annual Report annual report for the financial year ended 31 December 2020
FH BZE2020F 12 AN B LB BFE 2 FERSE
Audit Committee audit committee of the Company

EREZE® KRRz EREZES®

Board board of directors of the Company

Bxg RRPIZESE

Board Diversity Policy board diversity policy of the Company
BEEEZUER RRAFZEEFEZTTILBER

Bye-laws bye-laws of the Company

NS RN/ /N

Company Man Yue Technology Holdings Limited

ZAN/NE] BHRMRERARAQF

Company Secretary company secretary of the Company

NEWE NN IWA/NETE D/

Corporate Governance Code Corporate Governance Code

PEEARTA hEERTA

Director(s) director(s) of the Company

= RRBIZESE

Dividend Policy dividend policy of the Company

% S RRAFZRBBE

EBITDA earnings before interest expenses, taxation, depreciation and amorisation
EBITDA MBS H - BIR - 378 R # 5 R 27
E-Caps Aluminum Electrolytic Capacitors

B E A A inERERN RS

EDLC Electric Double Layer Capacitors
EEEEAR EEEEAE

EICC Electronic Industry Citizenship Coalition

EICC BFTRARKRA

ESG Environmental, Social and Governance
RRE-H@RER BE-HegkER
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=
il

HK$
BT

Independent Non-executive Director(s)

BIUFRITES

ISO
ISO

Listing Rules
AR AY

LPG
BB R

MLPC
BAABS TEEESH

Model Code
s 7 |

Nomination Committee

RALEE

Nomination Policy

RABE

Polymer Caps
= /‘\%':F ?E‘%

RBA
RBA

Remuneration Committee
YMEES

RMB
ARH

greenhouse gas

‘@ 2= & g
B ER

Company and its subsidiaries

EAN/NCTDSE i) =N

Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the People’s Republic of China
hEARAMBEEBRRIITHR

Hong Kong dollar
BT
independent non-executive director(s) of the Company

RRBZBILIFATES

International Organization for Standartization

B PR AR A L B 4

Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited

ERBMAERHMARARES EmARR

liguefied petroleum gas

RAL AR

Multi-layer Polymer Capacitors

BAASH TEARESS

Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers

B TAZEFETESFR HWIEESTE

nomination committee of the Company

ARARZREHEZBR®

nomination policy of the Company

RRBZRARE

Conductive Polymer Aluminum Solid Capacitors

BESH FiaEERERSR

Responsible Business Alliance

BEEmEKRE

remuneration committee of the Company

ARRZHMER R

Renminbi

AR
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o
Ll

RoHS
RoHS

SFO
7 77 R ER R R Bl

Stock Exchange
Bt <2 B

tCO2e
W&t E 2

uss$
eV

Year

REE

%
%

Restriction of Hazardous Substances
B =YL R

Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
FHENMEEGRD (BBEFIEST1E)

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
ERBERFARRA

tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent
WE — Ehix 8 &

United States dollar
ET

financial year ended 31 December 2020
B ZE2020F12A31H LB EFE

per cent
Bt
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